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1. ANNUAL REPORT  
 

1.1.1 Introduction from the Membership 
The past year has been a significant one for NHS St Helens CCG both as a 
membership organisation and a commissioner of services.   We have taken great 
strides in developing our membership through engagement and quality improvement 
initiatives such as the introduction of a GP Quality Contract, which I cover later in our 
report. As a membership, we have worked to strengthen our professional 
engagement with secondary care colleagues and other providers serving the 
population of St Helens.   We have engaged with and appropriately challenged our 
Governing Body through our Members Council, as well as our commissioning team.  
As a result, we have met our financial obligations and worked to manage our major 
contracts diligently with a focus on patient care, its quality, safety and patient 
experience.   We have engaged our population, the hard to reach, its active patients, 
carers and third sector assets. 

  Within the national context of an NHS environment where hospitals and the 
community have come under increasing pressure of urgent care activity, we have 
supported our member practices and our providers.   We have worked ever closer 
with our local authority partner towards better services and patient experience. We 
have also, through our commissioning processes, seen our local Trust performing 
most strongly of all Merseyside acute providers despite financial and system 
challenges. 

1.1.2  Governing Body Performance 

As a membership, we receive regular updates on the quarterly NHS England (NHSE) 
assurance process through our Members’ Council meetings.   We are consulted on 
all matters in accordance with our constitutional rights but also are well consulted on 
general financial risks, strategic planning processes and pathway work 

The Governing Body undertakes monthly facilitated development sessions and twice 
yearly ‘away days’ to ensure appropriate development of key skills to support the 
effective stewardship of our organisation.    Members have personal development 
reviews supported by the Lay Chair and Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead (the 
CCG Accountable Officer). 

In the last 12 months, the CCG has managed a significant leadership transition 
period.  The CCG has appointed a new Lay Chair - Geoffrey Appleton who has many 
years’ experience as an NHS Board Non-Executive and a career in the legal 
profession; a new Chief Nurse who is also Safeguarding Lead - Professor Sarah 
O’Brien; and a new Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement - Rachel Jones.  
We participated in an election for two GP Governing Body seats and Dr Hilary Flett 
was elected and Dr Julie Whittaker re-elected for a term.  The membership would like 
to pay tribute to Dr Shikha Pitalia who stood down from the Governing Body last year 
after several years of service and leadership.   
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The Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead took the opportunity, with the support of 
the Chair, to reshuffle a number of GP Governing Body portfolios which allowed 
members to develop broader experience of commissioning domains. 

The membership would like to extend our thanks to our past Lay Chair, Bill Guest 
who helped lead us through authorisation and our first full year. 

1.1.3  CCG performance 

The membership receives regular updates on CCG performance and commissioned 
service outcomes through the Members’ Council and via information published on 
our website.   Our elected Governing Body members represent us on Contract review 
and Quality Boards for major providers and in partnership committees with the Local 
Authority.  Last year we saw a 3% targeted reduction in unplanned secondary care 
activity. However, this numerical reduction in activity was not matched by a 
proportionate cost reduction.  This, along with similar cost per episode increases in 
planned care, was identified by the organisation as a clear concern regarding up-
coding in hospitals. This additional financial burden has been thoroughly investigated 
using Merseyside Internal Audit Agency reviews [MIAA] and resulted in a successful 
challenge on our contract out turn payments. 

We have undertaken clinical work to support reductions in inappropriate urgent care 
activity through the GP Quality Contract. 

Regarding specific targets, as coordinating commissioner, our local provider has 
performed strongest of the Merseyside Trusts in terms of 4 hours and has delivered 
18 weeks along with additional planned care work for the health economy. The local 
Trust has worked hard against a very tight C.Difficile target compared to other 
comparable providers in terms of admissions activity and seen a reduction in MRSA 
compared with the previous year.  This builds upon work led by the CCG through the 
Risk Summit process of 2013. 

The membership has seen significant progress through the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy implementation which is reported through the Health and Wellbeing Board 
minutes on the website and externally reviewed by the Local Government 
Association peer review process detailed later.   

1.1.4  Engagement 

In the last 12 months, the membership, Governing Body and CCG commissioning 
team have worked ever closer. The CCG has reviewed its engagement strategy 
through the Governing Body and implemented a positive engagement programme.  
The Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead, six GP elected Governing Body members, 
the Chief Nurse, other Governing Body members and the Practice Manager 
representative engage the membership through our Members’ Council, annual 
practice visiting programme, two monthly protected learning time events, the practice 
nurse forum and practice manager forum.   

The CCG has engaged proactively with member practices both through our Practice 
Visiting Programme and the Members Council (GP Forum).   
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This year the CCG has supported a number of practices through the PMS review 
process with NHS England. We have engaged on co-commissioning of primary care 
services and specialised commissioning services and as a result, the membership 
voted for delegated co-commissioning of primary care. 

With the leadership of our Lay Chair, Lay Member for PPI, Patient Advocate and 
engagement team, we have seen a close liaison between each practice’s Patient 
participation group [PPG] and the CCG PPG.  These are now closely linked to 
Healthwatch and the membership agreed to help provide patient representatives for 
The Healthwatch Board. 

We have participated in a large number of CCG coordinated events for providers, 
NHSE, third sector, patients and carers, for example: a personalisation summit 
[regarding the anticipated Care Act]; a second borough Children’s Summit; 130 
families through our SALT review; a Young Adults event; a Military Veterans event; 
Out of Hospital redesign and End of life away days [facilitated by NHS IQ]. 

Our public membership continues to grow and currently stands at 310 and we have 
over 3000 Twitter followers.  Our ‘Working Well Together’ event held in January 2014 
saw the beginning of the development of a local St Helens ‘Patient Charter’ which will 
be launched in 2015.  Three of our key providers have signed up to the principles of 
our Charter. 

We have engaged with our secondary care consultants through six monthly GP-
Consultant Listening Events held at Langtree Park Stadium. These are the first large 
scale events of this type in the borough for over ten years, and a growing sign of 
integration and better pathway planning. 

In terms of innovation, the CCG is now working with Loughborough University on the 
development of a software application which acts as a digital participation platform to 
enable better engagement of the public with both commissioners and providers 
developing commissioning plans.  We have also undertaken extensive work with 
local young people and the local authority on a teenage health app directory which is 
due to be launched in March / April 2015. 

1.1.5  Partnerships 

Our closest partnership in commissioning terms is of course with our local authority. 
In the last year we have seen further integration of our commissioning functions with 
the integration of both organisations children’s commissioning staff into a single team 
under the leadership of the Director of Public Health.   Subsequent outcome 
improvements for vulnerable children resulted, such as the speech and language 
therapy review and re-commissioning due to long waits to access care.  We have 
comprehensively reviewed children’s services and addressed gap areas.   

The Integrated Adults Team has gone from strength to strength, for example, 
enabling the launch of the Integrated Access St Helens team as a single point of 
access for health and social care interventions; along with a pooled budget for 
Continuing Healthcare and a Section 75 agreement. 
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We would like to pay tribute to our departed Chief Executive of the Council, Carole 
Hudson who not only has led the local authority for many years with distinction but 
also provided valued advice and support for the CCG from its inception.  We also 
welcome our new LA Chief Executive – Mike Palin, and wish him every success in 
his role.  We look forward to seeing the delivery of enhanced outcomes through our 
Better Care Fund of £14.2 million. 

In the last year, we have seen our community provider, Bridgewater, achieve 
Foundation Trust status and we extend significant thanks to its outgoing Chief 
Executive - Dr Kate Fallon. 

The membership supports the Mid Mersey SRG [System Resilience Group] through 
attendance by elected representative, which is also chaired by our Clinical Chief 
Executive. This group managed the extreme winter pressures and 18 week 
challenges very effectively. 

The membership acknowledges the partnership commissioning work that the CCG 
does with neighbouring commissioners through the Mid Mersey Collaborative 
Commissioning Forum which meets monthly and supports quality work and financial 
scrutiny of all major contracts. 

The Merseyside CCG network continues to add value with outcomes such as shared 
commissioning of neuro-rehabilitation which has already made a difference to local 
patients and improved the financial position of our local trust which sites one centre 
at St Helens hospital.  Our CCG chaired this network on rotation for 6 months and 
coordinated the first Cheshire and Merseyside Network meetings. 

This last year we have completed the Learning Disability self-assessment framework 
[SAF] with greater levels of engagement with patients, carers and third sector, 
building on last year’s Learning Disability event. We have also engaged in the Autism 
SAF. 

The CCG Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead is leading on work in the region for 
workforce of primary care through his membership of the Health Education England 
North West Board [HEENW] and LETB [Local Education and Training Board].  
Through this forum the CCG has raised members concerns about recruitment of 
GP’s and Practice Nurses.  The Clinical Chief Executive has also worked through the 
Royal College of GPs Faculty Board regarding practice nurse training and 
recruitment.   It is hoped that partnership working with John Moores University and 
Edge Hill University will bring nurse training placements to the borough. 

The CCG is also leading work to develop future clinical commissioners with HEENW 
by introducing an innovative ST4 registrar post. 

1.1.6  Governance Assurance 

In November 2014, our Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead and the Local Authority 
Chief Executive Offer invited the LGA [Local Government Association] to undertake a 
peer review of the Health and Wellbeing Board and Strategy delivery.  The borough 
had an external visiting team including a Local Authority Chief Executive Officer, 
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Department of Health representative, a CCG Chair, a Lay representative, a Finance 
Director, Director of Public Health and LGA representatives.   The outcome of the 
review was very positive and commended both organisations’ partnership working. 
The Health and Wellbeing Board is now developing its membership further to move 
outcomes and effectiveness to an even higher level through organisational 
development.  

Our CCG has been commended for its internal governance systems by the external 
auditor report and in particular our Audit function. The membership is represented by 
three GP’s on the Audit committee.  We have utilised MIAA to support a number of 
initiatives linked to governance and assurance such as HRG coding audit and 
reconciliation of GP Quality Contract outcome data.  In 15/16, in terms of good 
practice, MIAA will be supporting the CCG undertake a Committee Effectiveness 
review to further understand how the CCG can strengthen its corporate governance 
arrangements.  In addition a full review of the CCG Conflict of Interest Policy has 
been undertaken and approved by NHSE as part of our application for delegated 
Primary Care Commissioning.   

The CCG worked hard to develop a strong Better Care Fund agreement and Section 
75 to manage funding for these purposes and this was approved by NHS England. 

In the last 12 months, NHS England has worked with CCGs to devolve the 
management of General Practice contracts as the first stage of ‘delegated 
commissioning’ for all primary care providers.  The Governing Body has worked with 
the Members Council and it has endorsed a delegated commissioning approach to 
General Practice contract management. NHS England required CCGs to have their 
governance processes assured nationally for this function, including an effective 
conflict of interest policy.  The CCG has subsequently had its Primary Care Co-
Commissioning governance processes approved by the Area Team and NHS 
England North from the 1st April 2015.  The CCG membership’s past decision to have 
a Lay Chair and Clinical Chief Executive enables the organisation to place lay 
members at the centre of governance systems, which we have developed well 
towards appropriate probity systems for co-commissioning. 

 

1.1.7  Highlights of 2014/15 

Increasing public involvement: we have seen an increase in public involvement in 
pathway work, CCG membership, Practice Patient Participation Groups (PPG), CCG 
PPG and followers on social media, with over 3420 followers on Twitter.  In total over 
150 public engagement opportunities have been presented to members of the public 
during 2014/15, with over 700 people feeding back via surveys and well over 1500 
via other events including 121 opportunities to larger scale focus groups, events, 
consultations and patient conferencing all in relation to our strategic plans. 

Membership engagement: our practices have increasingly participated in the work 
of the CCG for our population, e.g. development and implementation of the GP 
Quality Contract and supported our work towards sustainable services.  We have 
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completed a successful practice visiting programme which supports the development 
of our member practices. 

Health and Wellbeing Board progress: this year we have seen the Health and 
Wellbeing Board working on its priority areas and closer integration of commissioning 
e.g. adult and children’s pathways and public health.  We are now in the second year 
of integration of our adult commissioning teams which are now operationalising our 
commissioning plans.  We have had our significant Better Care Fund Plans approved 
which will invest £14.2 million of health service money into securing social care 
services for residents in the borough with health needs.  Last year we saw a 3% 
reduction in urgent care hospital activity due to increased work in the community.  In 
November 2014, the Local Government Association (LGA) undertook an external 
review of our Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) and commended the partnership 
arrangements. 

GP Quality Contract (GPQC): the CCG introduced its GPQC on 1.4.14 with 14 
domains of quality improvement focus within practices. These areas were targeted 
from both Health and Wellbeing Board and CCG priorities. One domain involves the 
comprehensive screening of all over 17,500 over 75’s within the borough over two 
years with a Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment (CGA) developed in partnership 
with the local authority and secondary care. This is the first comprehensive 
programme of its type in England.   Examples of other domain work are: 
safeguarding children, raising the bar on immunisation targets, and increasing breast 
feeding rates. 

Improving children’s pathways:  we have worked with our local authority and 
public health partners to establish a shared/integrated children’s commissioning team 
and targeted long standing access issues to services for families and children with 
particularly special educational needs e.g. speech and language therapy.  We have 
seen great success in our winter children’s urgent access clinics at Albion Street 
reducing attendances at AED. 

Improved urgent care access to primary care: this year we have commissioned 
special urgent care children’s clinics at Albion Street and a GP service in Accident 
and Emergency Departments (AED). We have rolled an acute visiting scheme across 
the whole borough practice population. These reduce pressure on AED to allow them 
to manage sicker patients. 

Integrated Access St Helens: this signposting service acts as a single point of 
access for clinicians and social care enabling patients to get the right services in the 
community in a timely fashion. This is now also available from AED to prevent 
admissions when appropriate. 

Frailty Pathway: the CCG has engaged with the local authority, NHSE and 
Healthwatch and key partners such as Bridgewater and St Helens and Knowsley 
Trust to begin our frailty review to improve services for frail and elderly patients. The 
Care Home Scheme continues to offer specialist opinions to care home residents 
and education for staff, reducing AED attendance. 
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Delegated Commissioning: NHSE and our membership body approved the CCG 
taking on commissioning general practice from April 2015 which will enable the CCG 
to improve its strategic planning for a more integrated health and social care system, 
being able to develop a robust primary care strategy from 15/16.  The CCG is in a 
transition period of taking on these responsibilities. 
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1.2 STRATEGIC REPORT 
 

1.2.1 Introduction and Background  

Having received authorisation and becoming a statutory organisation on 1st April 
2013, St Helens CCG has developed into a forward thinking, ambitious organisation, 
focusing on the needs of the population now and into the future; founded by its 
values and clinically driven by its 36 GP member practices.  

We are a proud and highly successful CCG that practices true clinical commissioning 
serving a registered population of 197,000 

Our Governing Body consists of 6 clinical members (elected members) and is 
supported by 2 further Lay Members (in addition to the Lay Chair), a Chief Finance 
Officer, the Director of Adult Health & Social Care, the Director of Public Health, with 
expertise from an external Executive Nurse, Chief Nurse and Secondary Care 
Consultant as well a Director of Leadership and Organisational Development 
complete what is a highly experienced Board.  

The elected GP members each hold a clinical lead on key priority areas in relation to 
the delivery of our Clinical Commissioning Strategy.   The GPs are also actively 
involved in the work of the sub-committees in addition to the Governing Body.  This 
brings a wealth of local knowledge regarding primary care to influence service 
improvement in the borough, whilst working with the CCG Commissioning Managers 
and partners/providers in St Helens to provide an informed decision making process 
that is evidenced through excellent governance  

 
With the inception of Integrated Community Teams in October 2013 and delegated 
commissioning of primary care (General Practice) from April 2015, St Helens CCG 
had the opportunity to evaluate previous activity and work programmes to determine 
(through integrated approaches) a more holistic model of delivery that could be 
explored.  So far, this has led to the design of the Integrated Commissioning Plan 
that aligned to the CCG commissioning plan, Health and Wellbeing Board strategic 
plan and St Helens Council strategic plan for the first time in a ‘one plan’ approach to 
achieve cross organisational priorities, aimed to meet the needs of our population. 
The CCG is in the process of developing its primary care strategy for the future, 
including a primary care nursing strategy. 

1.2.2 Health of the local population of St Helens 

  St Helens has unique population features which impact upon service requirements – 
its population is ageing, with increasing life expectancy, and yet persistent and in 
some cases widening inequalities.  Analysis of our population shows that compared 
to the England average, the borough has in population terms 8.8% more over 65’s 
and 18.2% below the England average for over 85’s. The largest increases in the 
population of older people, is expected to occur amongst people aged 50 and 79 
years and in females aged 80 years and over. This articulates succinctly the key 
health issue relating to our population – the high morbidity and mortality of the over 
65’s. 

  The IMD 2010 ranked St Helens as the 51st most deprived local authority in England 
(out of 326). This is an improvement on the IMD 2007, which ranked the Borough 
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47th and indicates that St Helens has made improvements when compared with the 
rest of England.  However, inequality is not evenly distributed across the Borough 
with some areas, particularly in the centre and south of the Borough, with very high 
rates of deprivation.  Within St Helens, life expectancy varies considerably across 
wards. For male life expectancy there is a 10 year difference between wards, varying 
between 72.0 years in the Town Centre ward and 82.3 years in Rainford.  For women 
there is an 8 year difference, increasing from 76.5 years in the Town Centre to 84.4 
years in Eccleston (Public Health Intelligence, 2010-12).  In addition, analysis of the 
2011 Census identifies that by 2020 there will be a 50% increase in males in the 85-
89 age groups and a 33% increase in males in the 90 plus age group. 

 
  There is a strong relationship between poor health and deprivation, with those people 

living in deprived areas more likely to suffer from long-term conditions and to have a 
shorter life expectancy than people from more affluent areas. In St Helens, it is 
estimated that approximately 22.7% of the GP registered adult population live with a 
long term condition, which is higher than the average of 16.9%.  Despite rigorous 
efforts to stem this growth, such as campaigns to raise awareness of specific cancers 
e.g. bowel and breast, by 2030 rates in the over 65s are predicted to double.   
Further analysis shows that mortality related to long term conditions is also above the 
England average, for example stroke mortality locally is 43.5 per 100,000 people 
compared with 40.9 per 100,000 across England.  

The future key disease challenges: 
 

• Rise of long-term conditions  
 

St Helens has a higher than average prevalence of long term conditions such as 
diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and heart disease. It is predicted 
that the number of people with long term conditions will remain relatively stable over 
the next six years, although the number of people with multiple long term conditions 
(known as multi-morbidity) is set to rise. Due to their complex needs, people with 
long term conditions are the most intensive users of health and social care services.  
Across St Helens, there is variation in levels of disease and the way individuals 
receive their care.  

 
• Over the last 6 years the prevalence of hypertension has been rising, with St 

Helens being above the national average (17.0% compared to 13.7%). 
 

• Similarly, the number of patients with diabetes is increasing, which is particularly 
significant given it is a precursor to heart disease or stroke (Prevalence 5.6% 
compared to 4.8% nationally). 

 
• Respiratory conditions are prevalent in the area also including influenza and 

chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (3% compared to 1.7%). 
 

• Dementia is also becoming increasingly more prevalent with an increase in the 
over 65 population and further emphasis is required to identify and treat the 
condition (0.7% compared to 0.6%). 

 
An ageing population and increased prevalence of long term conditions and multi-
morbidity raise questions about how health and social care services are currently 
organised and delivered.  In particular, the real and perceived ‘boundaries’ between 
GPs, hospital-based specialists, and between health and social care can often impede 
the provision of timely and high-quality integrated care to people who need to access a 
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range of services relevant to their needs.  It is predicted that the number of people with 
long term conditions will remain relatively stable over the next six years, although the 
number of people with multiple long term conditions (known as multi-morbidity) is set 
to rise (“Long term conditions and mental health; the cost of co-morbidities” – The 
Kings Fund & Centre for Mental Health, February 2012).  

 
Around 70 % of total health and care expenditure in England is attributed to people 
with long term conditions. (Long term conditions and mental health; the cost of co-
morbidities;The Kings Fund & Centre for Mental Health, February 2012).   People 
diagnosed with a number of long term conditions are the most intensive users of health 
and social care services because their needs are usually more complex than those of 
people with single diseases. 

 
• Rise in hospital admissions  
 
There are many people in hospital who may have avoided being there if they could be 
supported in a more proactive preventative way, closer to home. Improving the breadth 
of knowledge of our front line staff of the services on offer across our community is a 
key priority – this will be achieve through a shared directory of services based on pro-
active admissions avoidance services and services that are able to support people 
when they are transferring to their next place of safety or care. 

 
•    Community services have become complex and fragmented  

 
A pattern of large numbers of small, narrowly defined and often poorly co-ordinated 
services, usually delivered by different providers, has arisen, creating a fragmented 
patchwork of delivery. Patients and their carers experience a confusing disjointed 
service, interacting with multiple professionals from different service providers, 
commissioned by different organisations. This often results in duplication; reactive 
and unplanned episodic care; increased hospital admissions; and confusion for the 
service user. They also experience poorer health outcomes in comparison to other 
localities in the Northwest and nationally. 

 
• High health and social care expenditure   

 
The CCG and LA need to deliver better value for money services. There is a need to 
secure a better health and social care return for each pound of investment. 

 
The development of a Multispecialty Community Provider (MCP) Neighbourhood 
Services model is supported by our Better Care Fund plans which reinforce social 
care services for this population. 

 
• Increasing expectations  

 
Patient and public expectations are rising.  Increasingly, patients and service users 
expect to be offered choice and variety and to experience services that are 
convenient, personalised and provided in modern buildings and healing 
environments. 

 
More patients are living longer, with more long term conditions.  As a result, demand 
for services is increasing, and is forecast to continue to increase. This is set against 
the context of reduced budgets in real terms on both health and social care 
commissioners.  Integrated care has been identified as a key route to more 
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effectively addressing the demand challenges posed by people with multiple 
conditions. 

1.2.3 Commissioning Strategies 

St Helens CCG in partnership with St Helens Council have developed a five year 
Integrated Clinical Commissioning Strategic Plan for Health and Social Care 2014-
2019 outlining the vision and priority areas for shaping and delivering healthcare to 
all St Helens residents. The plan was completed by engagement and participation 
with our key partners and stakeholders, facilitated by NHS Innovation and Quality 
team.   Partners and patients were key to establishing our commissioning plans to 
ensure commissioning activity and business delivery where succinctly aligned for 
successful outcomes.   Our plan is directly aligned with the St Helens Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment and Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy. 

The summary vision for this plan is simply:  
 

“The right care at the right place at the right time” 
 

The Plan’s key focus is on improving people's lives by ensuring that they are happy, 
able to be healthy, and active.  Priorities for improvement in this area include 
improving health, wellness and reducing health inequalities so that local people "live 
longer" and collectively the community support vulnerable adults to improve their 
quality of life and to live independently through personalised, accessible and 
inclusive services.  This Plan has been agreed by all relevant local partners and is 
underpinned by the St Helens Health and Wellbeing Strategy which summarises the 
vision for St Helens as: 

 
"Investing in wellbeing, reducing ill- health and creating a healthy St Helens." 

 
As highlighted above, the CCG is also in the process of developing its future vision 
for primary care in the borough with its membership supporting development of a ‘St 
Helens Cares’ vision, including a primary care nursing strategy to further drive quality 
improvements within our local practices and in order to meet the challenges of the 
NHS Five Year Forward View and NHS Constitutional measures. 

 
Our strategy - One St Helens Plan 

Our vision for improvement and greater integration is underpinned by an energy, 
determination and commitment.   It is based around listening to our population and 
delivering the right care and support, at the right time and in the right place for the 
people, patients and carers of St Helens with health and social care needs. 

  The vision within our plan will strive to ensure individuals and communities 
experience services that allow them to live safe and live well, empowering all to lead 
a life that makes sense to them. To achieve this, as partners, we will work 
collaboratively using the opportunity to utilise our skills and knowledge to make St 
Helens a great place to live.  Our Plan for 2014 -19 is summarised and attached as 
Appendix A to this Strategic Report. 

The governance of an integrated system is complex and St Helens CCG has been 
working closely with its partners to ensure that there are clear lines of authority and 
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accountability to ensure that our decision making processes are strong and stands 
up to scrutiny, delivery and integrated governance in relation to the plan is supported 
by an overarching s75 Partnership Agreement between St Helens CCG and St 
Helens council.  

During 2014-2015, significant developments have occurred through our partnership 
approach: 

• The Development of the Integrated Access St Helens – the gateway to all our 
community services as outlined within our introduction.    

• Currently reviewing community Providers bed base, access and utilisation 
rates.  We have completed a review of intermediate care beds within the 
borough using an external Consultant Geriatrician and Nurse Director.  We 
will re-procure this service in the next 12 months to ensure access to high 
quality intermediate care beds for both step up and step down for the 
borough. 

• Establishment of the Integrated Continuing Healthcare (CHC) team governed 
by s75 pooled fund arrangement.    

• Review of all Community Services to inform choice of care to be 
Multispecialty Community Specialist, including Vanguard application and 
vision for frailty pathway.  Successful bid for co-commissioning primary care.   

• Review of discharge arrangements within secondary care to influence 
redesign. Review of Voluntary Sector services to align spend and future 
modelling.  Successful repatriation of patients with Mental Health needs.  
Successful review End of Life Care and establishment of Locality Group to 
implement new pathway.   

• Completion of the Better Care Fund Plan was authorised by NHSE with 
support. We are particularly proud of the fact that we now have fully 
embedded Integrated Commissioning Teams which, from a recent evaluation, 
state they feel valued and supported to innovate, create and bring about 
change for St Helens residents.  As a consequence of the success of the 
team and the work which we have achieved, we shall formalise the 
arrangements through the s75 schedule, securing our commitment and vision 
for integration for St Helens, by creating the expertise to lead others through 
turbulent periods of change, whilst commissioning of high quality safe 
services. 

• Mental Health Strategy Development and re-procurement of IAPT services is 
underway (improving access to psychological therapies). 

• Care Homes Service has been developed in collaboration between Health, 
Social Care, GPs, Community Provider and Acute Trust to provide within 72 
hour consultant assessment/support to care home staff and patients. This 
ensures that Acute conditions are identified and treated earlier enough before 
they become critical and increase the confidence of staff to manage 
appropriate patients in the Care Home rather than opting to send them to 
hospital. This service has helped reduce hospital admissions by 28% from 
Care Homes within the borough and has now been shared across Merseyside 
via the Urgent Care Tripartite Group. 
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• We continue to develop and implement evidence based pathways for all Long 

Term Conditions such as Stroke Services.  
 

• We continue to promote the use of the emerging telecare and telehealth 
technology and telephone coaching arrangements to support people to 
remain independent and self-care for as long as possible. 

• Enhanced our Integrated Discharge Team to support those patients at 
greatest risk of admission and to continue to deliver effective, safe and timely 
discharge planning as a seven day service 

 
Establishment of an Integrated Children’s Commissioning Team; September 2014 
 
It was acknowledged by both the CCG and Local Authority in 2013 that the existing systems 
around planning and delivery of children’s community health services, including those for our 
most vulnerable groups were complex and unwieldy. The movement of Public Health into the 
Local Authority and the more recent Special Educational Need Reforms provided an 
opportunity to establish a new approach. An integrated child health team was established 
headed up by an Assistant Director – integrated child health, under the leadership of the 
Director Public Health and the team is made up of staff from the CCG and Local Authority – 
Children’s Services and Public Health, all co-located in Atlas House.  Close working 
arrangements around collaborative commissioning and funding of services for children with 
additional and / or complex needs will be prove beneficial in terms of integrated service 
delivery models for children and young people and ensuring that every £1 is spent wisely to 
improve outcomes for children and families. 

 
• Child Health Summit: one year on 

Following on from the Child Health Summit held in 2013, which brought together a 
range of key stakeholders to influence and shape services to support child health 
across the borough.  The 2014 event, provided an opportunity for stakeholders to 
reflect on the progress made, whilst taking into consideration the challenges that the 
borough still faces to ensure that children and young people achieve healthy 
outcomes.  A clear vision was set out by the CCG and Local Authority in order to 
promote integrated working arrangements and a challenge to all commissioners, 
strategic leads and service providers that children’s health and wellbeing was 
everybody’s business and that there are still health priorities relevant to young people 
that remain a significant challenge 

 
• Review and additional resource into the speech, language and communication 

service 
A review and needs assessment of speech and language provision identified that 
waiting times for therapy were too long and demand for the service had increased 
year on year with no corresponding  increase in investment. In addition there was no 
capacity within the system to work with parents, carers and early years settings 
around wider communication skills. Hence where speech and language delay was a 
result of developmental delay children were not receiving input until they hit the 
threshold for therapy. Additional investment was sourced and the CCG and Local 
Authority have collaborated to go out to tender for a new speech, language and 
communication service.  The provider has been appointed and the service will be in 
place from 1st July 2015. 
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• Review and additional funding being invested in a re-commissioned CAMHS 
service 
A review and needs assessment of CAMHs provision against need, identified that 
waiting times for Tier 3 were too long and there was insufficient capacity at Tier 2. 
The model of delivery for Tier 3 CAMHS has been amended so that all children and 
young people referred during 2015/16 will be seen sooner and that the links with Tier 
2 provision are clear. 

 
Along with insufficient capacity, gaps in the Tier 2 service were identified with no 
provision for children under 11 years or work with families.  Additional investment 
allowed the service to work on a ‘no waiting list’ approach and bridged the gaps 
whilst a procurement was undertaken. The service has been jointly commissioned 
and funded by the CCG and Local Authority with clear pathways between the two 
tiers and a single point of access to ensure that no child or young person will be 
refused a service.  The provider has been appointed and the new service will be in 
place from 1st July 2015. 

 
• Special Education Needs and Disability (SEND) reforms  

The SEND Reforms came into place on 1st September 2014 which saw the 
introduction of the Education, Health and Care Plans which require professionals to 
jointly assess and plan to meet the needs of children with SEND.  These reforms 
required the CCG to appoint a statutory position and look at changing the way we 
commission services and create joint commissioning arrangements for the health and 
social care provision required by children and young people identified as having 
SEN. The statutory role of Designated Health Officer (DHO), ensures that children 
and young people with SEN are offered the health support they need in relation to 
their learning difficulty or disability.  A GP Governing Body member and Senior 
Manager work together to ensure that these statutory responsibilities are being met.  

 
• Engagement with Parents/Carers 

Much work has been undertaken to ascertain the views of parents and carers 
regarding the children’s services the CCG commissions to ensure that these are fit 
for purpose and meet the needs of the children and young people for which the CCG 
is responsible.  As part of both the review of speech and language and Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health (CAMHs) services the Integrated Children’s 
Commissioning Team met with parents and carers to understand how they felt the 
services were working for them and what could be improved.  Parents from local 
Parent/Carer Forum Listen 4 Change participated in the tenders for both services 
and were an integral part of choosing the service providers.   

 
• Voice of the child 

The voice of the child is a key element of understanding local need.  Much work has 
been undertaken with service providers to ensure that the services we commission 
are routinely gathering information on the views of children and young people and 
ensuring that their voice is reflected within the development of care plans. 

 
• Next steps 

In 2014/15 much progress was made to revise service specifications, to commission 
Speech and Language Services and CAMHs tier 2 and single point of access.  In 
2015/16 the Integrated Children’s Commissioning Team will continue its systematic 
review of all contracts and embed new tendered services.  New priorities will be 
agreed and incorporated in to the new St Helens Children and Young People’s Plan 
2015 -18 and St Helens Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-18. 
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The NHS Five Year Forward View. 
 

Multispecialty Community Providers (MCP) models of care have been identified as a 
key route to more effectively addressing the demand challenges posed by people 
with multiple conditions.  This is as outlined in the NHS Five Year Forward View 
published by the DoH in October 2014.  The CCG is in the process of agreeing its 
operational plan for 15/16 with NHSE in order to address the recommendations and 
aspirations of the Five Year Forward View.  We will be engaging further with our 
stakeholders as part of this process and building into a ‘St Helens Cares’ vision. 
 
An Out of Hospital Care Programme was established as one of the key strategic 
programmes within the St Helens Five Year Clinical Commissioning Strategy for 
Health and Social Care 2014-2019.  As we move into 15/16 and beyond, we aim to 
deliver out of hospital care and care closer to home for frail elderly patients with Long 
Term Conditions at risk of admission/readmission through the introduction of three 
MCP Neighbourhood Care Services.   

 
Each MCP Neighbourhood Care Service will consist of a multi-disciplinary team - GP, 
Community Matrons, District Nurses, Social Care, Voluntary Sector and 
Administrative Support. They will be based around three General Practice Clusters 
(North, Central, South) and supported operating across the three clusters by 
specialised services where necessary (e.g. Alcohol Services, Mental Health, 
Specialised Nurses, Voluntary Sector, Medicines Management/Pharmacy and 
Proactive GP Services for vulnerable and housebound aged 65+) in order to meet 
patient’s identified needs. 

 
In addition, each MCP Neighbourhood Care Service will have: 

 
• Named links from a range of specialist services and local third sector organisations. 
• Access to ambulatory care at the Acute Trust or at the most appropriate place. 
• Clear pathways into Public Health & Wellness programmes, e.g. smoking cessation, 

exercise, healthy eating, expert patient programme. 
• Access to a community clinical hub model where planned care is available at scale 

outside out of the secondary care environment. 
 

The development of MCP Neighbourhood Services is supported by our Better Care Fund 
(BCF) plans which are a key instrument for sustaining social care services for this 
population.  

 
The BCF will help to ‘protect’ such services by: 

 
• Enabling/maintaining continued health linked provision.  
• Supporting the development of preventative services. 
• Facilitating the development of integrated services which deliver better outcomes for 

individuals and improved efficiency for commissioners and providers. 
 

The MCP Neighbourhood Care Service will be designed with the following long term 
aims and outcomes: 

 
• Better holistic and clinical outcomes and patient experience (as defined by the 

National Voices Narrative and Making it Real Framework). 
• Improved experience for patients/service users and carers.  
• Reduced health and social care expenditure. 
• Reduce unnecessary hospital admissions, readmissions and length of stay. 
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• Reduce unnecessary A&E attendances. 
• Reduce admissions to residential and nursing care homes. 
• Enable sustained independent living and self–care. 
• Deliver integrated professional working across all provider boundaries led by Care 

Management proposals. 
• Improved systems and processes for monitoring interventions and particular projects.   
• Single multi-disciplinary care planning for high risk people with health and social care 

needs. 
• Better planned service delivery through partnership working. 

 
MCP Neighbourhood Care Services will also focus on intervening early to prevent an 
escalation in health or social care need. 

 
The CCG on-going commissioning work programme moving into 2015 also includes: 
 

• Acute Visiting Scheme/Eldercare/Care Homes Service which seeks to merge the 
current provisions to develop a new service for frail and elderly patients in both 
the community and care homes as part of the wider strategy for older people;  

 
• Community Clinical Hubs which will deliver planned care at scale outside out of 

the secondary care environment;  
 

• Community Services Redesign which seeks to integrate holistic care offers that 
will demonstrate truly integrated provision, offering greater individual experience, 
improved quality and affordability;  

 
In conclusion, the health and social care integrated commissioning approach between 
the CCG and the LA welcome the move towards an MCP neighbourhood as it accords 
closely with our emerging vision for community services – the development of local 
services located conveniently in communities and positioned for maximum benefit in 
consultation with those people who will be using them. 

The proposed MCP Neighbourhood Care Services makes sense for the patient.  It 
means a better customer experience, better patient outcomes, less confusion and 
complexity for patient (and carer), and because it is mostly focused on care closer to 
home and the community, it presents a real cost saving opportunity to the health and 
social care system.  It drives up the quality and cost benefit of the care overseen by the 
Health & Wellbeing Board. There is strong strategic commitment at senior levels to make 
information sharing a reality with an information sharing agreement already in place 
across the Integrated Commissioning Team and further develop shared professional 
values in front line staff and to implement a joint governance model with aligned 
incentives and shared or compatible information systems.   
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Table 1: The MCP Neighbourhood Care Service Strategic Vision 
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better health 

 
Interdependencies 
 
There are a number of other projects with broadly the same outcomes to reduce hospital 
non-elective admissions, A&E attendances and out-patient attendances; develop care closer 
to home and improve individual outcomes:  
  

• Integrated Access St Helens  
• End of Life  
• Ambulatory Emergency Care  
• Acute Visiting Scheme  
• Primary Care/Clinical Hub  
• Specialist work streams i.e. Mental Health, Learning Disabilities 
• Falls Group 
• Frailty Pathway 
• Care Homes Service 
• Proactive Care 
• Voluntary Sector 
• Urgent Care 
• Collaborative work streams 

 

Conclusion 

In conclusion, the CCG and the LA continue to work together on delivery of our Five Year 
Strategy and welcomes the move towards an MCP neighbourhood approach as it accords 
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closely with our emerging vision for community services within our five year plan - the 
development of local services located conveniently in communities and positioned for 
maximum benefit in consultation with those people who will be using them - by 
commissioning local integrated community services, health and wellbeing outcomes will be 
improved, as well as the efficiency of services. 

1.2.4 Development and Performance of the CCG for 14/15 and in the  Future 
 

• Financial Review 

The CCG published its five year Financial Strategy in June 2014.  The Finance 
Strategy outlined the key financial duties that the CCG operates under. The annual 
accounts for 2014/15, and financial review below, demonstrate that the CCG 
achieved its key financial duties for 2014/15 as follows:  

Statutory Duties Target 
£m 

Actual 
£m 

Variance 
£m 

Met? 

Expenditure not to exceed income 283.37 280.62 -2.75 √ 
Capital resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions 0.00 0.00 0.00 √ 
Revenue resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions 278.58 275.83 -2.75 √ 
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does 
not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0.00 0.00 0.00 √ 
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) 
does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 0.00 0.00 0.00 √ 
Revenue administration resource use does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions 4.99 4.47 -0.52 √ 

 
The budget for 2014/15 was developed to ensure that the CCG could meet the 
financial targets set by NHSE whilst allowing the CCG to deliver on its commissioning 
intentions as set out in its Commissioning Strategy which in turn reflects the Health 
and Wellbeing strategy of the Borough informed by the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment. 

This section of the report sets out the summarised financial performance of the CCG 
over the last financial year taken from the Annual Accounts of the CCG which are 
detailed at the end of the CCG Annual Report (Section 3). These accounts have 
been prepared under a Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board under the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG has produced the 
accounts on the basis that it is a going concern as it has no reason to believe that its 
future is in doubt either due to its own performance or through changes in legislation.  
 
The CCG has responsibility for commissioning a range of NHS services in hospital 
and the community for both physical and mental illness. It therefore has contracts 
with a number of hospitals, including St Helens and Knowsley Hospitals NHS Trust 
and Warrington and Halton Foundation Trust.   Mental Health services are provided 
in the main by the Five Boroughs Partnership Foundation Trust.   Community health 
services in St Helens are also provided by the Five Boroughs however, Bridgewater 
Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust is the largest community services 
provider. The CCG also has responsibility for GP prescribing budgets and for 
continuing healthcare in nursing homes within the borough.  However, not all health 
care for the people of St Helens is commissioned by the CCG. NHS England has 
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responsibility for commissioning primary care services, provided through a range of 
partnerships and independent contractors including 36 GP practices, 19 dental 
practices and 1 orthodontic practice, 49 pharmacies, and 29 opticians.  In addition, it 
directly commissions hospital services which are nationally defined as specialist – 
including for example, brain surgery, most cancer services and secure mental health 
services. The Council has responsibility for commissioning public health services 
covering substance misuse, sexual health and health checks, whilst Public Health 
England has responsibility for commissioning national screening and vaccination 
programmes.   
 
In 2015/16, the CCG will work with NHSE for re-commissioning of the two APMS 
practices within the borough (APMS allows NHS England to contract with ‘any 
person’ under local commissioning arrangements). 

  
• Financial Performance in 2014/15 

 
CCGs receive their funding from NHS England in two parts.  The main element is the 
Programme Allocation which is for the commissioning of health services. The second 
allocation is the CCGs Running Cost Allowance which covers the administration and 
management of the CCG.  The CCG cannot use its Programme Allocation to 
increase the Running Cost Allowance although an under-spend on its Running Costs 
can be used to support its Programme Budget.   All CCGs must ensure that health 
services are delivered within their total Programme and Running Cost Allocations 
and cash flow controls as set by NHS England.   In addition, it was expected to 
deliver a 1% surplus in 2014/15. The CCG was successful in meeting both its 
statutory financial duties and the 1% target in 2014/15. 
 
 

  
 
 
 

2014/15 2013/14
£m £m

Opening Baseline Allocation - Programme 267.41 262.21
Other Allocations - Programme 6.18 3.22
Opening Baseline Allocation - Running Costs 4.64 4.67
Other Allocations - Running Costs 0.35 0.00
Total CCG Allocation 278.59 270.09

CCG Revenue - Admin 0.07 0.01
CCG Revenue - Programme 4.71 2.76
Total CCG Revenue (Income) 4.78 2.76

Total CCG Resources 283.37 272.85

Gross Operating Expenses - Admin 4.54 4.28
Gross Operating Expenses - Programme 276.08 265.91
Finance Costs 0.00 0.00
Total CCG Operating Expenses 280.62 270.19

Surplus/(Deficit) Carried Forward* 2.75 2.67

*This will be returned to the CCG in 2015/16

Summary of CCG Income & Expenditure



 22  
 

 In delivering the financial targets for 2014/15 the CCG has had to manage a number 
of challenges:  

 
- Meeting the costs of over-performance under ‘payment by results’ arrangements 

against its Acute hospital activity plans both in terms of elective out-patient and 
day-case volumes and in terms of the case-mix of the hospital inpatient spells 
due to increased patient complexity.  

- Faced increased demand pressures to make continuing healthcare payments for 
those vulnerable patients who meet the clinical criteria for such support.  

- Managing the GP prescribing budget including the impact of price changes 
outside of the CCGs control 

- Managing winter pressures which have led to increased non elective attendances 
at hospital and hospital admissions 

 
The delivery of the financial target required significant effort by the Governing Body, 
Finance and Performance Committee and GP Practice Membership, as well as the 
executive team in the CCG. The planned 1% surplus was at risk during the year and was 
only achieved by accessing Mersey level risk pooling monies of £2 million and a return of 
resources by NHS England in respect of the Continuing Health Care National Restitution 
Risk Pool of £1.2 million. 

 
• How was the money spent in 2014/15? 

 
The CCG spent its allocation to ensure that the following services were delivered for 
the people of St Helens:   

  
 

 
In commissioning these services less than 2% was spent on administration and 
governance –which was within the Running Cost Allowance set by NHSE. 
This expenditure is set out in the table below: 
 

CCG Spending 2014/15 2013/14
£m £m

Programme Expenditure
Acute Services 148.06 145.12
Mental Health Services 22.08 21.54
Community Health Services 33.40 32.77
Continuing Care 21.04 18.94
Prescribing & Primary Care Services 44.11 41.30
Other Programme Services 2.68 3.48
Total Programme Spend 271.37 263.15

Running Cost (Admin) Expenditure 4.47 4.27

Total Expenditure* 275.83 267.42

*This figure is net of £4.8m income received by the CCG (£2.8m in 2013/14)
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• Looking Forward to 2015/16 and beyond 
 

Unlike in previous years NHSE have not been able to publish indicative CCG 
allocations for the next 2 to 3 years because of the General Election in May. The 
CCG only has those for 2015/16. These included programme budget allocations, 
running cost allocations and transfers in of national monies to contribute to the Better 
Care Fund.  The allocation publication also showed notional allocations in respect of 
primary care services and specialised services which relate to Halton as NHSE wish 
to delegate some of their direct commissioning functions for these services. St 
Helens CCG has indicated that it is willing to take on responsibility for the 
commissioning of GP primary care services and NHSE has approved the CCG to do 
this.  At the time of writing, much of the detail around the co-commissioning of GP 
primary care is still to be confirmed by NHSE although work has been done on the 
governance arrangements within the CCG which has been approved by NHSE. The 
notional allocation for GP primary care is £25.9m for St Helens. 
 
The CCG will receive a programme budget funding increase of 1.94% (or £5.2m) in 
2015/16, giving a total programme allocation (excluding notional primary care 
allocations) of £272.3m.  This includes seasonal resilience funding of £1.5m which 
means that the general growth increase to the CCG is circa 1.4%.   Although the 
NHS has been protected in relation to other public spending in a period of austerity, 
this is a historically very low level of funding growth for the health service which is 
meeting increasing demands from the population. The CCGs running cost allocation 
is reduced by 10.39% (or £0.5m) for 2015/16, which is broadly in line with earlier 
planning assumptions. This presents significant challenge to the CCG as it will likely 
assume significant additional management responsibilities around primary care 
commissioning and possibly specialised services.  
 
The CCG approved a 5 year commissioning strategy and 5 year financial strategy in 
June 2014 based on assumptions around future funding and the NHS policies of the 
current Government. Given the election, the 5 year strategy has not been rolled 
forward and the CCG has focussed its planning on developing an operational plan for 
2015/16 with partners and stakeholders, although incorporating the implications of 
the NHS Five Year Forward View. The Annual Budget for 2015/16 will support the 
CCG’s commissioning intentions.  
 
The CCG will continue to work closely with the Local Authority through the 
mechanism of the Health and Wellbeing Board.  Together they will have a key role on 
maintaining and improving performance objectives:  

Running Costs (Admin)
£m £/head* £m £/head*

CCG Direct Costs Staff 1.8 9.7 1.4 7.56
CCG Direct Non-Pay 1.3 7.1 1.2 6.59
Other CCG Shared Services 0.3 1.4 0.3 1.79
Commissioning Support Unit 1.1 6.0 1.3 6.97
Total Running Costs 4.5 24.18 4.3 22.91

*This is the ONS constrained population which equated to 187,707 in 2014/15 (186,743 in 2013/14)

2014/15 2013/14
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- Ensuring that NHS Constitution waiting times targets continue to be met and 
preparing for the new mental health performance targets. 

- Improving the health of children by increasing breast feeding and vaccination 
rates. 

- Increasing the choice available to local people about which hospital they are 
referred to. 

- Reducing health inequalities by working on issues like alcohol harm reduction, 
cancer screening, and free health checks.  

- Maximising the effectiveness of the Better Care Fund investment  
- Delivering the vision and challenges set out in the NHS England’s “Five year 

Forward View” published in October 2014. 
 
In delivering these objectives, the CCG and the Council is mindful of the continued 
drive for austerity and reduced level of public spending.  In order to cope with this, all 
CCGs continue to work to deliver NHSE’s Quality Innovation Productivity and 
Prevention (QIPP) initiative, which is intended to reduce costs so that the NHS can 
continue to improve services and meet the growing demand for health care.  This will 
be supported through further collaboration between the CCG and the Council on the 
commissioning of health and social care services.   In 2015/16 £14.2m will be made 
available from CCG resources to be transferred to a pooled budget for health and 
social care, which is to be called the Better Care Fund (BCF). The plans on how this 
fund is going to be used in this borough were approved by the Health and Wellbeing 
Board the Governing Body of the CCG and Council Cabinet in the 2014/15 financial 
year. The CCG and Local Authority are now planning to implement the various 
schemes to be funded by the BCF in 2015/16.  
 
The expectation of continuing reduced growth for NHS funding means that the CCG 
will continue to be faced with difficult choices on spending priorities.  Although the 
CCG has been able to deliver its financial duties and targets in 2014/15, the relatively 
low levels of funding growth emphasises the importance of the QIPP agenda to 
ensure that funds are used to achieve maximum benefit to the health of the 
population whilst continuing to deliver the necessary financial targets.  Recognising 
that 2015/16 is a particularly challenging financial year as the CCG funds the BCF 
whilst maintaining investment in secondary care, the CCG has formed a QIPP 
Delivery Group which is a formal sub-committee of the CCG Finance and 
Performance Committee.  The QIPP delivery group includes strong clinical 
representation and is charged with overseeing delivery of the CCGs QIPP plan for 
2015/16 and beyond; with a strong focus on quality.  The CCG has received 
significant assurance from MIAA in relation to the operational delivery of its QIPP 
Programme.  Clearly, given the poor health within the Borough and current high 
demand for secondary care, there are still very significant challenges to be faced but 
the organisation with its partners, is focussed and determined to tackle them.  The 
QIPP challenge for 15/16 is £12.0167m with £3.224m yet to be identified as of May 
2015. 
 
As well as constraints in relation to future resources, the CCG faces other principal 
risks and uncertainties that have the potential to impact on its long-term financial 
performance. As part of the planning process undertaken with NHSE, the CCG is 
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required to quantify its key financial risks and mitigations. The CCG has identified 
principal risks as follows; 
  
- activity over performance and associated costs under payment by results (PbR) 

arrangements 
- increased demand for community services under cost per case Any Qualified 

Provider (AQP) arrangements 
- the cost and volume of Continuing Healthcare cases and high cost mental health 

placements out of areas  
- managing the GP prescribing budget 
- financial risk associated with the transfer of GP primary care budgets 
- achievement of the CCGs overall QIPP programme which is very challenging.  

Through robust internal controls and governance, strong contract management 
arrangements, proactive management arrangements and joint pooled budget 
arrangements with the council in relation to the majority of CHC cases, the CCG will 
seek to manage and mitigate these risks.  The CCG has received a high level of 
assurance in relation to its financial reporting and budgetary control arrangements 
and a significant assurance opinion in relation to the quality of its internal controls. 
The internal structures which will help the CCG deal with these risks are set out in the 
Governance section of the Annual Report. 

• NHS England Assurance Framework Performance 
 
The CCG assurance process led by NHS England (NHSE) is the mechanism by 
which CCGs are able to demonstrate that they are delivering the best possible 
outcomes for their patients within their financial allocation. The assurance framework 
is designed to ensure that CCGs are delivering quality and outcomes for patients 
both locally and as part of national standards and that they are continuously 
improving from the start point of authorisation. 

NHSE has held quarterly retrospective reviews of all CCGs performance and St 
Helens CCG has offered assurance on a number of key lines of enquiry (KPIs) to 
satisfy NHS England North.  

NHS St Helens CCG was authorised without any outstanding conditions from April 
2013.  The CCG annual assurance statement for 2014-15 identified that: 

• The CCG has continued to build on its strengths in clinical engagement and 
has developed into a clinically led membership organisation 

• Investment in the Governing Body, a clear organisational development vision 
and strategy 

• A resilient and reliable commissioning team 
• Strong clinical leadership – specifically relating to primary care, quality and 

safety 
• Implementation of St Helens Urgent Care Collaborative (later reconfigured as 

St Helens Strategic Resilience Group) 
• Good progress towards integration with the Local Authority and successfully 

integrated team 
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• Strong involvement with the Health and Wellbeing Board 
• Clear evidence that patients and other stakeholders have helped to shape 

priorities for St Helens 

The annual assurance assessment also identified the following key areas of 
challenge: 

• The CCG achieved financial targets for 2014-15 however, the assurance process 
recognised the scale of financial challenge going forward and specifically the 
challenge of funding the Better Care Fund 

• Areas of challenge in terms of constitutional delivery had been achievement of 
the AED 4 hour access standard, maintaining referral to treatment time targets, 
consistency of performance around mixed sex accommodation targets and 
friends and family test coverage at AED. 

• Maintaining effective relationships and focussing effort on member practices, 
Governing Body members, providers and commissioners. 

In addition, the NHS Constitution sets out expected rights and pledges and the NHSE 
assurance process includes an assessment of the CCG against key thresholds when 
assessing organisational delivery. The tables below include key performance measures and 
CCG delivery against constitutional standards as of Q4 2014/15.   
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Key performance measures against constitutional standards as of Q4 2014/15  

Target 
(%)

Qtr 4 
2013/14

Qtr 4 
2014/15

Variance 
to 13/14

Admitted patients to start treatment within a maximum of 18 weeks from 
referral 

90% 94.0% 94.8% 0.8%

Non-admitted patients to start treatment within a maximum of 18 weeks from 
referral

95% 98.1% 98.4% 0.3%

Patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways (yet to start treatment) 
should have been waiting no more than 18 weeks from referral

92% 96.7% 97.5% 0.8%

Zero tolerance of over 52 week waiters 0 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Diagnostic test waiting 
times 

Patients waiting for a diagnostic test should have been waiting less than 6 
weeks from referral

Below 1% 0.14% 0.05% -0.1%

A&E waits Patients should be admitted, transferred or discharged within 4 hours of their 
arrival at an A&E department

95% 93.7% 96.7% 3.0%

Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred 
urgently with suspected cancer by a GP

93% 94.9% 94.7% -0.2%

Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred 
urgently with breast symptoms (where cancer was not initially suspected)

93% 95.8% 94.0% -1.8%

Maximum one month (31-day) wait from diagnosis to first definitive treatment 
for all cancers

96% 97.8% 98.7% 0.9%

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where that treatment is 
surgery

94% 100.0% 96.0% -4.0%

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where that treatment is an 
anti-cancer drug regimen

98% 99.0% 98.6% -0.5%

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is a 
course of radiotherapy 

94% 99.1% 97.1% -2.0%

Maximum two month (62-day) wait from urgent GP referral to first definitive 
treatment for cancer

85% 89.2% 86.3% -2.9%

Maximum 62-day wait from referral from an NHS screening service to first 
definitive treatment for all cancers

90% 100.0% 98.4% -1.6%

Maximum 62-day wait for first definitive treatment following a consultant’s 
decision to upgrade the priority of the patient (all cancers)

85% 90.0% 88.4% -1.6%

Category A calls resulting in an emergency response arriving within 8 minutes 
(red1) 

75% 75.9% 69.1% -6.8%

Category A calls resulting in an emergency response arriving within 8 minutes 
(red2) 

75% 76.5% 69.4% -7.1%

Category A calls resulting in an ambulance arriving at the scene within 19 
minutes

95% 96.2% 93.1% -3.1%

Mixed Sex 
Accommodation Breaches 

Minimise breaches (rate per 100,000) Minimise 0.5 0.20 -30.0%

Cancelled Operations All patients who have operations cancelled, on or after the day of admission 
(including the day of surgery), for non-clinical reasons to be offered another 
binding date within 28 days, or the patient’s treatment to be funded at the 
time and hospital of the patient’s choice. 

Mental health Care Programme Approach (CPA): The proportion of people under adult mental 
illness specialties on CPA who were followed up within 7 days of discharge 
from psychiatric in-patient care during the period

95% 98.9%
Awaiting 

Q3&4 Data

Q1 100%
Q2 83%
Q3 TBC

* data source CSU Constitutional Dashboard

data not currently 
available at CCG level

data not currently 
available at CCG 

level

CCG Performance - key constitutional rights and pledges

Referral To Treatment 
waiting times for non-
urgent consultant-led 
treatment 

Cancer waits – 2 week wait 

Cancer waits – 31 days 

Cancer waits – 62 days 

Category A ambulance calls 
(NWAS level performance, 
not CCG level) 
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Quality and Outcomes section 

Preventing people from dying prematurely
BASELINE

(2013)
2014 2015

Enhancing quality of life for people with long term conditions BASELINE 
(2013-14)

2014-15 2015-16

PLAN 68 69

PERFORMANCE
66 

as at Dec 2014
Due early 2016

Positive experience of care BASELINE
(2013-14)

2014-15 2015-16

PLAN 4 4

PERFORMANCE
5.5

as at Dec 2014
Due early 2016

PLAN 116.0 113.1

PERFORMANCE
83.5

LOA Atlas 2015
Due early 2016

Composite indicator of patient experience of primary care (i) GP 
Services and  (ii) GP Out of Hours service (average negative responses 
per 100 patients)

Patient experience of hospital care (average negative responses per 
100 patients)

2964.6 Due May 2016

Health-related quality of life for people with long term conditions (EQ-
5D score) (Per 100 people)

67.0

ANNUAL - CCG BASED INDICATORS

Potential years of life lost (PYLL) from causes considered amenable to 
healthcare (rate per 100,000 population)

2456.6 PERFORMANCE

 

 

 

Enhancing quality of life for people with long term conditions BASELINE
(2013-14)

QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

PLAN 66.3% 67.7% 69.1% 70.4%

PERFORMANCE 66.80% 63.82% 75.65% 78.02%

Reducing the time people unnecessarily spend in hospital 652 613 667 677

634 633 669 704

602

-7.7%

Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and 
protecting them from avoidable harm

BASELINE
(2013-14)

QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

CEILING 0 0 0 0

 PERFORMANCE 0 0 0 0

CEILING 15 28 42 57

 PERFORMANCE 21 41 52 70

 Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) BASELINE
(2013-14 Q4)

QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

PLAN 3.75% 3.75% 3.75% 3.75%

 PERFORMANCE 1.70% 1.46% 1.68% 2.65%

PLAN 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%

 PERFORMANCE 41.81% 55.29% 43.49% 42.29%

Incidence of healthcare associated infection (HCAI) i) MRSA - Cases 
which have been assigned to the CCG following a Post Infection 
Review

1

Incidence of healthcare associated infection (HCAI) ii) C.difficile (Year-
to-date)

71

Access: the proportion of people entering treatment against the level 
of need in the general population

1.01%

Esitmated diagnosis rate for people with dementia 65.0%

QUARTERLY - CCG BASED INDICATORS

Recovery: the proportion of people who complete treatment who are 
moving to recovery

43.33%

BASELINE (2013-14)

Avoidable emergency admissions per 100,000 population (Composite 
measure)

PLAN (2014-15)

PERFORMANCE (2014-15)

Comparison to same period in 
previous year
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Friends and Family Test (FFT)

PERCENTAGE WHO WOULD RECOMMEND A&E QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

ST HELENS AND KNOWSLEY HOSPITALS NHS TRUST 96.74% 95.40% 95.18% 93.46%

WARRINGTON AND HALTON HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 74.56% 80.47% 85.58% 84.68%

PERCENTAGE WHO WOULD RECOMMEND INPATIENT QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

ST HELENS AND KNOWSLEY HOSPITALS NHS TRUST 97.51% 97.90% 95.76% 97.28%

WARRINGTON AND HALTON HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - 94.50% 95.98% 96.22%

QUARTERLY - PROVIDER BASED INDICATORS

 

For 2014-15 NHSE, through their local team, have continued to assess St Helens CCG 
through a series of quarterly Assurance meetings. These have continued to focus upon the 
six domains designed to test organisational health and capability: 

1. Are patients receiving clinically commissioned high quality services? 

2. Are patients and the public actively engaged and involved? 

3. Are CCG plans delivering better outcomes for patients? 

4. Does the CCG have robust governance arrangements? 

5. Is the CCG working in partnership with others? 

6. Does the CCG have strong and robust leadership? 

A range of key performance indicators are used by NHSE to test out the CCGs performance 
against the six key domains. Due to the timing of assurance meetings with NHSE the most 
recent assessment meeting was held relating to Quarter 3 in March 2015 with the CCG 
being fully assured in all domains and being assured with support in domain 3. Please refer 
to ‘performance outlook’ section on page 31 for further information.   

A recent NHSE dashboard provides a snapshot of the CCG to be one of the best performing 
CCGs Cheshire and Merseyside CCGs (December – January 2014). 
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NHSE DASHBOARD 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 31  
 

• Internal assurance in relation to CCG performance related to the key domains 

The Finance and Performance Committee (F&PC) leads on performance management 
for the organisation and receives a comprehensive performance report and a current 
performance brief at each meeting escalating performance issues to the Clinical Quality 
Committee and Governing Body as appropriate. The Governing Body receives a 
performance summary which includes key constitutional measures, quality premium 
performance and a clinically led Governing Body dashboard. The Governing Body 
discusses performance and reviews key performance indicators, by exception, at each 
meeting. 

The CCG has continued to develop a range of KPIs for the CCG during 2014-15. The 
intention is that these will further direct and support effective decision making and 
provide a basis for evidencing delivery against strategic objectives and compliance with 
mandated requirements. The KPIs have been developed with Governing Body members 
and cover key commissioning strategic plan areas.  During 2014-15 the CCG has also 
led the development of an urgent care dashboard for use at the Strategic Resilience 
Group (SRG).  To ensure that the CCG maintains performance around the referral to 
treatment time targets it has proactively engaged with NHSE IMAS (intensive 
management and support) throughout the year to develop ‘in house’ capability. A 
tangible outcome has been the development of a’ referral to treatment’ (RTT) time 
dashboard for the SRG, RTT targets have been maintained and the CCG has worked 
closely with St Helens and Knowsley Trust to review breaches of the standards and start 
to improve pathways to prevent breaches.  In the final quarter of the financial year, the 
CCG has also developed a quality dashboard for use at the Clinical Quality and 
Approvals committee. This consolidates information available within the organisation 
relating to the quality of commissioned services and ensures that the committee, and in 
turn Governing Body, will have clear line of sight on all quality related performance 
issues. 

• Performance outlook: Quarter 4 2014/15  and into 2015/16 and beyond 

The CCG NHSE Quarter 4 assurance process will take place in Quarter 1 of 2015-16.  
Based on the most current performance information available the following areas have 
been highlighted to date, where it is identified that NHSE will likely seek continued 
assurance from the CCG: 

• A&E 4 hour wait standard – to demonstrate that the CCG remains assured, at 
times of increased activity through AED, that patients continue to receive a high 
quality and safe service 

• Healthcare Acquired Infections (MRSA and C Difficile) – that work continues to 
continue to address standards in this area 

• Ambulance response – ambulance performance is below the required standard 
across the region, the CCG continues to work collaboratively with the provider 
and other commissioning organisations to address this 

• Access to psychological therapies – progress to re procure IAPT services during 
2015-16 in order to consistently achieve access standards 
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• Access – that the CCG can maintain performance in relation to referral to 
treatment time (RTT) and address any performance issues / system issues in 
relation to cancer targets 

• That the CCG has systems in place and effective collaboration with partners 
around any serious untoward incidents (SUIs) to investigate and learn 

• Safer staffing – that the CCG is assured in relation to staffing levels at key 
providers and that safety and quality is not compromised 

• Level of emergency (non-elective) activity – that the CCGs plans will impact to 
constrain and decrease demand for urgent care attendances and admissions 

• That the CCG has arrangements in place to address parity of esteem in respect 
of mental health services 

• That the CCG has adequate arrangements to deal with restitution claims relating 
to continuing healthcare and that NHSE targets to clear claims can be met 

The CCG was required to submit a 1 year financial and (draft) operational plan following 
review of the NHS Five Year Forward View to NHSE in April 2015 this is be underpinned 
by a range of performance metrics and targets related to outcomes.  In summary, the 
plan sets out an ambition to meet or exceed all of the constitutional targets.  The Finance 
and Activity plan includes the following planning assumptions: 

• A reduction of 1% on A&E attendances (measured against the agreed contract 
baseline for 2015-16) 

• A reduction of 2% on non-elective admissions (measured against the agreed contract 
baseline for 2015-16) 

• A 2% increase from Month 7 2014/15 Forecast Outturn in  elective activity (first 
Outpatient Attends, Follow ups, Day-cases and Inpatients) 
 

To constrain elective activity to a 2% increase will be challenging considering the 
increase in GP referral activity experienced by the CCG in 2014/15 compared to 
2013/14. The increase can be attributed in part to the impact of the GP Quality Contract 
for 2014/15 and particularly the over 75’s comprehensive geriatric assessment 
component (which may be non-recurrent in nature). The CCG has seen growth in 
2014/15 across a range of key specialties, such as dermatology, cardiology, urology and 
gastroenterology. In order to address this, and constrain elective growth to 2% in 
2015/16, the CCG has in place a number of schemes and initiatives and an Elective 
Program Group has been established and is starting to develop plans. A work program is 
in place and each scheme within the program is being aligned to a targeted reduction in 
referrals 

 
In relation to Non Elective activity the reductions in A&E and non-elective admissions are 
predicated on the delivery of a wide range of schemes such as continuation of 
community based frailty schemes.  The BCF also underpins further reductions in non-
elective admissions of 2% through a range of schemes and support for Adult Social 
Care. One element of the pro-active care program is the use of a risk stratification 
tool in general practices; use of the tool and resultant Multi-Disciplinary Teams has been 
evaluated within a cohort of practices and has been shown to reduce non-elective 
admissions. This approach is therefore being rolled out to be used in all practices by the 
end of May 2015.  
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The area of falls is being targeted again in 2015/16 with a planned 2% reduction in non-
elective admissions due to falls. This is also a BCF measure. Data is under analysis to 
further understand where the problem areas are and to target frequent attender and 
admitter care homes and individuals.  

 
A further new initiative is having a social care presence in the A&E department to 
facilitate non-admission and to expedite discharge also. Early indications from February 
and March 2015 show the weekly target of avoiding 5 admissions for patients aged over 
65 is being met.  
 

1.2.5 The Resources, Principal Risks and Uncertainties and   Relationships that may 
affect the Clinical Commissioning Group’s Long-term Performance  
 

The strategic report has already gone some way to explain the key financial and 
performance challenges facing the organisation at this point in time and as we move into 
15/16 and beyond.  As in the current year, the CCG must recognise the potential risk that 
the CCG will be unable to achieve the financial requirements and duties set by NHSE. 
The principle reasons why this might occur include:  

• Activity growth for services subject to cost and volume payment systems e.g. 
Payment by Results Hospital Activity and Continuing Healthcare Placements. 

• Further unexpected cost pressures or allocation reductions by NHSE. 
• The delay or failure of QIPP schemes to deliver the planned savings. 
• Delivery of Delegated Commissioning due to possible financial and capacity 

constraints. 
 

The CCG will need to ensure that the risks are managed and if necessary mitigated or 
controlled. The tools at the CCG’s disposal can be split into three types:- 

• Financial Systems. 
• Governance arrangements. 
• Relationships and risk sharing 
 
The first control mechanism is about having sound financial systems and procedures in 
place. This includes having a robust ledger and budgetary control system so that the 
CCG can be informed and take action quickly to address financial pressures. Expertise in 
forecasting and budget-setting are key skills which the CCG has acquired through its 
shared finance team arrangements, of which a recent audit gave  “high assurance” to the 
budgetary control systems currently in place, whilst the key financial system audit within 
the shared finance team hosted by NHS Knowsley CCG received significant assurance. 

The other aspect of the financial system which may reduce risk is to plan not to spend 
100% of the CCG allocation but keep some back to use as a contingency reserve to deal 
with in-year cost pressures. The 2015/16 budget and commissioning plan has been set to 
achieve the 1% surplus required by the NHSE, and has set aside a 0.5% contingency and 
includes the requirement to use 1% of the allocation  non-recurrently on one off projects. 
The creation of such reserves is a major element in the mitigation of financial risk for the 
CCG. 

The second control mechanism is the internal governance arrangements within the CCG 
– which are intended to ensure that decisions are properly considered and approved and 
that all members of the CCG can be assured that risks are being managed. The details of 
the CCG’s Governance structures are set out in the Governance Statement section. The 
CCG will continue to have these arrangements in place for 2015/16 with the continued 
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oversight of the Quality Innovation Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) Group in relation to 
delivery of the CCG QIPP Plan. Internal communication between the commissioning and 
financial planning teams is also key – as it is critical that all anticipated developments and 
cost commitments are reflected within the financial plans. 

The last control mitigation is to try and share financial risk with other organisations. This 
arrangement seeks to reduce the risk of a disproportionate number of such cases falling 
on a single CCG in any one financial year through random chance. A similar arrangement 
is the creation of a pooled budget between the CCG and the Borough Council for adult 
continuing health and social care cases. Each agrees to jointly share the risk of the costs 
of such cases increasing rather than trying to pass the cost on to the other party.  

Performance assurance regarding the four hour A&E waiting time standard and MRSA is 
overseen by NHS England and the CCG is actively managing and working with providers 
to improve performance both through its risk management process and quality & contract 
meetings on a local and mid-Mersey footprint.   Strategic and operational risks are 
managed in line with the CCG’s risk management strategy through the Governing Body 
Assurance Framework process and centrally monthly review by the Executive Risk & 
Assurance Committee.  Each sub-Committee of the CCG actively oversees the 
management of risks specific to the objectives of that committee and this feeds into the 
corporate risk register.  All significant risks are reported to the Governing Body for 
Assurance.  The CCG Governance Statement provides detailed information regarding the 
CCG’s risk profile and risk management framework. 
 

 
1.2.6 Equality & Human Rights as an Employer 

The Clinical Commissioning Group is committed to equality of opportunity for all  
employees and is committed to employment practices, policies and procedures which 
ensure that no employee, or potential employee, receives less favourable treatment on 
the grounds of gender, race, colour, ethnic or national origin, sexual orientation, marital 
status, religion or belief, age, trade union membership, disability, offending background, 
domestic circumstances, social and employment status, HIV status, gender 
reassignment, political affiliation or any other personal characteristic as outlined in the 
Equality Act (2010) and any other status covered by the Human Rights Act (1998).  
Diversity will be viewed positively and, in recognising that everyone is different, the 
unique contribution that each individual’s experience, knowledge and skills can make is 
valued equally.  

The promotion of equality and diversity is actively pursued through policies and ensure 
that employees receive fair, equitable and consistent treatment and ensure that 
employees, and potential employees, are not subject to direct or indirect discrimination. 

It is a condition of employment that all employees respect and act in accordance with 
the Equality and Diversity Policy. Failure to do so will result in the disciplinary procedure 
being instigated, which could result in dismissal. 

The CCG has an Equality and Diversity Policy which was approved by the Staff 
Partnership Forum December 2013 and sets out that the CCG will promote, through the 
provision of training and guidance, the impartial application of all employment policies 
and procedures, and will take action to deal with all inappropriate behaviour. Training in 
relation to equality and diversity is provided to all our staff and appropriate additional 
training events will be provided for all employees involved in selection for recruitment or 
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training. The responsibilities of the employer and employee for equality and diversity will 
be positively incorporated into employee training at all levels from induction courses to 
Statutory and Mandatory Training and Senior Management workshops. 

Equality Impact Analysis and Quality Impact Analysis is undertaken to ensure the CCG 
meets its equality duty in relation its commissioned services and planning approach in 
meeting our constitutional requirements. 

The CCG is required to provide breakdown showing at the end of the financial year, staff 
of each sex who are directors of the company, senior managers who are employees and 
all CCG Staff.  This is outlined in appendix C to this report:  

1.2.7 Sustainability Report  
 
Sustainability has become increasingly important as the impact of people’s lifestyles and 
business choices are changing the world in which we live.   The Climate Change Act 2008 
sets a legally binding framework to reduce carbon emissions, mitigate and adapt to climate 
change.  The latest carbon reduction targets became law in June 2011 and require the 
reduction of carbon emissions by 34% by 2020 from a 1990 baseline, 50% by 2025 and 80% 
by 2050.  The NHS Sustainable Development Unit (SDU) has estimated that as at 2004, the 
NHS in England was responsible for 25% of England’s public sector emissions and 2.6% of 
total UK emissions.  As such, the NHS has a significant role to play in carbon reduction, and 
to this end, the NHS has made a Carbon Reduction Commitment which sets a shorter term 
target of 10% by 2015 from a 2007 baseline.  In order to fulfil our responsibilities for the role 
we play, St Helens CCG has proposed the following sustainability mission statement for 
inclusion within our sustainable development management plan (SDMP) for approval by the 
CCG Governing Body in 15/16: 

 
“NHS St Helens CCG recognises the imperative of driving the sustainability vision through 
greater resource efficiency, reducing emissions and environmental impact, and delivering 
positive impact on the local health economy by improving productivity’. 
 
Policies 
 
In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important to explain where in our 
process and procedures sustainability features. 
 
Area Is sustainability considered? 
Travel Yes 
Procurement (environmental) Yes 
Procurement (social Impact) Yes 
Suppliers Impact Yes 
 
As an organisation that acknowledges its responsibility towards creating a sustainable 
future, we will help achieve that goal by running awareness campaigns that promote the 
benefits of sustainability to our staff. 
 
Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the 
healthcare estates, but also to patient health. Examples of recent years include the effects of 
heat waves, extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods, droughts etc. Our 
board approved plans address the potential need to adapt the delivery the organisation's 
activities and infrastructure to climate change and adverse weather events. The organisation 
has identified the need for the development of a board approved plan for future climate 
change risks affecting our area. 
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Sustainability Performance 
 

As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute 
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public 
health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction 
from a 2013 baseline by 2020.  
 
St Helens CCG does not own any properties and its lease and associated costs for energy, 
water and waste usage is managed by St Helens Chamber as our Landlord.  It has not 
possible to gain all of the information in relation to our energy spend for 14/15 and the CCG 
will continue to work with St Helens Chamber to gain further understanding of our energy 
use during 2015/16.  Upon receipt of the necessary data, a more comprehensive 
performance report detailing usage of these resources and the resulting carbon emissions 
profile will be produced and ensure more effective measurement of our contribution towards 
the target.  The energy graph/table below shows an overall reduction in our energy usage 
since becoming a statutory organisation on 1st April 2013 (based upon available information), 
in terms of how we have done to date: 
 
Energy

2013/14 2014/15

Use (kWh) 115118 91615
tCO2e 24.421133 19.221102

Use (kWh) 0 0
tCO2e 0 0

Use (kWh) 0 0
tCO2e 0 0

Use (kWh) 33502 33940
tCO2e 18.758105 21.02006

43.179237 40.241162

5,171.83£   5,638.37£   

Electricity

Total Energy CO2e

Total Energy Spend

Coal

NHS St Helens  CCG has  spent £5638.37 on energy in 2013/14, which i s  a  9% increase on energy spend from last year.
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Finite resource use - Water

2011/12 2013/14

m3 0 0
tCO2e 0 0

907£         924£         

Water

Mains

Water & Sewage Spend  
 

Carbon Footprint 

The majority of the environmental and social impacts are through the services we 
commission.  The NHS Carbon Reduction Strategy for England provides a framework which 
addresses sustainability both in how St Helens CCG operates as an organisation in its own 
right, and in terms of how it contracts for services from providers of healthcare. The plan 
aims to: 
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• Drive down direct C02 emissions and energy usage whilst also reducing revenue       
expenditure. 

• Influence commissioned services to reduce their carbon footprint in support of the       
target reduction 

• Ensure that all new buildings and other initiatives are developed with reference to the 
plan, such as the local estates review. 

 
In line with the NHS Carbon Reduction Plan our local plans will focus on the same areas. A 
summary of some of the key areas that will feature within our Carbon Reduction Plan are 
detailed below: 
 
 
• Waste 
The CCG is committed to the waste segregation process in line with legislation; we do not 
currently have figures in relation to our waste recycling percentage from St Helens Chamber.  
Our Landlords will continue to review and monitor our waste and work with all tenants in an 
effort to increase this percentage. 
 
• Recycling 
Used stationery is recycled wherever possible. Used printer cartridges, drum kits and 
associated accessories are collected by a Toner Recycling Service. Confidential waste is 
collected by an external company on a monthly basis and shredded. All shredded material is 
100% recycled. 
 
• Printing 
All PCs are defaulted to double sided printing and we encourage our staff to only print 
documents when necessary. 
 
• Commissioning and contracting  
As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract 
mechanisms to deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS policy 
framework already sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a 
sustainable manner. Crucially for us as a CCG, evidence of this commitment will need to be 
provided in part through contracting mechanisms. 
 
• Furniture 
Furniture was procured through the Office Team who are committed to reduce their 
environmental impact and have implemented a variety of initiatives including recycling old 
unwanted furniture. 
 
• Cycle to Work Scheme 
In line with the Governments Green Travel plan, we have introduced a cycle to work 
scheme, to encourage employees to cycle to work in an effort to help reduce congestion and 
environmental pollution. 
 
• Future Strategy 
The CCG will continually improve the environmental impact of our activities by working with 
our staff, support departments and third parties. The CCG is developing a corporate 
Sustainability Development Management plan to be approved by the Governing Body during 
2015/16. 
21 
• Energy and carbon management:  
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St Helens CCG seeks to reduce its own energy and carbon footprint. Capital developments 
will be considered on a whole life cost basis and considered as part of the current Estates 
review. 

 
1.2.8 Conclusion 

The CCG has evolved significantly in its second year, as a membership organisation and in 
strengthening its partnership working with the local authority and in management of its 
contracts with providers.  All areas of development have been most rewarding to play a part 
in and have been crucial to the success of the CCG in meeting its statutory duties.  
Achieving our financial responsibilities and improving the care received by our population 
with our membership and partners gives all of the CCG a great sense of pride.  

Our practice membership has collectively shown that they can adapt to meet 21st century 
healthcare challenges and will continue to develop to be a sustainable high quality primary 
care system of practices and we will continue to work together to shape our primary care 
strategy for the future and begin to build our next stages of development including our 
evolving ‘St Helens Care’ vision. 

During times of great financial austerity within the health and social care system, we have 
endeavoured to keep patients, their care, dignity, quality and safety at the centre. 

We face many challenges this year, as detailed earlier, and are well equipped to endeavour 
to meet them, with strong leadership and a dynamic dedicated team. 

 
 
 
Dr Stephen Cox 
Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead (Accountable Officer) 
 
Date: 
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Appendix A to Strategic Report; Integrated Strategic Commissioning Plan 2014-16 

Changes within St Helens by 2019

6 Characteristics of high quality health & 
social care systems

Citizen inclusion and empowerment

Wider primary care, provided at scale

A modern model of integrated care

Access to the highest quality urgent and 
emergency care

A step-change in the productivity of elective 
care

Specialised services concentrated in centres 
of excellence

2014/2015

Patient Participation Group (PPG) in all member practices. 
Early mobilisation of HealthWatch
Services commissioned for one population. 
PPG Health Forum, CCG Patient Advocate, Youth Forum
Implementation of the Equality & Diversity  System

37 individual general practice contracts requiring commissioner support 
for development. No workforce planning or succession assumptions. 
Wide variation in quality of services and accessibility.
Direct commissioning is fragmented with unclear strategies  2014/15.

Integrated Health & Social care Commissioning team. Fully approved 
overarching Section 75 with a pooled budget of £30m+ for CHC/FNC
Better Care Fund  assumptions developed and mobilised .

Nurse led Walk –in-Centre based in a private building in the town centre 
with limited paediatric capability and diagnostics.
Difficult to access  routine primary care services  OOH . St Helens & 
Knowsley Hospitals Trust A&E department that consistently see’s global 
growth in Non Elective (NEL) care year on year. Higher than average 
admission and re-admission rates.
Functioning Urgent Care Collaborative – (Consultation Group) non 
decision making both locally and on a wider Merseyside footprint

Higher than planned elective care episodes with growing backlog of 
patients on Referral To Treatment (RTT)  pathways. 
GP Tutor engaged to support primary care referral education sessions. 
Wide variety of choice open to our population with key risks of over 
performance within the private sector. Planned Clinical Hubs based 
around localities with consultant led community referral clinics and 
electronic/telephone advise for GPs

Inequity in access to specialised services exists despite there being a high 
number of Trusts within the Merseyside region. Services are fragmented 
with unclear intentions and strategies for 2014.15 . 

2018/2019

Borough based listening events. Highly proactive and flexible 
HealthWatch informing commissioning. Services commissioned to meet 
the needs of a locality model. 
Developed ‘App’ technology to support self-care and choice.
Information sharing across organisations and sectors for the benefit of 
improved patient outcomes.

Individual practices running on a locality basis with a collaborative 
approach to extended access, back office functions and specialist clinics 
based within a locality clinical hub – fully supported by specialist 
consultants from the Hospital.
High achieving practices in terms of the CCG commissioned GP Quality 
Contract and holistic approach to managing core contracts with the CCG 
acting as a co-commissioner of primary care services

Fully integrated health and social care services with borough based 
commissioning. High quality care for all. Fully developed links to 
education and shared Children’s services. A single integrated access point 
for all. A specialist Frailty Unit based in within a site to be determined by 
the Estates Strategy supporting our over 75s along with a Primary and 
secondary care shared ‘Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment’

The full mobilisation of the St Helens Integrated Access Point (IAP) that 
will see first line access to ‘step up and step down community beds. 
Increased capacity of therapy and social services based around the 
locality model of working.
A fully operational Urgent Care centre within St Helens Hospital that will 
see all minor illness and injury within first class estates with supporting 
suite of diagnostics. A fully operational executive level Urgent Care & 
Resilience Board with delegated decision making across the health 
economy to aid system sustainability.

The CCG fully supports the reconfiguration agenda across Cheshire and 
Merseyside. We will see the formation of 2 ‘Super DGH’ with 
concentrated elective care in excellent facilities.
It is also anticipated that the CCG will co-commission concentrated 
specialised services within Merseyside in a stand alone trust 
configuration model. St Helens CCG would also wish to explore the 
vertical integration of community and secondary care services. 

The reconfiguration of a single specialist  centre of excellence for 
Merseyside with ‘spoke’ clinics delivered at an appropriate level 
according to population need.
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Making a Difference - Commissioning the right care, at the right place, at the right time for the population we serve 
Our vision for improvement and greater integration is underpinned by an energy, determination and commitment. It is based around listening to our population and delivering the right care 

and support, at the right time and in the right place for the people, patients and carers of St Helens with health and social care needs 
 

Securing additional years of life for the population 
of St Helens with treatable conditions. To 
achieve this, the CCG has set a target to 
reduce PYLL by 3.2% per year  
 
Improving health related quality of life of people 
in St Helens with one or more Long Term 
Condition. Plan is to raise the EQ-5D score 
from 66% to 71% over 5 years  
 
Reducing avoidable admissions to hospital 
through better and more integrated care in the 
community. Our 5 year target is to reduce 
avoidable admissions by 3% per  
 
Increasing the proportion of older people living 
independently at home following discharge. The 
Better Care Fund will drive the targets within this 
area of improvement  
 

Increasing the number of people having a 
positive experience of care outside hospital, in 
general practice and in the community. Plan to 
maintain current good performance.  
 

Increasing the number of St Helens people 
having a positive experience of hospital care. 
Plan to reduce negative responses by 12% 
over 5 years to a local average level  
 

Making significant progress towards eliminating 
avoidable deaths caused by problems in care. A 
10% improvement in reporting of Medication 
errors is planned  
 

Delivery through the following collaborative programmes 
Urgent Care 
Reduction in admissions and attendances will be achieved through a number of projects all aimed at 
reducing avoidable admissions and A&E attendances. Projects include community divert scheme, the 
re-specifying of our AVS service, a minor illness/injury review and embedding learning from the 
Ambulatory Emergency Care project. In addition to this our GP Quality Contract has 2 domains that 
directly impact on Urgent Care activity.  
Out of Hospital Care 
Phase 1 will focus on frail, elderly and palliative care through embedding learning from our Eldercare 
service and Care Homes project. Other Key developments: transformation of a single assessment 
approach across health and social care and the development of a community clinical hub to move 
services closer to home. A system wide approach to a common geriatric assessment has also been 
agreed as well as the re-commissioning of Hospital @ Home for our children’s services. 
Mental Health 
Increased diagnosis and access to services will be achieved through a number of projects relating to 
dementia (whole population approach to dementia screening) Child & Adolescent Mental Health 
Services (CAMHS) and adult psychological therapies.  
Children’s Services 
Improved access for all including Education, Social and Parents/Carers. A review of Children's 
Services will inform the production of a St Helens Children's Strategy. A review of Speech & language 
therapy, autism pathway, community nursing and the antenatal pathway will inform future service 
design and procurement route in order to reduce waiting times from referral to treatment, improve 
access and achieve improved health & educational outcomes and maximise the opportunities during 
the antenatal period to improve health outcomes for mother and baby.  
Collaborative Working 
Initially key developments include a new Section 75 agreement to pool funds for care packages e.g. 
continuing health care and joint nursing funded care. Introduction of a new falls service and 
procurement of new early supported discharge service for stroke survivors and Implementation of the 
cancer strategy. The BCF is a key driver and will be used to ensure integration of IT systems across 
health and social care. This as well as building on existing collaborative commissioning approaches 
with our partners such as other CCGs and NHSE. 
Voluntary Sector 
Review existing voluntary sector contracts to ensure quality; and to develop and maintain provision 
which ensures that people have access to the services and support that they need, when they need it, 
and have a positive experience of the care being delivered. Inclusive contracts, improved access, 
avoidance of duplication, increased productivity and sustainability. For example No Secrets – a 
support for adults with MH issues who self-harm Chrysalis Centre for Change – Supporting women 
with MH issues, domestic abuse and empowering change through learning & development  
 

Governance Arrangements 
 
• Decision making committees held to account 

by the public Governing Body and the Health 
& Wellbeing Board  

• Measured bold actions and decisions 
supported through robust Risk Management 

• A Section 75 agreement has been produced 
as well as a Partnership Board with oversight 
of the 5 year integrated plan. 

• A Partnership Board will report directly to the 
GB and the Cabinet of the LA  

 

Success Measured by 
• Delivery of a minimum 1% financial surplus annually 

across the planning period to 18/1 9 
• To continue to harvest everyday experience and 

triangulate information to give an enhanced patient 
experience – reduction in negative experience by 12% 
over 5 yr  

• To reduce A&E admissions by 1% •IAPT – increase 
access to 15%  

• Reduction in Falls by 7.5%  
• To remain within our running cost allowance  
• Delivery of the challenges of ‘a call to action’ 
• Achievement of identified program targets within our 7 

domains  
• Quality – impact assessments  

Appendix B; CCG Plan on a Page 
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Appendix C; CCG Employees as at 31st March 2015, including Directors (Governing Body Members CCG/independent), 
Senior Managers and CCG Staff of each sex  

CCG Governing Body 
Full Name Position Title 
Appleton, Mr Geoffrey Chair 
Cox, Dr Stephen Clinical Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) 
Banat, Dr Joseph GP Governing Body Member 
Ejuoneatse, Dr Michael GP Governing Body Member 
Flett, Mrs Hilary GP Governing Body Member 
Foy, Mr. Anthony Governing Body Lay Member  
Jones, Mrs Rachel Governing Body Lay Member 

O’Brien, Mrs Sarah Chief Nurse 
*Brickwood, Mr Paul Chief Finance Officer 
Rose, Dr Adrian Paul GP Governing Body Member 
Shaikh, Dr Omar GP Governing Body Member 
Whittaker, Dr Julie GP Governing Body Member 
Mike Wyatt, Mr Director of Adult Health and Social Care, Governing Body Member, St Helens Council 
Liz Gaulton, Ms Director of Public Health, Governing  Body Member, St Helens Council  
Mrs Elaine Inglesby Independent Executive Nurse, Governing Body Member  
Dr Debra King  Secondary Care Consultant, Governing Body Member  
Grand Total Male/Female  M=9, F = 7 
• CFO employed by Knowsley CCG and provides CFO function under shared arrangements with St Helens, Halton & Knowsley. 

Senior Management Team 
Full Name Position Title 
Abbott, Mrs. Julie Deputy Chief Finance Officer 
Campbell, Mr. Ian Associate Director; Contracting 
Geoghegan, Mrs. Margaret Assistant Director; Medicines Management 
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Johnson, Mrs. Sarah Director of Operations/Deputy CEO 
Lees, Mrs. Caroline Associate Director; Corporate Governance 
Mellor, Mrs. Jayne Associate Director; Strategy & Adults Integrated Commissioning 
Grand Total Male/Female Male = 1, F = 5 

 

Full Name Position Title 
Ackers, Mrs. Kerry Project Support Officer 
Appleton, Mrs. Sarah Pharmacy Technician 
Ashcroft, Mrs. Renee Pharmacist 
Brook, Mrs. Alison Engagement Involvement Manager 
Burke, Miss Julie Personal Assistant 
Cartwright, Mrs. Nicola Senior Pharmacist 
Coburn, Mrs Jane Personal Assistant 
Cosford, Mr. Nigel Senior Pharmacist 
Cunningham, Mr. Edward Patient Advocacy Officer 
Curran, Miss Ann-Marie Commissioning Manager - Children's & Maternity Services 
Dewsbury, Laura Pharmacist 
Donlon, Mr. Kieron Prescribing Advisor 
Duckers, Stephen Information Analyst 
Edge, Mrs Cathy Personal Assistant 
Fogarty, Mrs. Carolyn Pharmacist 
Giles, Mrs. Andrea Pharmacist 
Guest, Ms. Paula Quality Improvement & Patient Experience Manager 
Hirst, Dr Robert GP Tutor 
Hopkins, Mrs. Barbara Governance & Corporate Services Manager 
Humphrey, Mrs. Susan Project Support Officer 
Hunter, Dr Ruth Partnership Commissioning Manager 
Hunter, Mr. Simon Pharmacist 
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Ingham, Mrs. Kerry Senior Performance Manager 
Jones, Mr. Gareth Project Support Officer 
Joyce, Mr. Gary Commissioning Programme Manager  
Keenan, Mrs. Jean Primary Care Information Manager 
Knowles, Mr. David Finance Analyst 
Lawrenson, Mrs Sarah Personal Assistant 
LeCouteur, Mrs. Heather Business Manager 
Leverett, Mrs Karen Primary Care Management Lead 
Malloy, Mr. Matthew Contracts/Performance Admin Assistant 
Martin, Mrs. Kerry Pharmacy Technician 
McCarthy, Mrs. Susan Secretary to Head of Primary Care 
McIntyre Joan Integrated Commissioning Manager 
McCullagh, Mrs. Roisin Pharmacist 
McGrath, Mrs Pauline Commissioning Support Manager 
Mellan, Miss Dawn PA to Deputy Chief Finance Officer 
Miller, Mrs. Jennifer Pharmacist 
Ody, Carolyn Pharmacy  Technician 
Richmond, Miss Karyn Pharmacy Technician 
Saunders, Miss Jessica Administration Officer 
Sephton, Miss Joanne Project Support Officer 
Taylor, Mr. Jason Strategic Analyst 
Tickle, Mrs. Gillian Personal Assistant 
Vickers, Mrs. Lynn Pharmacy Technician 
Wall, Mrs. Michele Pharmacy Technician 
Ward, Mrs. Jacqueline Quality Facilitator 
White, Mrs. Julia Pharmacy Technician 
Grand Total Male/Female  M = 11, F = 37 
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1.3  MEMBERS REPORT  
 
At 31st March 2015, St Helens CCG is made up of 36 GP practices within the borough: 
 

Practice Name Address 

Bethany Medical Centre 151 Grafton St, St Helens 

Bowery Medical Centre Elephant Lane, Thatto Heath, St Helens 

Bridge Street Surgery 48 Bridge St, Newton-Le-Willows,St Helens 

Central Surgery Lowe House, Health Care Resource Centre, 
Crab St, St Helens 

Cornerstone Surgery Fingerpost Park Health Centre, Atlas St, St 
Helens 

Crossroads Surgery 449 Warrington Road, Rainhill, St Helens 

Dr Rahil's Surgery 21a Old Whint Road, Haydock 

Eccleston Medical Centre 
Christ Church Grounds, Chapel Lane, 
Eccleston, St Helens 

Eldercare St Helens Hospital, St Helens 

Ferguson Family Medical Practice 140 Berrys Lane, Parr, St Helens 

Four Acre Surgery Burnage Ave, Clock Face, St Helens 

Garswood Surgery Billinge Road, Garswood, St Helens 

Hall Street Medical Centre 28-30 Hall Street, St Helens 

Haydock Medical Centre  Dr Breach, Station Road, Haydock, St Helens 

Holly Bank Surgery Fingerpost Park Health Centre, Atlas Street 
St Helens 

Kenneth MacRae Medical Centre 32 Church Road, Rainford, St Helens 

Lancaster House Medical Centre 24-28 North Road, St Helens 

Lime Grove Surgery Station Road, Haydock, St Helens 

Lingholme Health Centre Atherton Street, St Helens 

Longton Medical Centre 451 Warrington Road, Rainhill, St Helens 

Market Street – Dr James 102 Market Street, Newton-Le-Willows 

Mill Street Medical Centre Mill Street, St Helens 

Newholme Surgery Lowe House Health Care Resource Centre, 
Crab Street, St Helens 
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Newton Community Hospital Practice Newton Community Hospital, Bradlegh Road, 
Newton-Le-Willows, St Helens 

Ormskirk Street Surgery Lowe House Health Care Resource Centre, 
Crab Street, St Helens 

Park House Surgery Fingerpost Park Health Centre, Atlas Street, 
St Helens 

Parkfield Surgery Lowe House Health Care Resource Centre, 
Crab Street, St Helens 

Patterdale Lodge Medical Centre Legh Street, Newton-Le-Willows, St Helens 

Phoenix Medical Centre 28 Duke Street, St Helens 

Rainbow Medical Centre 333 Robins Lane, Sutton, St Helens 

Rainford Health Centre 17 Higher Lane, Rainford, St Helens 

Rainhill Village Surgery 529 Warrington Road, Rainhill, St Helens 

Recreation Drive Surgery Recreation Drive, Billinge  Near Wigan 

Sandfield Medical Centre 81 Liverpool Road, St Helens 

Sherdley Medical Centre 2nd Floor, St Helens Hospital, St Helens 

Spinney Medical Centre 23 Whittle Street, Toll Bar, St Helens 

 
The Clinical Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) is Dr Stephen Cox, the CCG (Lay) Chair 
is Mr Geoffrey Appleton. 
 
The GP membership forms the Members Council (GP Forum) and meets bi-monthly to 
review CCG business matters in line with the constitution and scheme of reservation and 
delegation.  The membership is made up a lead GP representative from each practice.   
 
CCGs are dependent on the unique role of general practice in connecting and acting as the 
intermediary for all the care patients receive. General practice connects patients with 
specialists; it connects clinical professionals who care for the same patients with one 
another; and it connects patients, carers and their families with the broad range of support 
they need from both within the NHS and social care. Most importantly, as trusted local 
community leaders, general practitioners have the ability to give a voice to the population of 
patients and communities they serve. 
 
The Governing Body meets bi-monthly and the composition during 2014/15 is detailed 
below: 
 
1.3.1 Governing Body Membership 2014 

Bill Guest Chair (terminated tenure 30th September 2014) 
Mr Geoffrey Appleton Chair (commenced 1st October 2014) 

Mr Tony Foy Lay Member - Audit, Governance & Finance, St 
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Helens CCG 

Dr Stephen Cox Clinical Chief Execute/Clinical Lead, St Helens 
CCG 

Mr Paul Brickwood Chief Finance Officer, St Helens CCG 

Dr Shikha Pitalia GP – St Helens CCG Board Member 
(terminated tenure 31st August 2014) 

Dr Omar Shaikh GP – Deputy Chair 

Dr Julie Whittaker GP – St Helens CCG Board Member 

Dr Michael Ejuoneatse GP – St Helens CCG Board Member 

Dr Joe Banat GP - St Helens CCG Board Member 

Dr Paul Rose GP – St Helens CCG Board Member  

Dr Hilary Flett GP – St Helens CCG Board Member 
(commenced 1st September 2014) 

Dr Debra King Secondary Care Consultant, St Helens CCG 

Elaine Inglesby Executive Nurse  

Liz Gaulton Director of Public Health, St Helens LA 

Lynda Carey Lead Nurse, Head of Quality Standards & 
Patient Safety, St Helens CCG (terminated 
tenure 30th June 2014) 

Sarah O’Brien Chief Nurse/Quality Lead (commenced 7th 
November 2014) 

Rachel Jones Lay member PPI – St Helens CCG 
(commenced 20th October 2014) 

Mark Arnold Lay member PPI – St Helens CCG (terminated 
tenure 30th June 2014) 

    Mike Wyatt Director of Adult Health & Social Care, St 
Helens MBC 

Governing Body Membership 2015 

Geoffrey Appleton Chair, St Helens CCG 
Mr Tony Foy Lay Member - Audit, Governance & Finance 

Dr Stephen Cox Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead, St 
Helens CCG 
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Mr Paul Brickwood Chief Finance Officer, St Helens CCG 

Dr Hilary Flett GP – St Helens CCG Board Member 

Dr Omar Shaikh GP – Deputy Chair 

Dr Joe Banat GP - St Helens CCG Board Member 

Dr Paul Rose GP – St Helens CCG Board Member  

Dr Debra King Secondary Care Consultant, St Helens CCG 

Elaine Inglesby Executive Nurse  

Liz Gaulton Director of Public Health, St Helens LA 

Sarah O’Brien Chief Nurse 

Dr Julie Whittaker GP – St Helens CCG Board Member 

Dr Michael Ejuoneatse GP – St Helens CCG Board Member 

Rachel Jones Lay member PPI – St Helens CCG 

Mike Wyatt Director of Adult Health & Social Care, St 
Helens MBC 

 
The names of the individuals forming the Audit Committee throughout the year and up to the 
signing of the Annual Report & Accounts are detailed below; 

  
Mr Tony Foy, Lay Member Audit & Governance, Chair, Governing Body member 

Rachel Jones, Lay Member, Patient & Public Involvement Governing Body 
Representative 

Dr Joseph Banat, GP, Governing Body Member 

Dr Michael Ejuoneatse, GP, Governing Body Member 

Dr Omar Shaikh, GP, Governing Body Member, Deputy Chair, St Helens CCG 

Jill Newton, Practice Business Manager 

Others in attendance: 

Paul Brickwood, Chief Finance Officer 

Julie Abbott, Deputy Chief Finance Officer 

Lisa Roberts, Principal Accountant 

Caroline Lees, Associate Director; Corporate Governance 
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Louise Cobain (MIAA - Internal Audit) 

Steve Connor (MIAA – Internal Audit) 

Liz Temple-Murray (Grant Thornton – External Audit) 

Mike Thomas (Grant Thornton – External Audit) 

Mark Heap (Grant Thornton – External Audit) 

Roger Causer (MIAA – Counter Fraud Service) 

Virginia Martin (MIAA – Counter Fraud Service). 

The CCG Governance Statement provides details of the members of the remaining CCG 
committees and sub-committees and details on all committees and sub-committees;  

The Membership Body & Governing Body Profiles section of the Remuneration Report 
provides the details of conflicts of interest or members.  

 
1.3.2 Pension Liabilities  
 
Accounting treatment for pension costs and liabilities is outlined in note 4.5 of the Annual 
Accounts. 
 

1.3.3 Sickness Absence Data   

The below sickness absence data is taken from the Health & Social Care Information Centre 
statistics published and related to a 12 month period (January 14 – December14).   

Quarterly 
Sickness 
Absence 

Publications

 Monthly 
Workforce 
Publication 

Name
OCS 
code

Average of 
12 Months 

(2014 
Calendar 

Year)
Average 
FTE 2014

FTE-Days 
Available

FTE-Days 
Lost to 

Sickness 
Absence

Average 
Sick Days 

per FTE
NHS St Helens CCG 01X 2.1% 43                9,691          205 4.7

Statistics Produced by 
HSCIC from ESR Data 

Warehouse

Figures Converted by DH to Best 
Estimates of Required Data 

Items

Source: HSCIC - Sickness Absence and Workforce Publications - based on data from the ESR Data 
Warehouse.  Please refer to note 4.3 of the financial statements for further detail.   
  
   
1.3.4 Register of Interests;  

The CCG register of interests is in the public domain and can be accessed via the 
CCG website at www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk 

 

 

http://www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk/
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1.3.5 External Audit  
 

The CCGs External Auditors are Grant Thornton.  The external audit fee for 2014-15 
was £78K, including VAT.  Using an approach that takes account of the key 
challenges and opportunities facing the CCG and key risks the external auditor 
develops an audit plan that enables them to obtain reasonable assurance that the 
CCG financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement and 
prepared in accordance with the NHS manual for accounts. The external auditor also 
considers whether the CCG has put in place proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as the 
value for money conclusion. 

1.3.6 Disclosure of Serious untoward incidents (information governance). 
 

As part of the Statement of Internal Control (SIC), the CCG is required to report on 
any ‘Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation’.  SIRI’s scoring 3-5 have to be 
notified.  SIRI’s scoring 1-2 should be aggregated and included by category of the 
type of incident.  Any SIRI scored as level 0 do not need to be included.   
 
There have been no Information Governance related SIRIs caused by the CCG 
during 2014/15.  This has been reported through to the CCG Executive Risk and 
Assurance Committee on 24th March 2015 via the Senior Information Risk Officer 
Report. 

 
1.3.7 Cost allocation and setting charges for information  

 
‘We certify that the clinical commissioning group has complied with HM 
Treasury’s guidance on cost allocation and the setting of charges for information’. 

1.3.8 Principles for remedy  
 
CCGS must make arrangements for dealing with complaints in accordance with ‘The 
Local Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints (England) Regulations 2009 
(the regulations). 
 
When people have a complaint about an NHS service they can complain to the 
provider of that service or to the Commissioner of that service.   
 
Other resources that set out expectations of how complaints are to be handled 
include ‘Principles of Good Administration, Principles of Good Complaints Handling 
an Principles of Remedy’ (the Ombudsman’s Principles). 
 
The Cheshire & Merseyside Commissioning Support Unit are commissioned to 
operate the CCG complaints service working to agreed policies and procedures in 
line with the national guidance.  As Clinical Chief Executive, I review and sign off all 
complaints that are directly notified to the CCG. 

 
1.3.9 Employee Consultation  

St Helens CCG has a Managing Organisational Change Policy and Procedure which 
clearly sets out the consultation process for small changes, TUPE situations and also 
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the statutory legal obligations around consultation in redundancy situations this was 
previously agreed at Staff Partnership Forum. 

 
The Staff Partnership Forum was put in place to promote excellent partnership 
arrangements with external organisations and Trade Unions to ensure that the CCG 
openly discuss, challenge and agree initiatives that have a positive impact on both 
CCG staff and the organisation.  St Helens CCG and Staff Side organisations have a 
common objective of ensuring the efficient operation and success of the organisation 
for the benefit of all, through working in partnership to secure these aims and 
objectives. 
 
As an organisation, St Helens CCG believes that a positive and inclusive approach to 
employment relations is conducive to the achievement of individual, service and 
business objectives.  The CCG actively promotes an open and honest culture, 
encouraging its people to share their feedback and tell them how they feel about the 
issues they care about. 
 
It was therefore essential that we adopted a formal consultative process as part of St 
Helens CCG, which is in the form of our Partnership Forum. The function of the 
Partnership Forum provides the provision of a formal vehicle for the agreement of 
types, forms and content of information and general consultative communication 
exchanges between managers and staff. Our Partnership Agreement provides a 
clear framework within which employment relations will be conducted effectively 
within St Helens CCG. 
 
St Helens CCG strives to engage staff in decisions that affect them and the services 
they provide, both individually and through representatives. 
 

  Staff engagement covers partnership, involvement, and more, to encompass an 
organisation’s culture, including how staff feel about their job, the organisation and its 
values. Key measures of this are that staff participate in decision making, are 
informed about the priorities and direction of the organisation, and understand how 
individuals fit in. 

 
1.3.10 Equality  

 
The CCG have exacting duties to meet under the Equality Act 2010 in relation to 
workforce and organisational development. The CCG have therefore taken positive 
steps to ensure that policies across the CCG deal with equality implications around 
recruitment and selection, pay and benefits, flexible working hours, training and 
development, policies around managing employees and protecting employees from 
harassment, victimisation and discrimination.  The CCG HR and Remuneration 
Committee oversees compliance with our equality duties in this regard.  The CCG 
Quality Committee oversees equality impact of our commissioned services and review 
assessments undertaken in relation to commissioning work programmes. 



 51  
 

St Helens Clinical Commissioning Group approved an Equality Objective plan in line 
with their specific duties and requirements under the Equality Act 2010.  The Equality 
Objective plan lays out clear work streams that will support the organisation to meet 
and pay due regard across its key functions to meet their exacting Public Sector 
Equality Duty to:  

• Eliminated discrimination  
• Advance Equality of opportunity  
• Foster good community relations  

 

The CCG’s has made progress against their Equality Objective plan and is currently 
working towards the 2015 Equality Delivery System Self-Assessment. The CCG is 
currently self-assessed as ‘Developing but has clear plans and targets to progress and 
embed processes across the organisation over the next 2 years. This has included 
developing comprehensive Human Resources guidance pack for the CCG including 
information on making reasonable adjustments. 

The CCG’s Attendance Management policy supports disabled employees and states 
that in cases where the employee is disabled within the meaning of the Equality Act 
2010 or where employees become disabled and wish to remain in employment, every 
effort will be made to make reasonable adjustments or find an alternative post.  Please 
also refer to strategic report 1.2.6. 

1.3.11 Health & Safety  

NHS St Helens CCG is a low risk organisation with a positive health and safety 
culture. We have effective policies, procedures and a safety management system in 
place to ensure the continued health, safety, welfare and development of our staff. 

• Policy  
 

NHS St Helens CCG’s aim is to set and maintain sensible and proportionate 
standards of health and safety management to ensure the wellbeing of our staff and 
others who may be affected by our activities, and to minimise the losses (financial 
and reputational) to our organisation from ill health and injury.  The CCG operates a 
robust policy approved by the Executive Risk and Assurance Committee. 

• Organisation  
The Senior Management Team (SMT) leads on the overall direction of health and 
safety and continues to improve performance through monitoring progress. 
 
To assist the CCG in fulfilling their Health and Safety responsibilities they work 
collaboratively with: 

 
• North West Commissioning Support Unit (NWCSU) 
 
The CCG receive specialist Health and Safety Support from the NWCSU.  The 
Health and Safety Lead has assisted in the development of the Health and Safety 
Policy, and is available to staff via email and telephone, also attends on site at least 
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monthly for face to face liaison.  This service includes advice to staff around Display 
Screen Equipment (DSE) Assessments. 

 
Staff are asked to complete a DSE self-assessment form which is reviewed by the 
Health and Safety Lead who will undertake a site visit if necessary, this usually leads 
to equipment being identified or in certain circumstances staff are referred to Access 
to Work for a specialist assessment. 12 assessments have been undertaken for the 
CCG. 
 
• Landlord– St Helens Chambers/St Helens Metropolitan Borough Council 
 
The CCG’s head office is located within a private building, St Helens Chambers are 
responsible for the building, including maintaining and servicing the building.  
 
NHS St Helens CCG Medicine Management Team are based in the Gamble Building 
which is a council building. St Helens Metropolitan Borough Council are responsible 
for the building, including maintaining and servicing the building.  

 
• NHS Property Services 
NHS Property Services undertake an Annual Fire Risk Assessment and an Annual 
Health and Safety Audit/Inspection, of the CCG occupied areas of St Helens 
Chambers.  They produce a report and an action plan (as appropriate) which is 
shared with the landlord and the CCG to action. 

 
• Fire Risk Assessments 
 
NHS Property Services undertook a Fire Risk Assessment at St Helens Chambers 
on the 19 September 2014 and no operational issues were identified for the CCG to 
action. 
 
• Incidents 

NHS St Helens CCG have reported no Health, Safety, Fire or Security related 
incidents. 

• Breakdown for Non RIDDOR 

None Reported 

• Breakdown for RIDDOR 

None Reported 

• Compliance with Mandatory Training 

Course Name March 2015 April 2015 

Health & Safety Awareness 61.9% 73.0% 

 
• Security 
 
The Health and Safety Lead conducts a security audit annually and no areas of 
concern were identified.  NHS Protect issued Security Commissioning Standards in 
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February 2015, which came into effect from the 1st April 2015.  These have been 
shared with the CCG for comments.  The LSMS Security Work plan for 2015/16 will 
be developed around meeting these standards in conjunction with the CCG and the 
Contracting Team. 
 

• In 2015/16 we plan to:   
 

1. Review Health and Safety Policy 
2. Implement new NHS Protect Security Commissioning Standards 
3. Encourage staff to complete mandatory training 
4. Undertake annual security audit 

 
1.3.12 Fraud (information on policies and procedures relating to countering fraud and 

corruption). 
 
The CCG has established fraud and corruption policies with its prime financial policies as 
part of its constitution. This is supported by the detailed financial policies and procedures 
which set out how internal controls will function and thereby reduce the risk of internal fraud. 
In addition the CCG contracts with Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA) to provide a Local 
Counter Fraud Specialist. They produce and manage a counter fraud work-plan each year 
intended to raise awareness, prevent and undertake proactive fraud exercises. This is work 
is guided by the NHS Counter Fraud Handbook produced by NHS Protect. Overall the risk of 
fraud is relatively low for CCGs as they have few staff claiming unsocial hours premiums and 
do not collect cash payments from the public (so they are not subject to false claiming of free 
prescriptions for example The area most at risk in CCGs is potential over claims of 
healthcare activity by private healthcare providers. In response a proactive fraud review is 
proposed for 2015/16 to be carried out by MIAA. 

 
1.3.13 Better Payments Practice Code  

 
Please note 6.1 in the annual accounts. 
 

1.3.14 Prompt Payments Code  

The CCG signed up to the prompt payment code in February 2014. 

1.3.15 Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response  
 

Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG’s) are Category 2 responders under the Civil 
Contingencies Act 2004. This requires them to share information and co-operate with other 
agencies in terms of planning for emergencies.  

The Department of Health however has indicated an expectation that CCG’s also undertake 
the duties assigned to Category 1 responders; which requires production of Emergency 
Plans, Business Continuity Plans, Assessment of Risk and ensuring that there are 
arrangements for informing and warning the public. This will allow CCG’s to be part of the 
overall planning process within both the Local Resilience Forum and the Local Health 
Residence Partnership.  

Under the guidance issued by NHS England, CCG’s are required to have a system in place 
which will allow their commissioned services to contact them on a 24/7 basis.   This 24/7 
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access will additionally allow the NHS England Area Team to make contact in emergencies, 
allowing CCG’s to work with the Area Team in support of the wider NHS response to any 
incident. 

CCG’s are required to ensure they have a Business Continuity and Incident Response Plan 
in place which complies with the NHS Core Standards for Emergency Planning, Response 
and Resilience ( EPRR) and are also required to assure themselves that their commissioned 
services have plans in place to respond to and recover from emergencies. 

We certify that the clinical commissioning group has incident response plans in place, which 
are fully compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board Emergency Preparedness 
Framework 2013. The clinical commissioning group regularly reviews and makes 
improvements to its major incident plan and has a programme for regularly testing this plan, 
the results of which are reported to the Executive Risk and Assurance Committee & the 
Governing Body. 

1.3.16 Exit Packages and Severance Payments  

Please note 4.4 and 4.6 of the annual accounts. 

1.3.17 Off Payroll Engagements  
 
This is outlined in table 1.4.5 of the remuneration report. 

1.3.18 Statement as to disclosure to auditors  
 

Each member of the Audit Committee present at the time the Members’ Report was received 
confirms;  
 
So far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the 
clinical commissioning group’s external auditor is unaware; and, that the member has taken 
all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member in order to make them self -aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that the clinical commissioning group’s 
auditor is aware of that information.  
 
The Annual Report was approved in line with the CCG Constitution by the Audit Committee 
on 26th May 2015. 
 
Relevant audit information means information needed by the clinical commissioning group’s 
auditor in connection with preparing their report.  
 
 
 
 
Dr Stephen Cox 
Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead (Accountable Officer)  
 
Date: 
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1.4 REMUNERATION REPORT 
 

1.4.1 Remuneration Committee Membership and Attendance Records 

        
 

   
Meeting dates: 

    
 

Name Title 
Attended 
(y/n) 22.1.14 16.4.14 13.6.14 23.7.14 22.10.14 17.12.14 

 
 
18.2.15 

Mr William Guest Chair of Remuneration Committee (until 30.9.14)   Y y y y 
  

 

Mr Geoffrey Appleton Chair of Remuneration Committee (from 1.10.14)   
    

Apols y y 

Dr Stephen Cox Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead   Y Y Y Apols y y y 

Caroline Lees Associate Director; Corporate Governance    Y Y Y Y Y Y  

Dr Joseph Banat GP, Governing Body Member   Apols Y Y Y Y Y y 

Dr Michael Ejuoneatse GP, Governing Body Member   Y Apols Y Y Y Apols y 

Kay Worsley Cox OD Lead, Governing Body Development   Y Y 
 

Y Apols Y y 

Mr Tony Foy Lay Member   Y Y Y Apols Y Y y 

Gillian Roberts 
HR Business Manager, Cheshire & Merseyside CSU 
(CMCSU)   

 
Y 

 
Y Y Apols 

y 

Jenny Williams Head of HR, Cheshire & Merseyside CSU (CMCSU)   Apols 
 

Y 
   

 

Andrew Woods Equality & Diversity Manager, CMCSU    Y Apols 
 

 Y Apols  Y  

Alison Johnson OD Lead, CMCSU    Y  Y 
 

 Y  Y  Y y 
 
Policy on remuneration of senior managers: The Remuneration Committee determined the salaries and contract terms of the following senior positions: Clinical 
Accountable Officer, Chair, GP Governing Body Members, Lay Members and the Chief Financial Officers. The remuneration packages for these senior posts comprised base 
salary in the light of the requirements of the national Very Senior Managers policy and Hay Group recommendations.  Senior Managers are not subject to performance 
related pay.  The CCG made no payment to past senior managers or for loss of office. 

 
 
 
 



 56  
 

1.4.2 Salaries and Allowances (audited)  
Name Title Note Salary Expense Performance Long term All pension- Total Salary Expense Performance Long term All pension- Total

(bands of payments pay and performance related benefits (bands of payments pay and performance related benefits
£5,000) (rounded to bonuses pay and bonuses £5,000) (rounded to bonuses pay and bonuses

the nearest (bands of (bands of (bands of (bands of the nearest (bands of (bands of (bands of (bands of
£00) £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000) £00) £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000)

£'000 £'00 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'00 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
William Guest Chair 1 25-30 0 0 0 0 25-30 40-45 1 0 0 0 40-45
Geoffrey Appleton Chair 2 10-15 0 0 0 5-7.5 20-25 0 0 0 0 0 0
Dr Stephen Cox Clinical Chief Executive 150-155 0 0 0 10-12.5 160-165 150-155 0 0 0 352.5-355.0 505-510
Dr Joseph Banat GP Board Member 75-80 1 0 0 0 75-80 75-80 1 0 0 0 75-80
Dr Michael Ejuoneatse GP Board Member 75-80 0 0 0 0 75-80 75-80 0 0 0 0 75-80
Dr Julie Whittaker GP Board Member 75-80 0 0 0 0 75-80 75-80 0 0 0 0 75-80
Dr Shikha Pitalia GP Board Member 3 20-25 0 0 0 0 20-25 55-60 0 0 0 0 55-60
Dr Omar Shaikh GP Board Member 90-95 0 0 0 0 90-95 90-95 0 0 0 0 90-95
Dr Paul Rose GP Board Member 40-45 1 0 0 0 40-45 30-35 0 0 0 0 30-35
Dr Hilary Flett GP Board Member 4 15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20 0 0 0 0 0 0
Paul Brickwood Chief Finance Officer 5 45-50 18 0 0 0 45-50 45-50 21 0 0 72.5-75.0 120-125
Lynda Carey Lead Nurse, Quality & Safety 6 15-20 2 0 0 5-7.5 25-30 65-70 2 0 0 27.5-30.0 95-100
Sarah O'Brien Chief Nurse, Quality & Safety 7 30-35 0 0 0 17.5-20 45-50 0 0 0 0 0 0
Dr Debra King Secondary Care Consultant 8 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10
Elaine Inglesby Executive Nurse 9 20-25 0 0 0 0 20-25 15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20
Tony Foy Lay Member 25-30 0 0 0 0 25-30 15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20
Mark Arnold Lay Member 10 0-5 0 0 0 0 0-5 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10
Rachel Jones Lay Member 11 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 0 0 0 0 0 0

Expense payments are in respect of lease vehicles and mileage and are show in £ hundreds.

Notes:
1. William Guest was the Chair to 30th September 2014.
2. Geoffrey Appleton was the Chair from 1st October 2014.
3. Dr Shikha Pitalia was a member of the Governing Body to 31st August 2014.
4. Dr Hilary Flett was a member of the Governing Body from 1st September 2014.
5. Paul Brickwoods remuneration is split across NHS St Helens CCG, NHS Knowsley CCG and NHS Halton CCG.  The remuneration costs shown represent NHS St Helens CCG's share of the total remuneration paid 
by the three CCG's.  The total remuneration paid was within the band £115,000 to £120,000 and the allocation of cost to the CCG is based on the size of each CCG's constrained population at the time of the CCG's formation, as follows:

CCG Constrained Population %
St Helens 186,743 41
Knowsley 149,108 33
Halton 124,104 26

6. Lynda Carey was the Lead Nurse Quality & Safety to 30th June 2014.
7. Sarah O'Brien was the Chief Nurse Quality & Safety from 7th November 2014.
8. Dr Debra King is not on the CCG payroll and is therefore an off-payroll engagement (see table 1.4.5)
9. Elaine Inglesby is not on the CCG payroll and is therefore an off-payroll engagement (see table 1.4.5)
10. Mark Arnold was a Lay Member to 30th June 2014.
11. Rachel Jones was a Lay Member from 20th October 2014.

2014-15 2013-14
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1.4.3 Pension Benefits (audited) 
 
Name Title Real increase Real increase Total accrued Lump sum at Cash Cash Real increase Employer's

in pension in pension pension age age 60 Equivalent Equivalent in Cash contribution
at age 60 lump sum at 60 at 31 related to Transfer Transfer Equivalent to
(bands of aged 60 March 2015 accrued Value at 31 Value at 31 Transfer stakeholder

£2,500) (bands of (bands of pension at 31 March 2015 March 2014 Value pension
£2,500) £5,000) March 2015

(bands of 
£5,000)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Geoffrey Appleton (1) Chair 0-2.5 0 0-5 0 6 0 6 0
Steve Cox Clinical Chief Executive 0-2.5 2.5-5 15-20 55-60 341 299 34 0
Paul Brickwood Chief Finance Officer 0-2.5 0-2.5 50-55 155-160 1111 1051 32 0
Lynda Carey (2) Lead Nurse, Quality & Safety 0-2.5 0-2.5 15-20 55-60 355 329 16 0
Sarah O'Brien Chief Nurse, Quality & Safety 0-2.5 2.5-5 10-15 40-45 211 186 20 0

1. Geoffrey Appleton was a new member of staff during 2014-15, and is a member of the NHS Pension Scheme under the 2008 section and will not accrue any lump sum benefits.
2. Lynda Carey left the CCG on 30th June 2014.  All amounts shown are as at that date.

Certain members do not receive pensionable remuneration therefore there will be no entries in respect of pensions for certain members.
The pension entitlement above is the total pension entitlement for each Director, is not split across other organisations and may have been partly accrued in a non senior
manager capacity.

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time.
The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme.  A CETV is a payment made by a pension
scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the
benefits accrued in their former scheme.  The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their 
membership of the pension scheme.  This may be for more than just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies (in which case this fact will be noted at
 the foot of the table).  The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual 
has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.  They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of 
pension service in the scheme at their own costs.  CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real Increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by
the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and
end of the period.
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1.4.4 Pay Multiples (audited) 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest paid director in their organisation
and the median remuneration of the organisation's workforce.

The banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the Governing Body in NHS St Helens CCG in the financial year 2014-15 was
£150,000 - £155,000 (2013-14 £150,000 - £155,000).  This was 4.02 times (2013-14 3.76 times) the median remuneration of the workforce,
 which was £37,952.50 (2013-14 £40,558).

In 2014-15 no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid member of the Governing Body.
The median remuneration has reduced from £40,558 to £37,952.50 during 2014/15.  This is because there was an increase in staffing
numbers who were remunerated below the median.

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind.  It does not include severance payments,
employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
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1.4.5 Off-Payroll Engagements  
The following tables provide details of off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2015.

Off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2015 for more than 
£220 per day and that last longer than six months

Number

Number of existing engagements as at 31 March 2015 2
Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting 0
for between one and two years at the time of reporting 2
for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting 0
for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting 0
for 4 or more years at the time of reporting 0

New off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2014 and 31 
March 2015 for more than £220 per day and that last longer 
than six months

Number

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six 
months in duration, between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015

0

Number of new engagements which include contractual 
clauses giving the CCG the right to request assurance in 
relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations

0

Number for whom assurance has been requested 0
Of which:
assurance has been received 0
assurance has not been received 0
engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being 
received

0

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, 
and/or senior officers with significant financial responsibility, 
during the year

2

Number of individuals that have been deemed “board 
members, and/or senior officers with significant financial 
responsibility” during the financial year. This figure includes 
both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements

14

Off payroll engagements relate to two Governing Body members who have been in post since 2013-14, the remainder of the 
Governing Body are paid via payroll.  

Dr Stephen Cox 
 
Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead (Accountable Officer) 
 
Date: 
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2 STATEMENTS BY THE CLINICAL CHIEF EXECUTIVE/CLINICAL LEAD  
(ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER)  

2.1 STATEMENT OF CLINICAL CHIEF EXECUTIVE/CLINICAL LEAD 
(ACCOUNTABLE  OFFICER) RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has 
appointed Dr Stephen Cox to be the Clinical Chief Executive (Clinical Accountable 
Officer) of the Clinical Commissioning Group. 

 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the 
propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is 
answerable, for keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and 
enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the 
Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets 
(and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable 
Officer Appointment Letter. 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year 
financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. 
The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net 
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

  In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply 
with the requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health 
and in particular to: 

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies 
on a consistent basis; 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for 

Accounts issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose 

and explain any material departures in the financial statements; and, 

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 
Appointment Letter. 

 

Dr Stephen Cox 
Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead (Accountable Officer) 
 
Date: 
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2.2     GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  
 

2.2.1 Introduction & Context 
 
The Clinical Commissioning Group was licenced from 1 April 2013 under provisions 
enacted in the Health & Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health 
Service Act 2006.  The clinical commissioning group operated in shadow form prior 
to 1 April 2013, to allow for the completion of the licencing process and the 
establishment of function, systems and processes prior to the clinical commission 
group taking on its full powers. 

 
As at 1 April 2013, the Clinical Commissioning Group was licensed without 
conditions.  This meant that the CCG met all the necessary standards implemented 
by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England) to meet the requirements set out 
in the Health & Social Care Bill. 

 
The CCG continues to report to NHS England regarding its on-going performance in 
meeting its statutory duties via an ‘Assurance Framework’ system.  For information 
on performance, please refer to the Strategic Report section. 

 
2.2.2 Scope of Responsibility 
 

As Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead (Accountable Officer), I have responsibility 
for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the achievement of 
the Clinical Commissioning Group’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst 
safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in 
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money.  I 
also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my Clinical Commissioning Group 
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

 
I am responsible for ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group is administered 
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, 
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. 

 
2.2.3 Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code 

 
We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, 
we have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon best 
practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code 
we consider to be relevant to the CCG and best practice.  The CCG has been 
reported as fully assured of its Governance Arrangements via the CCG assurance 
process undertaken by NHS England throughout 2014/15.   
 

2.2.4 The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework 
 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L(2)(b) states: 
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made 
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted 
principles of good governance as are relevant to it. 
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Table 1: The CCG Governance Framework: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

The Governing Body comprises a diverse range of skills from Executive and Lay 
members and there is a clear division of responsibility between running the 
Governing Body and running the CCG’s business.   The CCG Lay Chair is 
responsible for the leadership of the Governing Body and ensures that executives 
have had access to relevant information to assist them in the delivery of their duties.  
The lay members have actively provided scrutiny and challenge at Governing Body 
and sub-committee level.  Each committee comprises membership and 
representation from appropriate officers and Lay members with sufficient experience 
and knowledge to support the committees in discharging their duties. 

The Governing Body Core Membership as per the constitution as of 31ST March 2015 
is detailed along with all CCG Sub-Committees in appendix A to this Governance 
Statement. 

 
Full details of the CCG’s membership and scheme of reservation and delegation can 
be found within the CCG constitution available on the CCG’s website 
at www.sthelensccg.nhs.uk. 

 
• Governing Body Assurance  

The Governing Body meetings are held in public and have continued to seek 
assurance during 2014/15 in relation to key CCG objectives, including review and 
approval of the CCG’s strategic and operational plans, such as the Better Care Fund 
Plans with St Helens Local Authority, review and approval of the CCG integrated 
Strategic Plan including regular review and consideration of the CCG QIPP Plans 
against the current financial climate and expectations.  A robust Governing Body 
Performance Dashboard has been developed in collaboration with Mersey Internal 
Audit which details performance against key constitutional measures has been 

Strategic Assurance Framework
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subject to on-going scrutiny by the Governing Body and will undergo further 
developmental work during 2015/16. 

Co-commissioning plans in relation to commissioning of primary care and associated 
governance arrangements have also been considered and agreed by the Governing 
Body and GP Members Forum, they will be subject to implementation from April 1st 
2015.  The Governing Body has also received debate concerning significant priorities 
such as Ambulance response times, working directly with the North West Ambulance 
service to understand causes of and risks to underperforming response times, and 
jointly developing an action plan for improvement. 

The CCG strategy for Patient and Public Engagement ‘Working Well Together’ was 
subject to update and review during 2014 and was approved by the Governing Body 
in July 2014.  The Governing Body will look to strengthen its approach to 
engagement further during 2015 taking on board the NHS 5 Year View requirements 
and strengthening the integrated approach across the borough.  The Public Health 
Annual Report and Children’s OFSTED review undertaken at St Helens Local 
Authority was also reviewed in 14/15. 

Effective use of the local NHS estate is also a key priority for both the CCG and 
Merseyside.  In 2014 the CCG Lay Chair actively led discussions on the review of the 
local NHS estate linked to the overall QIPP review to begin to understand current 
estate provision and future fit for purpose – aligned to the aspirations of our 
integrated strategic plan, this work continues to develop during 2015.   

From a governance perspective, the Governing Body in collaboration with St Helens 
Local Authority, has signed up to a Section 75 partnership agreement.  Effectively 
this strengthens both organisations commitment to joint working and governance 
arrangements. 

2.2.5 Executive Risk and Assurance Committee: 
 

The Committee is responsible for the development, implementation and monitoring of 
the CCG’s integrated governance systems and processes and risk management.  
The Committee oversees delivery of the corporate objectives including the 
management of the corporate risk register and Governing Body Assurance 
Framework.  The full terms of reference can be found in the CCG’s Constitution. 

 
During 2014/15, the Committee has continued to ensure compliance with key 
statutory governance requirements ensuring effective review of the CCG’s 
emergency planning and business continuity arrangements, undertaking a self-
assessment against statutory duties providing assurance to NHS England on local 
compliance. The Committee has continued to oversee the organisation’s risk 
management via on-going review of the corporate risk register and Governing Body 
Assurance Framework, ensuring that significant risks are reported directly to the 
Governing Body for review following Committee Scrutiny.  Work has been 
undertaken on those risks that have remained unchanged during 2014/15 with 
assurance sought from the CCG committees in this regard.  The CCG standards of 
business conduct and Gifts and Hospitality Policy has also been subject to review. 

 
The Committee has overseen the implementation of the Information Governance 
Action plan to ensure compliance with the IG Toolkit, review and development of the 
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CCG Health & Safety policy and procedures.  In addition, consideration of MIAA 
reviews in relation to Conflicts of Interest management, ensuring effective responses 
and action plans are implemented to address any areas for improvement.  More 
recently, the Committee has had oversight on the development of the CCG’s 
decommissioning policy and procedures.   

 
The committee has delegated responsibility for the approval of key corporate policies 
and during the year has received updates and requests for approvals in relation to 
the following key policies and processes: 

 
• Information Governance and IG Toolkit compliance 
• Risk Management 
• Governing Body Assurance Framework 
• Health & Safety 
• Standards of Business Conduct and Conflicts of Interest  
• Emergency Planning Resilience and Response 
• Review and responses to recommendations from Internal Audit 

 
2.2.6 Remuneration Committee: 
 

The Committee ensures compliance with statutory requirements.  The Committee 
reviews and agrees appraisal and remuneration of Executives and also has 
responsibility for Organisational Development Strategy, Human Resources & Equality 
and Diversity.  The full terms of reference are detailed in the CCG constitution. 

 
During 2014/15, the Committee has continued to review compliance with its statutory 
requirements in relation to Equality and Diversity and delivery of our Equality 
Objectives, these can be located on the CCG website. 

 
The Committee has also ensured the ratification of core CCG HR policies and 
protocols as part of an agreed work plan with the North West CSU.  A 
comprehensive action plan was developed following sessions with the Governing 
Body and senior management team to understand both staff development and 
Organisational Development priorities to enable the strengthening of the delivery of 
the CCG priorities in 2015/16 such as our integrated commissioning arrangements, 
delivering against primary care co-commissioning and effective leadership of the 
CCG.  The Organisational Development Strategy has been subject to review in-year 
to reflect the on-going needs of staff and the organisation.  In addition, the 
Committee has implemented and evaluated a Staff Culture Survey to ensure we 
understand our staff views on the organisation’s effectiveness and culture. 

 
Significant work also took place with regards to reviewing the CCG’s values and 
behaviours with staff and the Governing Body and they have been updated with input 
from our staff.  Work has remained on-going to ensure compliance with statutory and 
mandatory training requirements. 

 
2.2.7 Finance, Performance & Approvals Committee 

 
 The Finance, Performance & Approvals Committee (FPA) assures the CCG 

Governing Body on all financial matters in relation to the discharge of its Statutory 
Functions in line with the Constitutions prime financial Policies. The Committee 
ensures that the financial and activity performance of commissioned services is 
monitored.  The committee is also responsible to take appropriate action within 
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contract terms and in support of the NHS Constitution, on behalf of the Governing 
Body, to remedy any finance and performance variations, for example to those 
outlined in the CCG Assurance Framework and the Clinical Commissioning Plan. The 
committee will approve service developments brought forward from the Quality 
Committee (QC) and allocate resources according to annual financial plans.  

 The key remit of the group in 2014-15 was to: 

• Review the overall financial position of the CCG to ensure the organisation is able to 
meet its statutory financial duties and that the financial plans are consistent with and 
complementary to the annual budget, commissioning plan and strategic direction 

• Review all finance and performance related risk as an excerpt from the organisation’s 
risk register and make recommendations on any further mitigating actions and 
controls 

• Monitoring financial and operational performance, assessing any risk and 
recommending actions to address them, oversight of KPIs including those outlined in 
the commissioning framework 

• Monitoring delivery of the CCGs QIPP programme 
• Monitoring performance of the clinical commissioning strategy 
• Financial approval of key business decisions following the recommendations of the 

Quality Committee 
 

2.2.8 Quality Committee: 
 

The Quality Committee (QC) was established in accordance with St Helens Clinical 
Commissioning Group’s (the CCG) Constitution, Standing Orders and Scheme of 
Delegation.  The Committee is responsible for the quality and safety processes 
across all CCG commissioned services, and for assuring the governing body that 
quality and patient safety activity is co-ordinated and transparent ensuring a coherent 
and systematic review of the system.  This includes the approval of new service 
specifications and the support governance for implementation. 

The highlights for the Quality Committee for 2014/15 have been as follows:  

• Approved CCG Key Safeguarding policies and documents to ensure the CCG 
meet statutory requirements 

• Approved a new scheme for minor eye conditions which will be delivered in 
the community. 

• Agreed a pilot of community ECG provision 
• Worked collaboratively and successfully with key partners such as public 

health to ensure service specifications meet clinical standards 
• Overseen quality visits to Intermediate Care facilities in the Borough 
• Reviewed and refreshed terms of reference to ensure robust reporting from 

all quality subgroups and to Governing Body to enable the CCG to 
understand the quality of care and manage risk for the population of St 
Helens, for example Safeguarding, Risk assurance.  

• Led the establishment of more robust management of serious incidents in 
provider Trusts and established a new Safety Group 

• New Patient experience and engagement sub group has been established 
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• Systematic and regular review of all Provider quality provision through CQPG 
meetings (Clinical quality Performance Group) 

• Reviewed and commented on the Quality accounts for the CCGs main 
providers 

 

 The Quality Committee has two subgroups: 

• Medicines Management Committee 

The aims of the Committee are to: 

Develop and oversee the implementation of a strategy, approved by the CCG 
Governing Body, for the management of medicines across St Helens CCG and the 
local health economy, ensuring the strategy compliments the CCG Commissioning 
plan and the Health and Well Being Strategy. 

In collaboration with the Pan Mersey Area Prescribing Committee, ensure a coherent 
approach to the management of medicines and managed entry of medicines across 
the health system 

• Patient Experience & Involvement Group 

 The group was established in February 2014 in line with the Mersey Internal Audit 
review of the CCG’s patient experience framework, to ensure that the CCG had a 
robust approach and clear governance arrangements to engagement and 
involvement with patients and the Public. The group also has responsibility to collate 
and review patient experience data for reporting to the Quality Committee. 

2.2.9 Members Council (GP Forum)  

 The group’s “Members Council” the GP Forum represents all of the member 
practices of the group and reflects their opinion.  The Members Council has specific 
responsibility for: 

 
•    Agreeing the vision, values and overall strategic direction of the group 
• Approving the groups’ constitution and proposed changes to the constitution 

including 
 

The Members Council holds the Governing Body to account for the functions that the 
group has delegated to it through regular meetings with the Chair and Clinical Chief 
Executive. The full terms of reference can be found on the CCG website. 

The GP Forum has developed and matured significantly during 2014/15 in terms of 
the clinical debate and review of CCG’s objectives and associated strategies. This is 
particularly significant in relation to improving the quality of primary care services and 
the full CCG membership role in this.  During the 14/15 the forum has debated 
delivery elements of the CCG’s strategic plan, enabling the GP members to shape 
and challenge local service models for improving access to services in the 
community, such as ‘Improving Access St Helens’ (IASH).  The Forum also provides 
the environment for the members to collaborate with LA colleagues on developing 
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plans such as children’s services and the transition to the local Authority from April 
2015 in relation to required future specifications. 

 
  Key Highlights from Members Council in 14/15 include:  

• Review of constitution 
• Agreeing and reviewing investment in winter pressures schemes 
• Review and consideration on co-commissioning arrangements  
• Clinical debate and agreement on the GP Quality Contract 
• Primary Care Strategy development discussions  
• Future of General Practice – clinical debate discussion 
• Clinical discussion and debate on the Acute Visiting Scheme 
• CCG 360 stakeholder survey – participation and review 
• CCG 5 year plan – review and agreement 
• Review of IASH  
• Medicines Management scheme performance and review 
• Clinical pathway redesign discussions 
• Health and Wellbeing Board peer review  

 
2.2.10 Audit Committee 
 

The role of the Audit Committee is to review the establishment and maintenance of 
an effective system of integrated governance, risk management and internal control, 
across the whole of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s activities that support the 
achievement of the CCG’s strategic objectives. It supports the Governing Body's 
remit to ensure that the CCG operates effectively, efficiently and economically. Its 
work aligns to that of other CCG Committees to seek assurance that robust   
decision-making is in place.  

 
During 2014/15, the Committee, under delegated authority, has approved the Annual 
Report and Accounts. It has approved the Internal and External Audit Plans; the 
Conflict of Interest Policy; the CCG’s Risk Strategy; policies and strategies relating to 
Anti-Fraud and Bribery; the CCG's Detailed Financial Policies. 

 
It has carried out in-depth reviews of strategic risks from the Assurance Framework 
including Continuing Healthcare and Provider Over Performance.  

  
Future reviews will include work with the Quality Committee on Patient Satisfaction 
and Complaints systems, and further risk reviews covering QIPP and the CCG’s 
financial sustainability.   In addition a Committee self-assessment was undertaken 
facilitated by MIAA in support of continuous improvement of the CCG’s governance 
system and processes. 

 
 

2.2.11 Primary Care Committee 
 
The Primary Care Committee has been established on approval by NHSE as the 
decision making committee having oversight of delegated commissioning of primary 
care (General Practice).  The Committee will become formally operational from April 
2015 and be held in public.   
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2.2.12 Integrated Programme Steering Group 
 

The Integrated Programme Steering Group was established to have the Strategic 
oversight of implementing the shared vision for Integration across the Borough including 
providing leadership for the enabling systems and high risk areas for the borough such 
as the Better Care Fund and Continuing Healthcare.  Key highlights of the Steering 
Group include; 
 

• Development of the Section 75 agreement 
• Development of Better Care Fund Plans 
• Development of the Integrated Adults Commissioning Team 
• The IPSG is in the process of incorporating Children’s Commissioning into 

the Section 75 Agreement 

  

2.2.13 Joint Committees  
 

The CCG has active and effective membership of a number of key committees and 
groups which assist in the delivery of statutory and other functions:  

 
• Health and Wellbeing Board  
• Local Safeguarding Children’s Board and sub groups   
• Local Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults Board and sub groups  
• Mersey CCG Network  
• Mersey Quality Surveillance Group  
• Contractual boards for all key contracts  
• Mid Mersey Commissioning Collaborative  
• Pan Mersey Medicines Management Committee   
• Strategic Resilience Group  

 
The MIAA Audit Plan for 15/16 includes a Committee Effectiveness review which 
means that each sub-Committee of the Governing Body will undertake a self- 
assessment of its effectiveness during 2014/15.  This will be undertaken under the 
same / similar Terms of Reference as the Audit Committee review of effectiveness 
undertaken in 14/15 and forms part of the continuous improvement work the CCG will 
continue to undertake in relation to its governance arrangements. 

 
The Attendance schedules for all CCG Committee meetings are attached in 
Appendix B to the Governance Statement. 

 
2.2.14 The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management Framework 

 
The CCG’s Risk Management Framework is designed to manage risk to a 
reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims 
and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
of effectiveness.  The system of internal control is based on an on-going process 
designed to: 

 
• Identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the organisation’s policies, 

aims and objectives;  
• Evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they 

be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 
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The Governing Body has developed the annual corporate objectives, and the 
evaluation of the risks to achieving these objectives are set out in the Governing 
Body Assurance Framework (GBAF), which is regularly reviewed and scrutinised by 
the Executive Committee (Risk & Assurance) and Senior Management Team. 

 
The GBAF is a key assurance process and its purpose is to provide the Governing 
Body with ‘reasonable’ assurance that internal systems are functioning effectively. It 
is a high level document that is used to inform and give assurance to the Governing 
Body that the risks to achieving key objectives are recognised and that controls are in 
place or being developed to manage these risks.  

 
Risks are rated, and controls that will address these risks are identified. Gaps in 
control or assurance are noted and action plans to close gaps summarised and 
updated. Potential and actual sources of assurance are identified and the latter are 
also rated for the level of assurance provided. A summary (dashboard) of the 
assurance levels for all assurance framework entries is updated each quarter for 
tracking of assurance and accompanies the full document for initial submission to the 
CCG’s Executive Risk & Assurance Committee and then ultimately to the Governing 
Body. 

 
The Corporate Risk Register provides the Governing Body with a summary of the 
principal risks currently facing the organisation, with a summary of the actions 
needed and being taken to reduce these risks to an acceptable level. The information 
contained in the Corporate Risk Register is sufficient to allow the Governing Body to 
be involved in prioritising and managing major risks. The risks described in the 
Corporate Risk Register will be more wide-ranging than those in the Governing Body 
Assurance Framework, covering a number of domains. 

 
Risks to achieving organisational objectives are identified in the GBAF. Where gaps 
in control are identified in the GBAF, the risk management process allows these to be 
added as risks to the Corporate Risk Register if appropriate. The two documents thus 
work together to provide the Governing Body with assurance and action plans on risk 
management in the organisation. 

 
The Corporate Risk Register is reviewed and updated on a monthly basis by risk 
leads and each sub-committee both holds and reviews its assigned risks at each 
meeting via its committee risk register.  These feed into the overall Corporate Risk 
Register which is presented for review and scrutiny to the Executive Risk & 
Assurance Committee and Senior Management Team monthly. 

 
The CCG commissions a range of training programmes which include specific 
mandatory training for particular staff groups which aims to minimise the risks 
inherent in their daily work. Information Governance, Counter Fraud, Fire, Health and 
Safety, Equality and Diversity, Equality Impact Assessment and Safeguarding 
Training are mandatory training requirements for all staff.  

 
Targeted bespoke training is provided to the designated risk leads to support 
development and management of risk registers, with ‘protected’ one to one sessions 
arranged each quarter for all managers responsible for updating the Governing Body 
Assurance Framework.   
 
The CCG has a sound Health & Safety Policy which details our incident reporting 
system and this is overseen by the Executive Risk & Assurance Committee.  Training 
is provided to all staff in relation to the policy and procedures 
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Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) are integral to the CCG’s core commissioning 
business and assessments will be carried out appropriately against any 
commissioning plan or objective as part of the CCG commissioning process.  This is 
actively supported by the CCG’s Equality & Diversity Lead from the North West 
Commissioning Support Unit.  In addition, regular training is provided to staff in 
relation to undertaking EIAs and this is reported to the Remuneration Committee. 

 
In addition, a strategy for Public Engagement and Involvement is in place to ensure 
key public stakeholders are involved in the development of the CCG’s strategies and 
plans which impact on them. The CCG engages with the public through a variety of 
methods as outlined within our engagement strategy, on its strategic commissioning 
plan, raising public awareness on key issues / health messages; undertaking 
communications through the media (e.g. during winter pressures and informing of 
access to services on key health messages). Details can be found on the CCG 
Internet Engagement Pages.    
 
Over the year we have engaged with over 1000 people and families in all aspects of 
our 5 year plan, including for example our speech and language therapy review, 
CAMHS review, IAPT procurement, each area has been developed with families from 
business case and model development, gap identification, need assessment, EDS 
and service specification development.  Each area has taken a draft specification 
back to user forums, with volunteer family members being trained by Commissioners 
and we have also commenced public representation procurement panels.  This good 
practice is continuing to develop in all commissioning areas.   
 
Using quality social marketing strategies with a sound evidence base, we have 
developed a local ‘Waste Not Want Not’ campaign.  This campaign was developed 
via the insight work of 500 local people from 16 years of age.  The targeted campaign 
across the borough used social media, radio, billboards and media in all 36 practices 
and partner buildings to encourage a behaviour change around wasting medicines 
and storing medicines.   
 
We have also continued to work with partners on public events in relation to personal 
health budgets, autism strategy, weight management reviews and the Care Act 
Implementation are just some examples of the partnership working undertaken in the 
year.   
 

2.2.15 The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework  
 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the 
clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It 
is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks 
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically.  The system of internal control allows risk to 
be managed to a reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 

 
The CCG identifies and prioritises risk at strategic level through the CCG Governing 
Body Assurance Framework (GBAF).  The GBAF details the key strategic objectives 
for the CCG.  The Governing Body and Senior Management team have actively 
assessed the potential risks to delivery of its objectives and the key controls in place 
to ensure effective delivery.  Any gaps in control and assurance have been identified 
with action plans developed to ensure any gaps in control and assurance that were 
highlighted at the beginning of the year are addressed.  The GBAF feeds down into 
the corporate risk register as risks become realised and require active management 
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by the appropriate sub-Committee and lead officer.  The GBAF is presented for 
assurance and review to the Governing Body on a quarterly basis and is overseen 
centrally by the Executive Risk and Assurance Committee.  

 
All risk registers use the same risk scoring matrices to ensure consistency in 
describing risks across the organisation; these matrices are based on the NPSA 
matrices but have been customised for local use to reflect the CCG’s tolerance to 
risk.  MIAA have recently reviewed the CCG’s GBAF as part of the 14/15 work 
programme and have assessed the CCG as having a ‘Level A’ assurance rating 
which is the highest level the CCG could have achieved in terms of this assessment.  

2.2.16 Information Governance 
 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by 
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular 
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is 
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process 
provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to 
individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and 
effectively. 

 
We place high importance on ensuring that there are robust information governance 
systems and processes in place to help protect personal and corporate information. 
We have established an information governance management framework and have 
developed information governance policies and procedures in line with the 
information governance toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual 
information governance training and have implemented a staff information handbook 
which contains information to ensure staff awareness of their roles and 
responsibilities.  The CCG has received significant assurance in 2014/15 from MIAA 
in relation to its IG Toolkit assessment. 

2.2.17 Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk Management & Internal  
Control  

 
St Helens CCG has a comprehensive Risk Management Strategy in place which 
follows NHS Executives Controls Assurance risk management standard. The 
updated Risk Management Strategy was ratified by the Audit Committee on 3rd 
December 2014.  The following key elements are contained within the Strategy: 

 
• Risk Management Strategy, Aims and Objectives; 
• Roles, Responsibilities and Accountability; 
• The Risk Management Process – Risk Identification, Risk Assessment, Risk 

Treatment, Monitoring and Review, Risk Prevention; 
• Risk Grading – Criteria, and; 
• Training and Support 

 
St Helens CCG has established a number of mechanisms for identifying and 
managing risks including risk profiling methodology, incident reporting, complaints 
and litigation data, and staff concerns/whistle-blowing. 
 
Risk management and the ensuing development of risk registers is generally 
achieved using a dual ‘top-down’ and ‘bottom-up’ approach to identifying and 
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managing risks. The ‘top-down’ element has been addressed through the 
development of a Governing Body Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk 
Register identifying strategic high-level risks. These two documents are based on 
models which have previously been accepted as meeting audit requirements. 

 
The ‘bottom-up’ element of the risk management system best fits with organisational 
structures and this has therefore been based on the directorate arrangements and 
subsequently director portfolios and teams. All functional leads have identified their 
arrangements for developing and reviewing risk registers and escalating risks tied 
into the ‘programme management approach’ to delivery of the CCG plans. 

 
St Helens CCG has put in place policies, procedures, guidance and support to 
ensure that personal and corporate information is handled legally, securely, efficiently 
and effectively, in order to deliver high quality services. Performance is monitored 
through the completion of the annual Information Governance (IG) Toolkit return and 
reports to the Executive Risk and Assurance Committee. 

 
Controls include: 

 
• Mandatory induction and refresher IG training for all staff  
• Identifying the movement of personal data and assessing associated risks, 

minimising where possible  
• Ensuring the encryption of all confidential data stored on portable devices 
• Reporting, investigation and escalation of all information governance incidents 

 
The Corporate Risk Register is managed centrally with risk updates, additions and 
removals sought monthly from each of the following Committees; 
 
• Quality Committee 
• Finance and Performance Committee  
• Medicines Management Committee 
• HR & Remuneration 
• Integrated Programme Steering Group 

 

The CCG’s risk appetite is determined by the amount of risk that the CCG is 
prepared to accept, be exposed to or tolerate at any point in time. The primary aim is 
to reduce risks to the lowest possible level (where this is reasonably practical). 
Where risks cannot be avoided, plans to mitigate the residual risk are put in place 
whilst enabling the CCG to support innovation and diversity in our commissioning 
intentions to ultimately improve the efficiency and value of local health services.  

The CCG does not (under any circumstances) accept any risk which would 
potentially/actually result in non-compliance with legislation or statutory 
responsibilities. Similarly, risks which threaten patient and/or staff safety are not 
tolerated and the CCG endeavours to minimise all risks of this type.  

In line with the Strategic Objectives for Risk Management, contained within the St 
Helens CCG Risk Management Strategy 2014-2016; the CCG has sought to; 

• Establish clearly defined responsibilities for risk management and lines of 
accountability throughout the organisation; 

• Develop and maintain a Corporate Risk Register; 
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• Embed operational and project risk registers across all areas of the organisation; 
• Embed a systematic process for the identification, analysis, evaluation, treatment 

and monitoring of risks across all areas of the organisation; 
• Ensure that staff are trained and competent in their role and that they take 

account of the hazards and risks likely to be encountered in the work place. 
 

The Corporate Risk Register supports the CCG Governing Body Assurance 
Framework by identifying operational risks which may impact on the ability to provide 
assurance against strategic risks.  Table 2 and Table 3 (below) summarises the 
CCG’s Risk Profile: 

 
Table 2: Directorate split of current strategic and operational risk as at 31st March 
2015: 

Directorate No. of Strategic 
(GBAF) risks 

No. of 
operational 
risks (CRR) 

Total no. of 
risks identified 

Governance (inc engagement/HR and 
OD) 

4 1 5 

Commissioning 3 7 10 

Finance, Performance and Contracting 2 13 15 

Primary Care 2 1 3 

Medicines Management  0 2 2 

Quality & Safety 5 12 17 

 

Table 3: Directorate Risk Profile as at 31st March 2015: CRR 

Directorate Extreme 
risks 

High 
risks 

Moderate 
risks 

Low risks 

Governance (inc engagement HR /OD)  1   

Commissioning 4 3   

Finance , Performance and Contracting  1 4 4 4 

Primary Care  1   

Medicines Management  2   

Quality & Safety  6 5 1 
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Table 3: Directorate Risk Profile as at 31st March 2015: GBAF 

Directorate Extreme 
risks 

High 
risks 

Moderate 
risks 

Low risks 

Governance (inc engagement HR /OD)   3 1 

Commissioning  2 1  

Finance , Performance and Contracting  1  1  

Primary Care    2 

Medicines Management     

Quality & Safety  1 2 2 

*risk against financial delivery 

A total of 70 (CRR & GBAF) risks were identified during 2014/15: 

• 16 GBAF risks 
• 36 CRR current risks 
• 18 CRR removed risks 

The breakdown of the risks as at April 2014: 

• 9 risks initially rated as Extreme (scored between 15-25) 
• 32 risks initially rated as High (scored between 8-12).  
• 20 risks initially rated as Medium (scored between 4-6). 
• 6 risks initially rated as Low (scored between 1-3). 
                                     

By the end of March 2015 the breakdown of the total risks was as follows: 

• 8 risks rated as Extreme (scored between 15-25). 
• 23 risks rated as High (scored between 8-12). 
• 27 risks rated as Medium (scored between 4-6). 
• 12 risks rated as Low (scored between 1-3). 

                                                                                                                         

During December 2014 and January 2015 specific reports were prepared to identify 
recorded risks which had remained static in score during Quarters 1, 2 and 3.  The 
completed reports were presented to the Executive Risk & Assurance Committee to 
provide clarity on current issues and planned actions to mitigate and reduce 
consequence and likelihood scores. 

All extreme risks were escalated to the Governing Body in line with the Risk 
Management Framework. 

2.2.18 Review of Economy, Efficiency & Effectiveness of the Use of Resources  
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The CCG applies a number of key processes to review its effectiveness in ensuring 
that resources are used economically, efficiently and effectively. The assurance 
system provides regular reporting through to the Governing Body. 

   
As detailed above, the CCG has a sound system of governance in operation with key 
aspects of the organisation’s systems and process subject to review by MIAA during 
2014/15.  This resulted in a view of significant assurance by MIAA for: 

 
• Quality of Commissioned Services Review 
• Provider Contract Management 
• ESR HR/Payroll Interface 
• Assurance Framework (Level A) 
• Information Governance 
• QIPP Delivery 

 
The CCG received a rating of ‘High Assurance’ for its Finance and Budgetary 
Control, which is the highest level of assurance that can be awarded. 
 
In addition, the follow-up review of patient experience and NWCSU Contract 
Management demonstrated the progress regarding implementation of actions. 
 
MIAA concluded that an Assurance Framework has been established which is 
designed and operating to meet the requirements of the Annual Governance 
Statement and provide reasonable assurance that there is an effective system of 
internal control to manage the principle risks identified by the organisation.  

 
The CCG has also undertaken a ‘Value for Money’ self-assessment using Audit 
Commission criteria, which will be subject to review by the Governing Body in 
2015/16.  The Internal Audit Plan for 15/16 will also involve a review of committee 
effectiveness from the Governing Body and all of its sub-committees, looking at 
committee operation, challenges and how these challenges might be addressed.  In 
addition, the CCG’s overall effectiveness is subject to quarterly review by NHS 
England as part of the overall CCG Assurance Process that CCG’s adhere to, the 
outcomes of which are summarised within the Strategic Report section.   

 
The CCG QIPP plan is currently undergoing implementation which is regularly 
reviewed via the focussed QIPP Group and reported to the Finance and Performance 
Committee who in turn provide direct assurance to the CCG Governing Body.   

 
2.2.19 Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management & Internal Control 

 
As Clinical Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) I have responsibility for reviewing 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning 
group. 

 
• Capacity to Handle Risk  
 

I have accountability for ensuring there are robust arrangements in place for the 
identification and management of risk.  I am supported in this role by the Associate 
Director; Corporate Governance.  Expertise and support is also procured from the 
North West Commissioning Support Unit (the CSU) who offer specialist advice to all 
staff on the identification and management of risk.  
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The Executive Risk & Assurance Committee is a formal sub-Committee to the St 
Helens Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body.  The committee reports to 
the Governing Body on the development, implementation and monitoring of 
integrated governance systems and processes. The Committee also provides 
assurance on the systems and processes by which the CCG leads, directs and 
controls its functions in order to achieve organisational objectives. This committee is 
also responsible for the operational delivery of all corporate objectives including the 
management of the corporate risk register and Governing Body Assurance 
Framework 

 
The Senior Management Team have received training on the development and 
management of the Governing Body’s Assurance Framework and all staff are able to 
access “hands on” support at all times.  All SMT members have received the Risk 
Management Strategy and have also had training on incident reporting procedures. 

 
The CCG fosters a culture of openness and encourages the sharing of good practice 
and learning when things go wrong.   All committees and sub-committees of the CCG 
are responsible for ensuring that risks associated with their delegated responsibilities 
are identified, analysed, evaluated and treated. 

 
• Review of Effectiveness 
 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the 
clinical commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance 
information available to me and my review is also informed by comments made by 
the external auditors in their management letter and other reports. 

 
The Governing Body Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the 
effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group 
achieving its principles objectives have been reviewed. 

 
I have been advised on the implications of the results of my review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit 
Committee, Clinical Quality & Approvals Committee, Finance Performance and 
Approvals Committee, Remuneration Committee and Executive Risk and Assurance 
Committee, if appropriate a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place. 

 
The Governing Body receives the minutes of all committees including the Audit 
Committee.  In addition, a key issues highlight report is also presented.  The 
Executive Risk and Assurance Committee approves relevant policies with 
endorsement from the Audit Committee.  The Audit Committee will monitor action 
plans managed by the relevant sub-Committee arising from internal audit reviews.  
Internal Audit is a key component of internal control and effectiveness.  The Audit 
Committee will approve the annual internal audit plan and progress against the plan 
is reported to the Committee. The reviews carried out in the year assist the Director 
of Internal Audit to form his/her opinion, which in turn feeds the assurance process 

 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and 
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning 
group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control.  
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• Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

 
The Head of Internal Audit concluded that: Significant Assurance can be given that 
that there is a generally sound system of internal control designed to meet the 
organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. 
However, some weaknesses in the design or inconsistent application of controls put 
the achievement of particular objectives at risk.  

 
During the year the Internal Audit issued the following audit reports with a conclusion 
of limited assurance: 

 
o Governing Body Reporting Review 

 
The issues leading to this conclusion were as follows: 

 
• Cycle of business and reporting requirements: 

The CCG's Governing Body & Sub-Committees do not have a formalised 
cycle of business / reporting matrix to detail where monitoring and assurance 
activities / reports are expected to be reviewed throughout the year; and how 
the resulting decisions and assurances are to be received by the Governing 
Body.  
 
Action – with immediate effect, the CCG developed in detail its corporate 
calendar that details the Governing Body and Sub-Committee reporting and 
assurance requirements.  This ensures visibility of the reporting assurance 
process. 

 
• Sub-committee scheduling and reporting 

 
The CCG have formally defined the meeting schedule for the Governing Body 
and it's sub-committee for 2014/05, however, review of the schedule identifies 
that sub- committees have not been scheduled in such a way that enables 
timely reporting to the next Governing Body meeting. 
 
Audit review of the information received by the Governing Body from its Sub-
Committees identified that the Governing Body had received information from 
the Remuneration Committee and the Executive Risk & Assurance 
Committee on only one occasion and this have been 4 months after the 
meetings took place.  
 
Action – The CCG now ensures that a Key Issues / Assurance report is 
completed and reported to the Governing Body in the absence of ratified 
minutes for all committees and the Governing Body is now receiving minutes 
from all CCG Sub-Committees.  
 

• Reporting against strategic objectives 
 

Performance reports that are presented to the Governing Body do not link 
performance achievements to the NHS Outcomes Framework.  Gaps in reporting 
could result in the CCG being unable to address issues arising that could impact 
on achievement of strategic objectives.  
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Action - The CCG engaged with MIAA in 2014-15 to review its performance 
reporting to the Governing Body and to ensure that they are sighted on key 
performance indicators. This led to the production of a Governing Body 
dashboard, facilitated by MIAA, which complements regular reports in relation to 
constitutional standards and quality premium achievement. The CCG reports 
performance relating to the NHS outcomes framework indicators to various sub 
committees and in part to the Governing Body however it is recognised that this 
is not routinely and comprehensively reported to the Governing Body on a 
quarterly basis in a single report. The CCG will therefore review its reporting and 
ensure that for Q4 and on-going the indicators are reported in a summary form as 
recommended.  

 
• Governing Body Structure 

The CCG have developed an Operating Policy to support their Constitution, 
however review of the document identifies that the Governing Body Structure 
defined is not in line with that detailed in the Constitution. The Constitution 
outlines a requirement for 6 GP Governing Body Members whereas the 
Operating Policy specifies 7.  
 
Action – it was recognised that this was an administrative oversight and the 
paperwork has been updated. 
 

• Review of Pooled Budget arrangements (CHC) 
 
The CCG has made good progress in establishing pooled budget arrangements 
during 2014-15.  There is a comprehensive S75 Agreement in place which has been 
approved at the appropriate level and contains the majority of requirements set out in 
the Audit Commission’s ‘Clarifying Joint Finance Arrangements: A briefing paper for 
health bodies and local authorities’ (December 2008).  However, following the MIAA 
review, a draft report has been received highlighting the need for current pooled 
budget arrangements to further develop to ensure strengthening of implementation of 
the governance around the existing arrangements.  The CCG is currently reviewing 
the recommendations and findings to inform an appropriate action plan to 
accompany the final report which will be available early 2015/16. 
 

2.2.20 Data Quality  
 

The CCG receives and utilises data from a variety of sources both from within and 
without the NHS. This data is used for a variety of purposes and reports at both 
informal and formal committees. All data the CCG holds is subject to public scrutiny 
either through public governing body sessions or via Freedom of Information (FOI) 
requests. The CCG takes data quality very seriously and takes a number of steps to 
assure data before its use or publication. 

Data sourced from our partner organisations such as the Local Authority is subject to 
their own organisational data quality processes. It is still however quality checked by 
CCG officers prior to use and any concerns or questions are fed back for resolution. 

Data sourced from our commissioning support unit is quality assured within the unit. 
It is then still subjected to quality checks by CCG officers. These may include looking 
over historic trends for unusual patterns or checking the outputs of the unit’s quality 
reports. The CCG receives data relating to its performance from NHSE, for example 
as part of the quarterly assurance process and in the form of a “balanced scorecard”. 
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The CCG verifies this information against local data sources and would notify NHSE 
of any issues or queries regarding the data. The CCG would also utilise this data to 
help manage its performance and to provide comparison with other organisations. 

Data from Acute Trusts and other organisations providing care to our patients is also 
reviewed locally by the CCG. For example during 2014-15 the CCG carried out a 
review of case-mix across a number of high cost specialties covering both elective 
and non-elective care and has commenced a review of re-admissions in partnership 
with St Helens and Knowsley Hospitals Trust and the Local Authority. Clinicians, 
including Governing Body GP members are often engaged in this work supported by 
CCG officers. Data is also used to support commissioning programmes of work for 
example in developing business cases and in relation to improving service 
specifications and in supporting the QIPP agenda. 

2.2.21 Business Critical Models 

NHS St Helens CCG confirms that an appropriate framework and environment is in 
place to provide quality assurance of business critical models, in line with the 
recommendations in the MacPherson report. 

 
2.2.22 Data Security 

 
We have submitted a satisfactory level of compliance with the information 
governance toolkit assessment.  The evidence used has also been independently 
audited, with ‘significant assurance’ given, prior to submission. 

There have been no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches, 
and no other incidents that were required to be reported to the Information 
Commissioner 
 

 
2.2.23 Discharge of Statutory Functions 

 
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the clinical commissioning 
group and explained within the Constitution were developed with extensive expert 
external legal input, to ensure compliance with the all relevant legislation. That legal 
advice also informed the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing 
Body decision and the scheme of delegation. 

 
 

In light of the Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all of the 
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can 
confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative 
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is 
responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions. 

 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. 
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability 
and capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties. 
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2.2.24 Conclusion 
 

I confirm that no significant control issues have been identified and areas of limited 
assurance have been fully addressed. 

 
 
 
 
Dr Stephen Cox 
Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead (Accountable Officer) 

Date:  
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Appendix A to Governance Statement; CCG Committee Membership as of 31st March 2015 

Governing Body: 

Dr Stephen Cox, Clinical Chief Executive (Accountable Officer), St Helens CCG 
Mr Geoffrey Appleton, Chair, St Helens CCG (Chair) 
Mr Paul Brickwood, Chief Financial Officer 
Mr Tony Foy, Lay Member, Chair, Audit Committee  
Mrs Rachel Jones, Lay Member, Patient & Public Involvement 
Dr Hilary Flett, GP 
Dr Mike Ejuoneatse, GP 
Dr Joseph Banat, GP, Chair, Clinical Quality & Approvals Committee 
Dr Omar Shaikh, GP and Vice Chair, St Helens CCG 
Dr Paul Rose, GP 
Dr Julie Whittaker, GP, Chair, Medicines Management Committee 
Sarah O’Brien, Chief Nurse 
Elaine Inglesby, Executive Nurse 
Dr Debra King, Secondary Care Consultant 
Liz Gaulton, Director of Public Health, St Helens Council 
Mike Wyatt, Director of Adult Health & Social Care (Peter Hughes Acting Director since January 2014) 
 
Executive Risk and Assurance Committee: 
 
Clinical Chief Executive (Accountable Officer)  
Chief Financial Officer (or Deputy) 
Director of Operations/Deputy CEO 
Associate Director; Corporate Governance (Chair) 
Primary Care Management Lead 
Assistant Director; Medicines Management 
Chief Nurse 
CCG Deputy Chair & Deputy Clinical Lead 
Chair of Finance & Performance Committee 
Chair of Clinical Quality & Approvals Committee 
Chair of Medicines Management Committee  
Associate Director; Strategy & Adults Integrated Commissioning 
 
HR & Remuneration Committee: 
 
Chair – Lay Member 
Chief Financial Officer (if required) 
Clinical Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) 
Lay Member 
Director of Operations/Deputy CEO 
2 x Governing Body GPs 
HR Lead Manager 
 
In Attendance: 
 
OD Lead CSU 
Equality & Diversity Lead Manager 
 

Finance and Performance Committee: 

Committee Chair (GP with lead for finance and performance) 
Chief Finance Officer (or Deputy) 
Clinical Chief Executive or Director of Operations/Deputy CEO 
GP Governing Body members x 2  
Lay Member 
Local Authority Representative 
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Secondary Care consultant (to be confirmed) 
Performance Manager  
 

Quality Committee: 

Chair; GP Governing Body Lead for Clinical Governance 
GP Governing Body member – Cancer Lead  
Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead (Accountable Officer) 
GP Governing Body member- Medicine Management Lead  
GP Governing Body member – Innovation Lead   
Governing Body Executive Nurse  
Governing Body Secondary Care Consultant 
Governing Body Lay Member – Patient Representation  
Local Authority (Director of Adult Social Care) 
Director of Public Health  
Healthwatch Representative  
Chief Nurse (Vice Chair) 
Director of Operations/Deputy CEO 
Primary Care Management Lead 
Assistant Director; Medicines Management  
Associate Director; Corporate Governance  
Governing Body Practice Manager representative  
 

Members Council (GP Forum): 

The Members Council has a GP lead representative from each of the 36 practices. 

Audit Committee: 

Chair of the Committee (who shall be a Lay Member of the Governing Body with significant financial 
experience) 
Lay Member of the Governing Body (who will be the vice chair) 
Clinical Members of the Governing Body 
Practice Manager Representative 
In attendance: 
Internal Audit Representative 
External Audit Representative 
Counter Fraud Representative 
The Chief Finance Officer  
CCG Officers  
 

Primary Care (Decision Making) Committee: 

Lay / Executive: 
 

Lay Chair 
Chair of Audit Committee (Deputy Chair)  
Lay Member for PPI (Deputy Chair) 

At least two present 

Director of Public Health or Director of Adults Social Care and Health or their deputies (LA executive 
view) 

At least one present 
Deputy Chief Executive (Chair of Contract and Performance Committee) 
Chief Nurse or nominated deputy 

CFO/DCFO (must be present) 
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Clinical: 

GP Governing Body members (number amended  accordingly to maintain a balance of Lay/ Executive 
Majority) 

 
Secondary Care Consultant / Independent Executive Nurse 

At least one present 

Clinical Chief Executive  
 

Integrated Programme Steering Group: 

Clinical Chief Executive Officer CCG (Co-Chair) 
Director of Adult Social Care & Health (Council) (Co-Chair) 
Deputy Accountable Officer (CCG) 
Deputy Chief Finance Officer (CCG) and LA Finance Representative 
Chief Nurse St Helens (CCG) 
Director of Public Health (Council) 
Head of Policy (Council) 
One other senior officer from the Council to be identified 
 
Support Officers: 
Associate Director of Integrated Commissioning; Adults, CCG 
Assistant Director - Business Support and Contracts, LA 
Sharon Fryer; Assistant Director, Integrated Children’s Health, LA Public Health 
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Appendix B to Governance Statement; Committee Attendance Records 

ST HELENS CCG GOVERNING BODY MEETING - SCHEDULE OF ATTENDANCE 2014/15  
 

Name   30.1.14 27.3.14 15.5.14 17.7.14 18.9.14 20.11.14 29.1.15 26.3.15 
S Cox      Apols   
G Appleton No attendance - commenced tenure 1.1.14     
William Guest    Apols  Terminated tenure 30.9.14 
J Banat Apols  Apols      
P Brickwood     Apols    
L Carey  Apols  No attendance - terminated employment with CCG 30.6.14 
M Ejuoneatse         
L Gaulton         
Paul Rose  Apols       
Omar Shaikh   Apols Apols     
Julie Whittaker      Apols   
Shikha Pitalia Apols Apols Apols Apols  No attendance- terminated tenure 

31.8.14 
Tony Foy         
Mark Arnold Apols Apols Apols No attendance - terminated tenure 30.6.14 
Hilary Flett No attendance - commenced tenure 1.9.14      
Rachel Jones No attendance - commenced tenure 20.10.14     
Debra King         
Elaine Inglesby Apols  Apols      
Mike Wyatt Apols Apols   Apols    
Peter Hughes    Acting Deputy Director Adult Social Care for first 3 months of 

2014 
Helen Meredith No Attendance commenced 

Interim role 2nd June 2014 
  Apols Terminated contract 

1.9.14 
Sarah O’Brien No attendance - commenced employment 7.11.14    
IN ATTENDANCE 
Kay Worsley Cox Apols   Apols Apols    
Eddie Cunningham    Apols    Apols 
Sarah Johnson Apols       Apols 
Julie Abbott    Apols  Apols   
Caroline Lees     Apols    
Beth Collins Apols  No attendance- terminated employment with CCG 1.6.14 
Margaret Geoghegan         
Hannah Cruikshank         
Dennis Mahoney  Apols      Apols 
Alison Brooke         
Debbie Fairclough   Apols      
Leigh Thompson 
Greatrex 

        

Hannah Cruickshank         
Liz Temple-Murray      (part)   
Barbara Hopkins         
Jayne Mellor         
George Marcall         
Andy Dempsey         
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ST HELENS CCG EXECUTIVE RISK AND ASSURANCE COMMITTEE - SCHEDULE OF ATTENDANCE 2014 
 
 

Name  21.1.14 18.2.14 18.3.14 15.4.14 20.5.14 15.7.14 21.10.14 18.11.14 20.1.15 24.3.15 
S Cox  Apols  Apols   Apols  Apols Apols 
J Abbott Apols Apols  Apols Apols Apols    Apols 
J Banat Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols    Apols 
P Brickwood   Apols    Apols Apols Apols  
I Campbell    Apols  Apols  Apols   
L Carey   Apols Apols Apols No attendance – terminated employment with CCG 30.6.14 
B Collins      No attendance- terminated employment with CCG 1.6.14 
M Ejuoneatse Apols      Apols Apols Apols Apols 
M Geoghegan   Apols    Apols   Apols 
S Johnson Apols Apols Apols Apols  Apols Apols Apols  Apols 
C Lees     Apols      
J Mellor  Apols  Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols   
O Shaikh           
J Whittaker   Apols    Apols   Apols 
H Meredith No attendance commenced interim role 2nd June 

2014 
 Apols Terminated contract 1.9.14 

K Leverett No attendance commenced tenure on 1st September Apols   
S O’Brien No attendance commenced tenure on 7th November Apols   
 
In attendance 

          

G Shenton    Apols       
S Hendry           
L Gaulton           
A Thompson           
S Crutchley           
Lesley Hadley           
B Hopkins        Apols  Apols 

 
Note: From May 2015 the Executive Risk and Assurance Committee meetings were held bi-monthly. 
 
 
ST HELENS CCG AUDIT COMMITTEE SCHEDULE OF ATTENDANCE 2014/15  
 

Members 26/3/14 16/4/14 03/06/14 23/09/14 03/12/14 18/03/15 
 

Tony Foy       
Mark Arnold  Apols Apols No attendance - terminated tenure 30.6.14 
Dr Joseph Banat      Apols 
Dr Micheal Ejuoneatse       
Dr Omar Shaikh       
Jill Newton       
Rachel Jones Commenced employment with the CCG on 20.10.14.  
       
In Attendance       
Paul Brickwood       
Caroline Lees       
Lisa Roberts       
Liz Temple-Murray       
Mike Thomas       
Mark Heap       
Louise Cobain       
Scott Fisher       
Virginia Martin      Apols 
Pauline McGrath       
Roger Causer       
Julie Abbott      Apols 

 
 
 



 86  
 

ST HELENS CCG FINANCE AND PERFORMANCE – SCHEDULE OF ATTENDANCE 2014-2015  
 

Members 
 

27.01.14 24.03.14 22.05.14 24.07.14 24.09.14 23.10.14 18.12.14 27.1.15 26.2.15 31.3.15 

Dr J Whittaker       Apols    
Dr J Banat Apols  Apols   Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols 
Dr O Shaikh Apols Apols  Apols      Apols 
Dr S Cox           
Dr H Flett Commenced employment with CCG 1.9.14   Apols Apols   
J Abbott       Apols   Apols 
P Brickwood Apols Apols Apols  Apols   Apols   
S Johnson Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols 
J Mellor    Apols    Apols   
K Ingham      Apols  Apols   
T Foy Apols   Apols       
P Hughes    Apols Apols   Apols   
In attendance           

I Campbell         Apols  
A Vinyard           
J Taylor           
D Knowles         Apols  
S Duckers           
L Roberts           
L Carey     No attendance - terminated employment with the CCG 30.6.14 
L Kiernan  Apols No attendance - terminated employment with the CCG 11.4.14 
G Joyce           
R Hunter           
Dr M Ejuoneatse           
B Collins   No attendance - terminated employment with the CCG 1.6.14 
C Watson, CSU           
A Holden, CSU           
M Kennedy, 
CSU 

          

C Walsh, LA           
Sarah O’Brien Commenced employment with the CCG 7.11.14    
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ST HELENS CCG GP Forum (Members Council) SCHEDULE OF ATTENDANCE 2014 /15  
 

 
Name  29-Jan 19-Mar 14-May 9-Jul 4-Sep 9-Oct 10-Dec 

14-Jan 
2015 

Acorn Surgery  Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols  
Berrymead MC (Ferguson)         
Bethany Medical Centre       Apols  
Bowery Medical Centre       Apols  
Central Surgery         
Cornerstone Surgery      Apols Apols Apols 
Crossroads Surgery       Apols  
Eccleston MC      Apols   
ElderCare/ Sherdley Apols Apols  Apols     
Four Acre Surgery    Apols     
Garswood Surgery Apols Apols  Apols     
Hall Street Medical Centre Apols Apols     Apols  
Haydock Medical Centre  Apols  Apols Apols  Apols  
Holly Bank Surgery    Apols   Apols  
Dr James & Partners       Apols  
Kenneth MacRae MC       Apols  
Lancaster House MC    Apols  Apols Apols  
Lime Grove Surgery   Apols    Apols  
Lingholme Health Centre  Apols       
Longton Medical Centre     Apols Apols   
Mill Street Medical Centre         
Newholme Surgery         
Newton MC (Bridge St) Apols     Apols Apols  
Newton Community Hospital  Apols     Apols Apols  
Ormskirk House Surgery    Apols   Apols  
Park House Surgery         
ParkField Surgery       Apols  
Patterdale Lodge MC         
Phoenix Medical Centre Apols Apols Apols   Apols   
Dr Rahil's Surgery  Apols     Apols  
Rainbow Medical Centre         
Rainford Health Centre  Apols     Apols  
Rainhill Village Surgery         
Recreation Drive (Billinge MP) Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols 
Sandfield Medical Centre Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols  Apols  
Spinney Medical Centre         

 

Note: There were no Members’ Council meetings in February or March 2015 
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QUALITY COMMITTEE SCHEDULE OF ATTENDANCE 2014 

Name JAN FEB MAR MAY JUNE JULY SEPT OCT NOV 
 

JAN 
2015 

FEB MAR 

Dr Joe Banat             

Dr Stephen Cox  R           
Lynda Carey   X   Terminated employment 30.6.14    
Margaret 
Geoghegan 

     X       

Dr Debra King X   X X X X X X  x  
Mike Wyatt X R R R  R X      
Liz Gaulton   X R R R R R R   x 
Helen Meredith Commenced employment with CCG 

2.6.14 
 X  Terminated contract with CCG 1.9.14 

Sarah O’Brien Commenced employment with the CCG 7.11.14  X   
Sarah Johnson X X X X   X X  X x x 
Caroline Lees X  X   X X  X   x 
Beth Collins   X No attendance - terminated employment 1.6.14    
Karen Leverett Commenced employment with CCG 1.9.14     x  
Elaine Inglesby  X X   X X X  X   
Dr Paul Rose X  X   X X X X X x x 
Dr Mike 
Ejuoneatse 

        X  x  

Dr Shikha Pitalia X  X  X  Terminated tenure 31.8.14    
Dr Julie Whittaker  X   X X X X X  x  
Dr Hilary Flett Commenced employment with CCG 1.9.14  X     
Tom Hughes   X X  X X    x  
Katie Power  X  X         
Paula Guest X   X    X X  x x 
Safeguarding 
Lead* 

X X  X X  X X X    

Dr Ivan Camphor   X         x 
Rachel Jones             
Adam Vinyard          X x x 
Nicola Cartwright             
Tracey Forshaw            x 
Esther Golby             
David Pye             
Ruth Hunter             
Sharon Fryer             
Ann Dunne             
Susan Forster             

 
Key:    indicates attendance; X indicates absence; R indicates represented by a colleague.   
 
Note: There were no meetings held in April, August and December 2014. 

 
            

. 
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ST HELENS CCG HR & REMUNERATION COMMITTEE – SCHEDULE OF ATTENDANCE 2014/15 
 

Name Members 22.1.14 16.4.14 13.6.14 23.7.14 22.10.14 14.11.14 
(Extraordinary 
meeting) 

17.12.14 25.2.15 

S Cox    Apols     
William Guest     Did not attend - terminated Tenure 30.9.14 
Geoffrey Appleton Commenced employment with CCG 1.10.14 Apols    
Caroline Lees        DNA due 

to portfolio 
change 

Joe Banat Apols        
Michael Eujoneatse  Apols     Apols  
Kay Worsley Cox     Apols    
Gillian Roberts       Apols  
Glennis Toms Apols  No longer member of HR & Remuneration Committee 
Andrew Woods  Apols   Apols    
Alison Johnson         
Tony Foy    Apols     
Jenny Williams  Apols  No longer member of HR & Remuneration Committee 
Sarah Johnson     Apols x x Apols 
In Attendance         
Margaret Geoghegan         
Sarah Johnson         

 

INTEGRATED PROGRAMME STEERING GROUP (IPSG) SCHEDULE OF ATTENDANCE 2014 

Name 11.6.14 29.7.14 26.8.14 30.9.14 
 

19.2.15 

Mike Wyatt      
Dr Stephen Cox     Apols 
Dr Omar Shaikh Apols Apols    
Caroline Barlow     Apols 
Julie Abbott      
Sarah Johnson   Apols   
Peter Hughes     Apols 
Jayne Mellor   Apols   
Sarah O’Brien   Apols N/A N/A 
Caroline Lees    Apols N/A 
In Attendance      
Dr Julie Whittaker 
(Deputy for O 
Shaikh) 

     

 
Note: No meetings were held October 2014-January 2015 as a Committee Review was undertaken during 
this period.  Meetings have commenced From February 2015. 
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3   SECTION 3 - ANNUAL ACCOUNTS  

3.1 Report by the auditors to the Members of the Clinical Commissioning Group. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NHS ST HELENS 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 
We have audited the financial statements of NHS St Helens Clinical Commissioning Group 
for the year ended 31 March 2015 under the Audit Commission Act 1998. The financial 
statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of 
Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash 
Flows and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and the accounting policies directed by the NHS 
Commissioning Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as relevant to the National 
Health Service in England.  

We have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit, 
being:  

• the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative notes 
on page 56 

• the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes on page 
57 

• the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes on page 58. 

This report is made solely to the members of NHS St Helens Clinical Commissioning Group 
in accordance with Part II of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose, as set 
out in paragraph 44 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies 
published by the Audit Commission in March 2014. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we 
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG)'s members and the CCG as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of the Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead (Accountable 
Officer) and auditor 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead 
(Accountable Officer's) Responsibilities, the Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead 
(Accountable Officer) is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for 
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express 
an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards also require us to comply with the 
Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment 
of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead (Accountable 
Officer); and the overall presentation of the financial statements.  In addition, we read all the 
financial and non-financial information in the annual report which comprises the Introduction, 
Strategic report, Members report, Remuneration report, Statement of Clinical Chief 
Executive/Clinical Lead (Accountable Officer) Responsibilities and Governance Statement to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any 
information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, 
the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of 
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any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our 
report. 

In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 
the expenditure and income reported in the financial statements have been applied to the 
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities 
which govern them. 

 
Opinion on regularity 
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reported in the financial 
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 

 
Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS St Helens Clinical 
Commissioning Group as at 31 March 2015 and of its net operating costs for the 
year then ended; and 

• have been prepared properly in accordance with the accounting policies directed by 
the NHS Commissioning Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as relevant 
to the National Health Service in England.  

Opinion on other matters 
In our opinion: 
 

• the part of the Remuneration Report subject to audit has been prepared properly in 
accordance with the requirements directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with 
the consent of the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in 
England; and 

• the information given in the annual report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we report by exception 
We report to you if: 

• in our opinion the governance statement does not reflect compliance with NHS 
England’s Guidance; 

• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 19 of the Audit Commission 
Act 1998 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, 
is about to make, or has made, a decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is about 
to take, or has taken, unlawful action likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or 

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 8 of the Audit Commission Act 
1998. 

We have nothing to report in these respects. 
 
Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 
 
Respective responsibilities of the CCG and auditor 
The CCG is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and 
governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements. 
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We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that 
the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires 
us to report to you our conclusion relating to proper arrangements, having regard to relevant 
criteria specified by the Audit Commission in October 2014. 

We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding 
that the CCG has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we 
considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having 
regard to the guidance on the specified criteria, published by the Audit Commission in 
October 2014, as to whether the CCG has proper arrangements for: 

• securing financial resilience 
• challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

 
The Audit Commission has determined these two criteria as those necessary for us to 
consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in 
place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources for the year ended 31 March 2015. 

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.  Based on our risk 
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on 
whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

Conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria published 
by the Audit Commission in October 2014, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, 
NHS St Helens Clinical Commissioning Group put in place proper arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 
2015. 

Certificate 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS St Helens Clinical 
Commissioning Group in accordance with the requirements of the Audit Commission Act 
1998 and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission. 
 
 
 
 
 
Mark Heap 
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor 
Royal Liver Building, Liverpool. L3 1PS 
 
28th May 2015 
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3.2 Financial Statements 

The Primary Statements:

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31st March 2015 94
Statement of Financial Position as at 31st March 2015 95
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended 31st March 2015 96
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31st March 2015 97

Notes to  the Accounts
Accounting policies 98-103
Other operating revenue 104
Revenue 104
Employee benefits and staff numbers 105-109
Operating expenses 110
Better payment practice code 111
Income generation activities 111
Investment revenue 111
Other gains and losses 111
Finance costs 111
Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption 111
Operating leases 111
Property, plant and equipment 112-114
Intangible non-current assets 114
Investment property 114
Inventories 114
Trade and other receivables 115
Other financial assets 115
Other current assets 115
Cash and cash equivalents 116
Non-current assets held for sale 116
Analysis of impairments and reversals 116
Trade and other payables 117
Other financial liabilities 117
Other liabilities 117
Borrowings 117
Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements 117
Finance lease obligations 117
Finance lease receivables 117
Provisions 117
Contingencies 117
Commitments 117
Financial instruments 118-119
Operating segments 120
Pooled budgets 120
NHS Lift investments 120
Intra-government and other balances 120
Related party transactions 121-122
Events after the end of the reporting period 122
Losses and special payments 122
Third party assets 122
Financial performance targets 122
Impact of IFRS 122
Analysis of charitable reserves 122
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St Helens CCG Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2015

2014-15 2013-14
Note £000 £000

Total Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits 4.1.1 2,504 2,092
Operating Expenses 5 278,111 268,092
Other operating revenue 2 (4,781) (2,763)
Net operating expenditure before interest 275,834 267,421

Investment Revenue 8 0 0
Other (gains)/losses 9 0 0
Finance costs 10 0 0
Net operating expenditure for the financial year 275,834 267,421

Net (gain)/loss on transfers by absorption 11 0 0
Total Net Expenditure for the year 275,834 267,421

Of which:
Administration Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits 4.1.1 1,822 1,412
Operating Expenses 5 2,717 2,865
Other operating revenue 2 (71) (6)
Net administration costs before interest 4,468 4,271

Programme Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits 4.1.1 682 680
Operating Expenses 5 275,394 265,227
Other operating revenue 2 (4,710) (2,757)
Net programme expenditure before interest 271,366 263,150

Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure 2014-15 2013-14
£000 £000

Impairments and reversals 0 0
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant & equipment 0 0
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles 0 0
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets 0 0
Movements in other reserves 0 0
Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets 0 0
Net gain/(loss) on assets held for sale 0 0
Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pension schemes 0 0
Share of (profit)/loss of associates and joint ventures 0 0
Reclassification Adjustments
On disposal of available for sale financial assets 0 0
Total other comprehensive net expenditure 0 0

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 275,834 267,421

The notes on pages 98 - 122 form part of this statement.  
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St Helens CCG Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2015

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

Note £000 £000
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 13 13 89
Intangible assets 14 0 0
Investment property 15 0 0
Trade and other receivables 17 0 0
Other financial assets 18 0 0
Total non-current assets 13 89

Current assets:
Inventories 16 0 0
Trade and other receivables 17 2,975 823
Other financial assets 18 0 0
Other current assets 19 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents 20 20 33
Total current assets 2,995 856

Non-current assets held for sale 21 0 0

Total current assets 2,995 856

Total assets 3,008 945

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 (11,617) (10,617)
Other financial liabilities 24 0 0
Other liabilities 25 0 0
Borrowings 26 0 0
Provisions 30 0 0
Total current liabilities (11,617) (10,617)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities (8,609) (9,672)

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 0 0
Other financial liabilities 24 0 0
Other liabilities 25 0 0
Borrowings 26 0 0
Provisions 30 0 0
Total non-current liabilities 0 0

Assets less Liabilities (8,609) (9,672)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund (8,609) (9,672)
Revaluation reserve 0 0
Other reserves 0 0
Charitable Reserves 0 0
Total taxpayers' equity: (8,609) (9,672)

The notes on pages 98 - 122 form part of this statement

The financial statements and related notes on pages 94-122 were approved 
by the Audit Committee on 26th May 2015 and signed on its behalf by:

Dr Stephen Cox

Clinical Chief Executive/Clinical Lead (Accountable Officer)

DATE
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St Helens CCG Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2015

General 
fund

Revaluation 
reserve

Other 
reserves

Total 
reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15

Balance at 1 April 2014 (9,672) 0 0 (9,672)
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS 
bodies 0 0 0 0
Adjusted CCG balance at 1 April 2014 (9,672) 0 0 (9,672)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (275,834) (275,834)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 0 0
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets 0 0
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale 0 0
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve 0 0 0 0

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets 0 0 0 0
Impairments and reversals 0 0 0 0
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions 0 0 0 0
Movements in other reserves 0 0 0 0
Transfers between reserves 0 0 0 0
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 0 0 0 0
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets 0 0 0 0
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies 0 0 0 0
Reserves eliminated on dissolution 0 0 0 0
Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the Financial  Year (275,834) 0 0 (275,834)

Net funding 276,897 0 0 276,897

Balance at 31 March 2015 (8,609) 0 0 (8,609)

General 
fund

Revaluation 
reserve

Other 
reserves

Total 
reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14

Balance at 1 April 2013 0 0 0 0
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 
April 2013 transition 183 0 0 183
Adjusted CCG balance at 1 April 2013 183 0 0 183

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Net operating costs for the financial year (267,421) (267,421)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 0 0
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets 0 0
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale 0 0
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve 0 0 0 0

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets 0 0 0 0
Impairments and reversals 0 0 0 0
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions 0 0 0 0
Movements in other reserves 0 0 0 0
Transfers between reserves 0 0 0 0
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 0 0 0 0
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets 0 0 0 0
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies 0 0 0 0
Reserves eliminated on dissolution 0 0 0 0
Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the Financial  Year (267,238) 0 0 (267,238)

Net funding 257,566 0 0 257,566

Balance at 31 March 2014 (9,672) 0 0 (9,672)
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St Helens CCG Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2015

2014-15 2013-14
Note £000 £000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (275,834) (267,421)
Depreciation and amortisation 5 76 94
Impairments and reversals 5 0 0
Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption 0 0
Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange 0 0
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash 0 0
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash 0 0
Interest paid 0 0
Release of PFI deferred credit 0 0
Other Gains & Losses 0 0
Finance Costs 0 0
Unwinding of Discounts 0 0
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 0 0
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 17 (2,152) (823)
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets 0 0
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 23 1,000 10,617
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities 0 0
Provisions utilised 30 0 0
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 30 0 0
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (276,910) (257,533)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received 0 0
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment 0 0
(Payments) for intangible assets 0 0
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health 0 0
(Payments) for other financial assets 0 0
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT) 0 0
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment 0 0
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets 0 0
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health 0 0
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets 0 0
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT) 0 0
Loans made in respect of LIFT 0 0
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT 0 0
Rental revenue 0 0
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities 0 0

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (276,910) (257,533)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Parliamentary funding received 276,897 257,566
Other loans received 0 0
Other loans repaid 0 0
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial Position PFI and LIFT 0 0
Capital grants and other capital receipts 0 0
Capital receipts surrendered 0 0
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 276,897 257,566

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 20 (13) 33

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 33 0

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies 0 0

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year 20 33
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) shall meet the accounting requirements of 
the Manual for Accounts  issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2014-15  issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for 
Accounts  follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to CCGs, as determined 
by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Manual for Accounts  permits a choice of 
accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the CCG for the purpose 
of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the CCG are described below. They have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as 
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public 
sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements.  If services will continue to 
be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2 Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

1.3 Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are considered to be 
‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting 
Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year 
transactions (which have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities 
account for their transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer 
within the public sector.  Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to 
income and expenditure entries.

1.5 Charitable Funds
The CCG did not operate any Charitable Funds in 2014-15 (nil in 2013-14).

1.6 Pooled Budgets
Where the CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 the CCG accounts 
for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the 
pooled budget agreement.
If the CCG is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the CCG recognises:
·                The assets the CCG controls;
·                The liabilities the CCG incurs;
·                The expenses the CCG incurs; and,
·                The CCG’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.
If the CCG is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the CCG recognises:
·                The CCG’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);
·                The CCG’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
·                The CCG’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.
The CCG entered in to a pooled budget arrangement with St Helens Council on 1st July 2014 for the provision of adult continuing healthcare 
and funded nursing care.

1.7 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the 
estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods.

1.7.1 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
Apart from those involving estimations (see below), the CCG has made no critical judgements in applying accounting policies.
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1.7.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting policies that have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Payables estimates
Due to the time lag around the availability of data, the prescribing payable is estimated as the difference between the prescribing expenditure 
profile to 31 March 2015 (as determined by the NHS Business Services Authority) and the actual confirmed amount of expenditure recorded.  
The key risk is that the actual data is different to the estimates made, resulting in the prescribing payable being either over or understated.  
As at 31 March 2015, the prescribing payable was £5.9 million (£6 million as at 31 March 2014).

1.8 Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.  The CCG did not have 
any deferred income in the financial year 2014-15 (nil in 2013-14).

1.9 Employee Benefits
1.9.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including 
bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is not recognised in the financial statements as it is deemed 
that the impact is immaterial.

1.9.2 Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit 
scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England 
and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme 
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating 
in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the 
liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of 
payment.

1.10 Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the 
fair value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation, which occurs when 
all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.11 Property, Plant & Equipment
1.11.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the CCG;
·                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are 
functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are 
under single managerial control; or,
·                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective 
cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are 
treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
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1.11.2 Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the 
asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All 
assets are measured subsequently at fair value.
Land and buildings used for the CCG’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial position at their re-
valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be 
determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
·                Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
·                Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, where it 
would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes 
professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. 
Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from fair value.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously 
recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation 
decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation 
reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a 
clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other 
comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
The CCG had no property as at 31 March 2015 therefore there has not been any property revaluation in the financial year 2014-15 (nil in 2013-
14).

1.11.3 Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where 
subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the 
item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.12 Intangible Assets
The CCG had no intangible assets as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

1.13 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-
current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or 
service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the CCG expects to obtain economic benefits or 
service potential from the asset. This is specific to the CCG and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful 
lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under 
finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the CCG checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible non-current assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine 
whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the 
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that 
arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been 
determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the 
decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.14 Donated Assets
The CCG had no donated assets as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

1.15 Government Grants
The value of assets received by means of a government grant are credited directly to income. Deferred income is recognised only where 
conditions attached to the grant preclude immediate recognition of the gain.

1.16 Non-current Assets Held For Sale
The CCG had no non-current assets held for sale as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

1.17 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other 
leases are classified as operating leases.

1.17.1 The CCG as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are 
apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the CCG's surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised 
initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are 
operating or finance leases.  
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1.18 Inventories
The CCG did not hold any inventories as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

1.19 Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash 
equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an 
integral part of the CCG's cash management.

1.20 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the CCG 
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a 
provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the 
risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
·                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.50%
·                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.05%
·                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Plus 2.20%
·                All employee early departures: 1.30%
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is 
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured 
reliably.
The CCG had no provisions as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

1.21  Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation 
Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation 
Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the CCG.

1.22  Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The CCG participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under 
which the CCG pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims 
arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses 
as and when they become due.

1.23 Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 
2013.  Under the scheme CCG contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.  The contribution made by the CCG 
in 2014-15 was £392,000.

1.24 Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme
Carbon Reduction Commitment and similar allowances are accounted for as government grant funded intangible assets if they are not 
expected to be realised within twelve months, and otherwise as other current assets. They are valued at open market value. As the CCG 
makes emissions, a provision is recognised with an offsetting transfer from deferred income. The provision is settled on surrender of the 
allowances. The asset, provision and deferred income amounts are valued at fair value at the end of the reporting period.  The CCG considers 
this to be immaterial therefore no provision was recognised as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

1.25 Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG, or a present obligation that is not recognised 
because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow 
of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
The CCG had no contingent assets or liabilities as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

1.26 Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when 
the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been 
transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
·                Held to maturity investments;
·                Available for sale financial assets; and,
·                Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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1.26.1 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose 
separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any 
resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the CCG’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest earned 
on the financial asset.

1.26.2 Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, and there is a 
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.26.3 Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do not fall within any of 
the other three financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the 
exception of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.

1.26.4 Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After 
initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised 
using the effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to 
the initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the CCG assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value through profit and loss’ 
are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one 
or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised 
in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had 
the impairment not been recognised.

1.27 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the CCG becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 
financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised 
when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.

1.27.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
·                The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
·                The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets.

1.27.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose 
separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with 
any resultant gain or loss recognised in the CCG’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial 
liability.

1.27.3 Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from 
Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method.

1.28 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not 
recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. 
Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
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1.29 Foreign Currencies
The CCG’s functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated into 
sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are 
recognised in the CCG’s surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise.

1.30 Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the CCG has no 
beneficial interest in them.

1.31 Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed 
legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared 
with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which 
would have been made good through insurance cover had the CCG not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being 
included as normal revenue expenditure).
The CCG made no losses or special payments in the financial year 2014-15 (nil in 2013-14).

1.32 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2014-15, all of 
which are subject to consultation:
·                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
·                IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement
·                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts
·                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2014-15, were they applied in that year.
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2. Other Operating Revenue
2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14
Total Admin Programme Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits 0 0 0 0
Patient transport services 0 0 0 0
Prescription fees and charges 0 0 0 0
Dental fees and charges 0 0 0 0
Education, training and research 24 0 24 0
Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: NHS 0 0 0 0
Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: non-NHS 0 0 0 0
Receipt of donations for capital acquisitions: NHS Charity 0 0 0 0
Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions 0 0 0 0
Non-patient care services to other bodies 4,593 48 4,545 2,739
Income generation 0 0 0 0
Rental revenue from finance leases 0 0 0 0
Rental revenue from operating leases 0 0 0 0
Other revenue 164 23 141 24
Total other operating revenue 4,781 71 4,710 2,763

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare related services.

3. Revenue
Revenue is totally from the supply of services.  The CCG receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the 
CCG and credited to the General Fund.
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.1.1 Employee benefits 2014-15

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 2,090 1,981 109 1,527 1,420 107 563 561 2
Social security costs 182 182 0 138 138 0 44 44 0
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 232 232 0 157 157 0 75 75 0
Other pension costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other post-employment benefits 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other employment benefits 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Termination benefits 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,504 2,395 109 1,822 1,715 107 682 680 2

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 2,504 2,395 109 1,822 1,715 107 682 680 2

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 2,504 2,395 109 1,822 1,715 107 682 680 2

Admin ProgrammeTotal
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2013-14 Total Admin Programme
Total Permanent 

Employees
Other Total Permanent 

Employees
Other Total Permanent 

Employees
Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 1,749           1,644           105              1,180           1,124           56               569              520              49               
Social security costs 143              143              -                  102              102              -                  41               41               -                  
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 200              200              -                  130              130              -                  70               70               -                  
Other pension costs -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  
Other post-employment benefits -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  
Other employment benefits -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  
Termination benefits -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  
Gross employee benefits expenditure 2,092           1,987           105              1,412           1,356           56               680              631              49               

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 2,092           1,987           105              1,412           1,356           56               680              631              49               

Less: Employee costs capitalised -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 2,092           1,987           105              1,412           1,356           56               680              631              49               

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
The CCG made no recoveries in respect of employee benefits during the financial year 2014-15 (nil in 2013-14).
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4.2 Average number of people employed

2013-14

Total
Permanently 

employed Other Total
Number Number Number Number

Total 47 45 2 38

Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people 
engaged on capital projects 0 0 0 0

4.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2014-15 2013-14
Number Number

Total Days Lost 205 154
Total Staff Years 43 35
Average working Days Lost 4.8 4.4

The data above relates to the 12 month period January to December 2014.

2014-15 2013-14
Number Number

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds 0 0

£000 £000
Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year 0 0

Ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme.  Where the CCG agrees early retirements, the additional costs are met by the
CCG and not by the NHS Pension Scheme.

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year
No exit packages were agreed by the CCG in the financial year 2014-15 (nil for 2013-14).

2014-15
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4.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these 
provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit 
scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England 
and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying 
scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG 
of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be 
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be 
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

4.5.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an 
actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current 
reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme 
liability as at 31 March 2015, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2014, updated to 31 March 2015 with summary global member 
and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, 
and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS 
Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions 
website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking into account its 
recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012.

The Scheme Regulations allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and 
consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.

4.5.3 Scheme provisions
The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only, and is not 
intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before these benefits can be 
obtained:
The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the best of the last 
three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay per year of membership. 
Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable 
earnings over the relevant pensionable service.
With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free lump sum, up to a 
maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as “pension commutation”.
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based on changes in 
retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) 
has been used and replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI).
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently incapable of fulfilling their 
duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death in service, and five times 
their annual pension for death after retirement is payable.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount 
of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer.
Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the Scheme’s 
approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.
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4.6 Severance Payments 
There were no exit packages or severance payments agreed by the CCG in the financial 
year 2014-15 (nil for 2013-14). 
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5. Operating expenses
2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14
Total Admin Programme Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members 2,251 1,569 682 1,842
Executive governing body members 253 253 0 250
Total gross employee benefits 2,504 1,822 682 2,092

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 1,907 1,387 520 2,342
Services from foundation trusts 60,541 37 60,504 50,062
Services from other NHS trusts 135,481 69 135,412 141,864
Services from other NHS bodies 0 0 0 0
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 33,329 0 33,329 30,159
Chair and Non Executive Members 556 556 0 566
Supplies and services – clinical 132 0 132 156
Supplies and services – general 67 69 (2) 98
Consultancy services 27 27 0 61
Establishment 349 173 176 200
Transport 7 2 5 11
Premises 961 165 796 958
Impairments and reversals of receivables 0 0 0 0
Inventories written down 0 0 0 0
Depreciation 76 76 0 94
Amortisation 0 0 0 0
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment 0 0 0 0
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets 0 0 0 0
Impairments and reversals of financial assets 0 0 0 0
·          Assets carried at amortised cost 0 0 0 0
·          Assets carried at cost 0 0 0 0
·          Available for sale financial assets 0 0 0 0
Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale 0 0 0 0
Impairments and reversals of investment properties 0 0 0 0
Audit fees 78 78 0 79
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Internal audit services 0 0 0 55
·          Other services 0 0 0 0
General dental services and personal dental services 0 0 0 0
Prescribing costs 38,518 0 38,518 38,133
Pharmaceutical services 0 0 0 0
General ophthalmic services 0 0 0 0
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 3,298 0 3,298 593
Other professional fees excl. audit 49 49 0 2
Grants to other public bodies 2,178 0 2,178 2,601
Clinical negligence 0 0 0 0
Research and development (excluding staff costs) 0 0 0 0
Education and training 65 29 36 35
Change in discount rate 0 0 0 0
Provisions 0 0 0 0
CHC Risk Pool contributions 392 0 392 0
Other expenditure 100 0 100 23
Total other costs 278,111 2,717 275,394 268,092

Total operating expenses 280,615 4,539 276,076 270,184

Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

In 2013-14 the costs for internal audit incorrectly mapped to Other non statutory audit expenditure - internal audit.  The CCG's internal audit services were provided by
The Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust as hosts of Mersey Internal Audit Agency, and these correctly map to Services from other NHS
Trusts in 2014-15.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14
Number £000 Number £000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 5,103 41,741 6,452 33,066
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 4,773 40,675 5,900 30,059
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 93.53% 97.45% 91.44% 90.91%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 1,907 198,787 1,508 194,420
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 1,692 196,697 1,457 193,888
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 88.73% 98.95% 96.62% 99.73%

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

7. Income Generation Activities
The CCG does not undertake in income generation activities.

8. Investment revenue
The CCG had no investment revenue in the financial year 2014-15 (nil in 2013-14).

9. Other gains and losses
The CCG had no other gains and losses in the financial year 2014-15 (nil in 2013-14).

10. Finance costs
The CCG had no finance costs in the financial year 2014-15 (nil in 2013-14).

11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption
The CCG had no net gains and losses on transfer by absorption in the financial year 2014-15 (nil in 2013-14).

12. Operating Leases

12.1 As lessee
The CCG has one operating lease agreement in place with St Helens Chamber for the lease of the CCG's HQ accommodation.

The lease term is from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2018 with a review date of 1 April 2016 and therefore has a maximum of 3 years remaining with a minimum 
lease payment of £393,804 should the CCG continue to the end of the lease.

The CCG also occupies property owned and managed by Community Health Partnerships Ltd and NHS Property Services Ltd.

Whilst the CCG's arrangements with Community Health Partnerships Ltd and NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating
leases, the rental charge for future years, including any charge for void space, has not yet been agreed.  Consequently, note 12.1.2 does not include
future minimum lease payments for these arrangements.  

The CCG did not meet the 95% target in respect of the volume of trade and NHS invoices paid.  This was due to a range of issues relating 
to processes.  The CCG will continue to work to improve this measure in 2015-16 by raising staff awareness, reviewing processes and 
liaising with NHS Shared Business Services.

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid 
invoice, whichever is later.

The CCG did not make any payments under the provisions of the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 during the 
financial year 2014-15 (nil in 2013-14).

 
12.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 2014-15 2013-14

Land Buildings Other Total Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 0 926 10 936 949
Contingent rents 0 0 0 0 0
Sub-lease payments 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 926 10 936 949

12.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2014-15 2013-14
Land Buildings Other Total Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Payable:
No later than one year 0 132 10 142 119
Between one and five years 0 262 7 269 347
After five years 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 394 17 411 466
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13. Property, plant and equipment

2014-15 Land 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings Dwellings 

Assets under 
construction 

and payments 
on account

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Furniture & 
fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2014 0 0 0 0 16 0 167 0 183

Addition of assets under construction and payments on account 0 0
Additions purchased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions donated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions government granted 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions leased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale and reversals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals other than by sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Upward revaluation gains 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments charged 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfer (to)/from other public sector body 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cost/Valuation At 31 March 2015 0 0 0 0 16 0 167 0 183

Depreciation 1 April 2014 0 0 0 0 2 0 92 0 94

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale and reversals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals other than by sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Upward revaluation gains 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments charged 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Charged during the year 0 0 0 0 1 0 75 0 76
Transfer (to)/from other public sector body 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Depreciation at 31 March 2015 0 0 0 0 3 0 167 0 170

Net Book Value at 31 March 2015 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 0 13

Purchased 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 0 13
Donated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Government Granted 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total at 31 March 2015 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 0 13

Asset financing:

Owned 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 0 13
Held on finance lease 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
On-SOFP Lift contracts 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
PFI residual: interests 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total at 31 March 2015 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 0 13

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment

Land Buildings Dwellings

Assets under 
construction & 
payments on 
account

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Furniture & 
fittings Total 

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
Balance at 1 April 2014 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revaluation gains 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Release to general fund 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other movements 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
At 31 March 2015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
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2013-14 Land 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings Dwellings 

Assets under 
construction 

and payments 
on account

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Furniture & 
fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013 -                 -                 -                 -                       -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Transfer of assets from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013 
transition -                 -                 -                 -                       16              -                 167             -                 183             
Adjusted Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013 -                 -                 -                 -                       16              -                 167             -                 183             

Addition of assets under construction and payments on account 0 0
Additions purchased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions donated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions government granted 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions leased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale and reversals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals other than by sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Upward revaluation gains 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments charged 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfer (to)/from other public sector body 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
At 31 March 2014 0 0 0 0 16 0 167 0 183

Depreciation 1 April 2013 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale and reversals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals other than by sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Upward revaluation gains 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments charged 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Charged during the year 0 0 0 0 2 0 92 0 94
Transfer (to)/from other public sector body 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Depreciation at 31 March 2014 0 0 0 0 2 0 92 0 94

Net Book Value at 31 March 2014 0 0 0 0 14 0 75 0 89

Purchased 0 0 0 0 14 0 75 0 89
Donated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Government Granted 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total at 31 March 2014 0 0 0 0 14 0 75 0 89

Asset financing:

Owned 0 0 0 0 14 0 75 0 89
Held on finance lease 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
On-SOFP Lift contracts 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
PFI residual: interests 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total at 31 March 2014 0 0 0 0 14 0 75 0 89

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment

Land Buildings Dwellings

Assets under 
construction & 
payments on 
account

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Furniture & 
fittings Total 

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
Balance at 1 April 2013 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revaluation gains 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Release to general fund 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other movements 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
At 31 March 2014 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
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13. Property, plant and equipment cont'd

13.1 Additions to assets under construction
The CCG had no assets under construction as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

13.2 Donated assets
The CCG received no donated assets as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

13.3 Government granted assets
The CCG had no government granted assets as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

13.4 Property revaluation
The CCG had no property as at 31 March 2015 therefore there has not been any property revaluation in the finacial year 2014-15 (nil in 2013-14).

13.5 Compensation from third parties
There has been no compensation received from third parties for assets impaired, lost or given up in the financial year 2014-15 (nil in 2013-14).

13.6 Write downs to recoverable amount
There have been no assets written down to recoverable amounts and no reversals of previous write-downs in the financial year 2014-15 (nil in 2013-14).

13.7 Temporarily idle assets
The CCG had no temporarily idle assets as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

13.8 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets
The CCG had no fully depreciated assets still in use as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

13.9 Economic lives

Buildings excluding dwellings 0 0
Dwellings 0 0
Plant & machinery 8 8
Transport equipment 0 0
Information technology 0 0
Furniture & fittings 0 0

14. Intangible non-current assets
The CCG had no intangible non-current assets as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

15. Investment property
The CCG had no investment property as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

16. Inventories
The CCG had no inventories as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

Minimum 
Life (years)

Maximum 
Life (Years)
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17. Trade and other receivables Current Non-current Current Non-current

2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14
£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables: Revenue 830 0 530 0
NHS receivables: Capital 0 0 0 0
NHS prepayments and accrued income 1,185 0 10 0
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue 172 0 179 0
Non-NHS receivables: Capital 0 0 0 0
Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income 95 0 99 0
Provision for the impairment of receivables 0 0 0 0
VAT 5 0 5 0

Private finance initiative and other public private partnership 
arrangement prepayments and accrued income 0 0 0 0
Interest receivables 0 0 0 0
Finance lease receivables 0 0 0 0
Operating lease receivables 0 0 0 0
Other receivables 688 0 0 0
Total Trade & other receivables 2,975 0 823 0

Total current and non current 2,975 823

Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions 0 0

17.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 2014-15 2013-14
£000 £000

By up to three months 141 288
By three to six months 39 0
By more than six months 107 0
Total 287 288

£2,000 of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

The CCG did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

17.2  Provision for impairment of receivables
The CCG conducted an impairment review of all receivables as at 31 March 2015.  It believes that all outstanding amounts
will be recovered therefore does not have any provision for the impairment of receivables.

18. Other financial assets
The CCG had no other financial assets as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

19. Other current assets
The CCG had no other current assets as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).
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20. Cash and cash equivalents

2014-15 2013-14
£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2014 33 0
Net change in year (13) 33
Balance at 31 March 2015 20 33

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service 19 33
Cash with Commercial banks 0 0
Cash in hand 1 0
Current investments 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 20 33

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service 0 0
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks 0 0
Total bank overdrafts 0 0

Balance at 31 March 2015 20 33

Patients’ money held by the CCG, not included above 0 0

21. Non-current assets held for sale
The CCG had no non-current assets held for sale as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

22. Analysis of impairments and reversals
The CCG had no impairments or reversals of impairments recognised in expenditure during the financial year 
2014-15 (nil in 2013-14).
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Current Non-current Current Non-current
2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000 £000 £000

Interest payable 0 0 0 0
NHS payables: revenue 783 0 692 0
NHS payables: capital 0 0 0 0
NHS accruals and deferred income 1,337 0 662 0
Non-NHS payables: revenue 1,006 0 945 0
Non-NHS payables: capital 0 0 0 0
Non-NHS accruals and deferred income 7,021 0 7,519 0
Social security costs 35 0 31 0
VAT 0 0 0 0
Tax 41 0 38 0
Payments received on account 0 0 0 0
Other payables 1,394 0 730 0
Total Trade & Other Payables 11,617 0 10,617 0

Total current and non-current 11,617 10,617

24. Other financial liabilities
The CCG had no other financial liabilities as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

25. Other liabilities
The CCG had no other liabilities as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

26. Borrowings
The CCG had no borrowings as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

27. Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements
The CCG had no private finance initiatives, LIFT or other service concession arrangements as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31
March 2014).

28. Finance lease obligations
The CCG had no finance lease obligations as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

29. Finance lease receivables
The CCG had no finance lease receivables as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

30. Provisions
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting
for liabilities in relation to CHC Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before the establishment of the
CCG.  However, the legal liability remains with the CCG.  The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions
accounted for by NHS England on behalf of the CCG at 31 March 2015 was £1.46 million (£1.40 million at 31 March 2014).

31. Contingencies
The CCG had no contingent liabilities or assets as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

32. Commitments
The CCG had no capital or other financial commitments as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

23. Trade and other payables

Other payables include £36,421 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2015 (£33,260 as at 31 March 2014).
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33. Financial instruments

33.1 Financial risk management

33.1.1 Currency risk

33.1.2 Interest rate risk

33.1.3 Credit risk

33.1.4 Liquidity risk

The CCG borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 
to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the 
loan. The CCG therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the CCG revenue comes parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum 
exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by 
Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The CCG is not, therefore, exposed to significant 
liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or 
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. 
Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which 
the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and 
liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the CCG in undertaking its 
activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the CCG standing 
financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the CCG and internal auditors.

The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling 
based. The CCG has no overseas operations and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
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33.2 Financial assets

At ‘fair value 
through profit 

and loss’
Loans and 

Receivables
Available 
for Sale Total

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2014-15
£000 £000 £000 £000

Embedded derivatives 0 0 0 0
Receivables:
·          NHS 0 830 0 830
·          Non-NHS 0 172 0 172
Cash at bank and in hand 0 20 0 20
Other financial assets 0 688 0 688
Total at 31 March 2015 0 1,710 0 1,710

At ‘fair value 
through profit and 

loss’
Loans and 

Receivables
Available for 

Sale Total
2013-14 2013-14 2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000 £000 £000

Embedded derivatives 0 0 0 0
Receivables:
·          NHS 0 530 0 530
·          Non-NHS 0 179 0 179
Cash at bank and in hand 0 33 0 33
Other financial assets 0 0 0 0
Total at 31 March 2014 0 742 0 742

33.3 Financial liabilities

At ‘fair value 
through profit 

and loss’ Other Total
2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

£000 £000 £000

Embedded derivatives 0 0 0
Payables:
·          NHS 0 2,120 2,120
·          Non-NHS 0 9,421 9,421
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations 0 0 0
Other borrowings 0 0 0
Other financial liabilities 0 0 0
Total at 31 March 2015 0 11,541 11,541

At ‘fair value 
through profit and 

loss’ Other Total
2013-14 2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000 £000

Embedded derivatives 0 0 0
Payables:
·          NHS 0 1,353 1,353
·          Non-NHS 0 8,464 8,464
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations 0 0 0
Other borrowings 0 0 0
Other financial liabilities 0 0 0
Total at 31 March 2014 0 9,817 9,817
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34. Operating segments
The CCG considers that it only has one operating segment: commissioning of healthcare services.

35. Pooled budgets
The CCG entered in to a pooled budget arrangement with St Helens Council on 1st July 2014.  The pool is hosted by the council. 
Under the arrangement funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for the provision of adult continuing healthcare and 
funded nursing care.

2014-15 2013-14
£000 £000

Income 12,921 0
Expenditure (12,853) 0

36. NHS LIFT investments
The CCG had no LIFT investments as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

37. Intra-government and other balances

Current 
Receivables

Non-current 
Receivables

Current 
Payables

Non-current 
Payables

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2014-15
£000 £000 £000 £000

Balances with:
·          Other Central Government bodies 5 0 108 0
·          Local Authorities 820 0 966 0

Balances with NHS bodies:
·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group 727 0 119 0
·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 1,288 0 2,001 0
Total of balances with NHS bodies: 2,015 0 2,120 0

·          Public corporations and trading funds 0 0 0 0
·          Bodies external to Government 135 0 8,423 0

Total balances at 31 March 2015 2,975 0 11,617 0

Current 
Receivables

Non-current 
Receivables

Current 
Payables

Non-current 
Payables

2013-14 2013-14 2013-14 2013-14
£000 £000 £000 £000

Balances with:
·          Other Central Government bodies 5 0 101 0
·          Local Authorities 100 0 334 0

Balances with NHS bodies:
·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group 166 0 61 0
·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 374 0 1,292 0
Total of balances with NHS bodies: 540 0 1,353 0

·          Public corporations and trading funds 0 0 0 0
·          Bodies external to Government 178 0 8,829 0

Total balances at 31 March 2014 823 0 10,617 0

The CCG's share of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial year was:
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38. Related party transactions

Payments 
to Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 
Related 

Party

Payments 
to Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 
Related 

Party
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Geoffrey Appleton - Chair: Related party is Liverpool Heart 
and Chest NHS Foundation Trust as Deputy Chair (related 
party for the period 01/10/14 to 30/10/14) 73 0 0 0 No related party in 2013/14
Dr Joseph Banat - Governing Body Member:  Related party 
is Park House Surgery as partner in the practice 121 0 0 0 51 0 0 0
Dr Joseph Banat - Governing Body Member:  Related party 
is St Helens Rota as member 1,050 0 0 0 1,118 0 51 0
Paul Brickwood - Chief Finance Officer:  Related party is 
NHS Halton CCG as Chief Finance Officer 111 (280) 13 0 192 (300) 0 (28)
Paul Brickwood - Chief Finance Officer:  Related party is 
NHS Knowsley CCG as Chief Finance Officer 323 (806) 0 (12) 542 (617) 1 0
Dr Stephen Cox - Clinical Chief Executive:  Related party 
is Spinney Medical Centre as partner in the practice 116 0 0 0 123 0 0 0
Dr Stephen Cox - Chief Clinical Officer:  Related party is 
St Helens Rota as member 1,050 0 0 0 1,118 0 51 0
Dr Michael Ejuoneatse - Governing Body Member:  
Related party is Central Surgery as a partner in the 
practice 108 0 0 0 42 0 0 0
Dr Michael Ejuoneatse - Governing Body Member:  
Related party is St Helens Rota as member 1,050 0 0 0 1,118 0 51 0
Dr Hilary Flett - Governing Body Member:  Related Party is 
Mill Street Medical Centre as partner in the practice 139 0 0 0 No related party in 2013/14
Dr Hilary Flett - Governing Body Member:  Related Party is 
Aspect Health as Director 33 0 0 0 37 0 36 0
Liz Gaulton - Governing Body Member:  Related Party is 
St Helens Council as Director of Public Health 19,310 (706) 313 (68) 6,279 (213) 554 0
Dr Robert Hirst - GP Tutor:  Related Party is Haydock 
Medical Centre as partner in the practice 115 0 0 0 55 0 0 0
Dr John Holden - GP:  Related Party is Aspect Health as 
director 33 0 0 0 37 0 36 0
Peter Hughes - Member of Finance and Performance 
Committee:  Related Party is St Helens Council as 
Director of Policy 19,310 (706) 313 (68) 6,279 (213) 554 0
Peter Hughes - Member of Finance and Performance 
Committee:  Related Party is St Helens Citizens Advice 
Bureau as Board Member 164 0 0 0 169 0 0 0
Peter Hughes - Member of Finance and Performance 
Committee:  Related Party is St Helens Coalition for 
Disabled People, spouse is Chief Executive 29 0 0 0 29 0 0 0
Dr Shikha Pitalia - Governing Body Member: Related party 
is Director of SSP Health (related party for the period 
01/04/14 to 31/08/14) 17 0 0 0 57 0 6 0

Dr Shikha Pitalia - Governing Body Member: Related party 
is Bowrey Medical Centre as partner in the practice 
(related party for the period 01/04/14 to 31/08/14) 21 0 0 0 22 0 0 0
Dr Shikha Pitalia - Governing Body Member: Related party 
is St Helens Rota as member (related party for the period 
01/04/14 to 31/08/14) 381 0 0 0 1,118 0 51 0
Dr Paul Rose - Governing Body Member:  Related Party is 
Crossroads Surgery as partner in practice 57 0 0 0 No related party in 2013/14

Dr Paul Rose - Governing Body Member:  Related Party is 
St Helens Rota as practitioner for Acute Visiting Scheme 1,050 0 0 0 1,118 0 51 0
Dr Omar Shaikh - Governing Body Member:  Related Party 
is Newholme Surgery as partner in practice 71 0 0 0 30 0 0 0
Dr Omar Shaikh - Governing Body Member:  Related Party 
is St Helens Rota as member 1,050 0 0 0 1,118 0 51 0
Dr Julie Whittaker - Governing Body Member:  Related 
Party is Patterdale Lodge Medical Services Ltd as a 
partner in the practice 235 0 0 0 117 0 0 0
Dr Julie Whittaker - Governing Body Member:  Related 
Party is St Helens Rota as member 1,050 0 0 0 1,118 0 51 0

Mike Wyatt - Governing Body Member:  Related Party is 
St Helens Council as Director Adult Social Care & Health 19,310 (706) 313 (68) No related party in 2013/14
Mike Wyatt - Governing Body Member:  Related Part is 
Halton and St Helens Voluntary and Community 
Association as representitive on the board 44 0 0 0 No related party in 2013/14

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
2014-15 2013-14
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38. Related party transactions cont'd

• NHS England (including Cheshire and Merseyside Commissioning Support Unit)
• St Helens and Knowsley Hospitals NHS Trust
• Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
• Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
• Liverpool Women's Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
• Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust
• Liverpool Heart and Chest NHS Foundation Trust
• Wrightingon, Wigan and Leigh NHS Foundation Trust
• Bridgewater Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
• Alder Hey Childrens NHS Foundation Trust
• 5 Borough Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
• North West Ambulance NHS Trust
• NHS Business Services Authority
• NHS Litigation Authority
• NHS Pensions Agency

39. Events after the end of the reporting period

40. Losses and special payments
The CCG had no losses or special payments during the financial year 2014-15 (nil in 2013-14).

41. Third party assets
The CCG held no third party assets as at 31 March 2015 (nil as at 31 March 2014).

42. Financial performance targets
The CCG has a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The CCG's performance against those duties was as follows:

2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14
Maximum Performance Maximum Performance

Duty £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
223H(1) Expenditure not to exceed income 283,365 280,615 272,854 270,184

223I(2)
Capital resource use does not exceed 
the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 0

223I(3)
Revenue resource use does not exceed 
the amount specified in Directions 278,584 275,834 270,091 267,421

223J(1)

Capital resource use on specified 
matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 0 0 0 0

223J(2)

Revenue resource use on specified 
matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 0 0 0 0

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use 
does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 4,992 4,468 4,670 4,271

For the purposes of 223H(1); expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue and capital in the financial year; and,
income is defined as the aggregate of the notified maximum revenue resource, notified capital resource and all other amounts accounted
for as received in the financial year (whether under the provision of the Act or from other sources, and included here on a gross basis).

43. Impact of IFRS
Accounting under IFRS had no impact on the results of the CCG during the financial year 2014-15 (nil for 2013-14).

44. Analysis of charitable reserves
The CCG held no charitable reserves during the financial year 2014-15 (nil for 2013-14).

National 
Health 
Service 
Act 
Section

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the CCG has had a significant number of 
material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. These entities 
are:

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other 
central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with St Helens Council.

NHS England recently announced details of the CCGs approved to take on greater delegated responsibility or to jointly 
commission GP services from 1st April 2015.  The new primary care co-commissioning arrangements are part of a series of 
changes set out in the NHS Five Year Forward View to deliver a new deal for primary care and another step towards plans set 
out by NHS England early last year to give patients, communities and clinicians more involvement in deciding local health 
services.

The CCG has been approved under delegated commissioning arrangements which means that the CCG will assume full 
responsibility for contractual GP performance management, budget management and the design and implementation of local 
incentive schemes from 1st April 2015.  The indicative budget which will transfer to the CCG from NHS England is £25.9 
million.
.

 


